Provided for non-commercial research and educational use only. Not for reproduction, distribution or commercial use.

This chapter was originally published in the book *Advances in Agronomy*. The copy attached is provided by Elsevier for the author's benefit and for the benefit of the author's institution, for non-commercial research, and educational use. This includes without limitation use in instruction at your institution, distribution to specific colleagues, and providing a copy to your institution's administrator.



All other uses, reproduction and distribution, including without limitation commercial reprints, selling or licensing copies or access, or posting on open internet sites, your personal or institution's website or repository, are prohibited. For exceptions, permission may be sought for such use through Elsevier's

permissions site at: http://www.elsevier.com/locate/permissionusematerial

From He, S., He, Z., Yang, X., and Baligar, V. C., (2012). Mechanisms of nickel uptake and hyperaccumulation by plants and implications for soil remediation. In D. L. Sparks (Ed.)., Advances in Agronomy, Vol. 117 (pp.117–189). Elseiver. ISBN: 9780123942784 Copyright © 2012 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved Academic Press CHAPTER THREE

# MECHANISMS OF NICKEL UPTAKE AND HYPERACCUMULATION BY PLANTS AND IMPLICATIONS FOR SOIL REMEDIATION

Shanying He  $^{*\dagger}$ , Zhenli He  $^{*}$ , Xiaoe Yang  $^{\ddagger}$  and Virupax C. Baligar  $^{\$}$ 

### Contents

1. Introduction	118
2. Status of Nickel in Soils	120
3. Nickel Effects on Plants	121
3.1. Nickel Essentiality	121
3.2. Nickel Toxicity	123
4. Nickel-Hyperaccumulator Plants	126
5. Mechanisms of Nickel Hyperaccumulation by Plants	128
5.1. Root Uptake	129
5.2. Root-to-Shoot Transport	135
5.3. Distribution/Detoxification/Sequestration	138
6. Phytoremediation	149
6.1. Phytoextraction and Phytomining	149
6.2. Optimizing Soil Management Practices	150
6.3. Biological Factors	159
7. Conclusions	164
Acknowledgments	165
References	165

Advances in Agronomy, Volume 117

© 2012 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

<sup>\*</sup> Indian River Research and Education Center, Institute of Food and Agricultural Sciences, University of Florida, Fort Pierce, FL, USA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> College of Environmental Science and Engineering, Zhejiang Gongshang University, Hangzhou, China

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>‡</sup> Ministry of Education Key Laboratory of Environment Remediation and Ecosystem Health, College of Environmental and Resources Science, Zhejiang University, Zijingang Campus, Hangzhou, China

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>§</sup> USDA-ARS – Beltsville Agricultural Research Center, Beltsville, MD, USA

#### Shanying He et al.

### Abstract

Soil contamination by heavy metals like Ni was originally restricted to metalliferous soils but in modern time it has become a general problem due to increasing anthropogenic activities. Because of the characteristics of cost-effectiveness, environmental friendliness, and fewer side-effects, the development of plant based remediation technologies for the cleanup of Ni-contaminated soils has attracted much attention. Nickel is an essential micronutrient, but is toxic to plants at excessive levels. Some plant species can accumulate Ni in the shoots at a high concentration, these plants are called hyperaccumulators. In the past two decades, researchers have endeavored to understand the physiological and molecular mechanisms of Ni uptake, transport, and detoxification in the Ni-hyperaccumulator plants. This is the basis of creating ideal plants for phytoremediation through cell and genetic engineering technologies, which may subsequently improve phytoremediation efficiency for decontaminating Ni-contaminated soils. Both rhizosphere microorganisms and endophytes can play a role in phytoremediation. Optimizing plant and soil management practices, particularly the correction of soil pH and additions of amendments of exogenous chelates and fertilizers, can also enhance phytoremediation of Ni-contaminated soils. The primary objective of this review is to discuss the recent progresses in basic and applied research relevant to phytoremediation of Ni-contaminated soils.

## **1. INTRODUCTION**

Nickel (Ni), the 24th element in the order of natural abundance in the Earth's crust (Garrett, 2000), is an essential mineral nutrient for plants in natural soils (Marschner, 1995). However, the natural geochemical processes such as weathering of ultramafic rocks, and increasingly frequent anthropogenic activities, including industrial operations (mining, smelting, electroplating, steeling) and products (alloy, motor vehicles, aircraft paint, chemical, textile, pigment), agricultural utilization of fertilizers and pesticides, waste combustion and sewage sludge spreading, have dramatically increased soil Ni contamination (Gimeno-García et al., 1996; Kopittke et al., 2007; Rajkumar and Freitas, 2008b). The increasingly reported Ni contamination of soil has become a worldwide problem, leading to losses in agricultural yield and hazardous health effects on both wildlife and human beings through food chains (Guo and Marschner, 1995; Salt et al., 1995a). Therefore, increasing emphasis has been placed on the remediation of Ni polluted soils, and several technologies have been developed in recent years for this purpose.

Current technologies for cleaning contaminated soils such as physical (e.g., mechanical/pyrometallurgical separation and absorbent fixation) and chemical remediation (e.g., soil amendment and chelate-enhanced

leaching) are extensively used. These methods are efficient and even endemically commercialized, but they are prohibitively expensive, labor intensive, soil disturbing, and usually have potential environmental and ecological risks (Mulligan *et al.*, 2001; Krämer, 2005; Wu *et al.*, 2010). More recently, phytoremediation, the use of live plants to remove excess heavy metals from soil, has emerged as a promising alternative. Phytoremediation, which can be accomplished *in situ*, is relatively cost-effective, environmentally friendly, and the soil can be utilized simultaneously or immediately after treatment application (EPA, 1998; Ensley, 2000). The benefits of phytoremediation have been demonstrated in many heavymetal contaminated sites, therefore this technology has been utilized by many environmental companies (Glass, 2000).

Phytoremediation includes several subsets such as, phytoextraction, phytostabilization, rhizofiltration, and phytovolatilization (Raskin and Ensley, 2000). In rhizofiltration, plant roots absorb, concentrate and/or precipitate toxic metals from polluted effluents (Dushenkov et al., 1995). In phytovolatilization, limited extent plants extract volatile metals such as Hg and the non-metal Se from soil and volatilize them from foliage (Bañuelos, 2000; Zayed et al., 2000). Phytostabilization and phytoextraction are the two main strategies in soil phytoremediation (Salt et al., 1998; Huang and Chen, 2003). The former aims at the stabilization of the metals usually in the moderately to heavily contaminated soils by rendering them harmless, thus preventing their migration to surrounding ecosystems by wind and water erosion (Banuelos et al., 1997; Burken and Schnoor, 1999). Phytoextraction is the most effective, but also technically the most difficult phytoremediation strategy (Nedelkoska and Doran, 2000; Chaney et al., 2007). Phytoextraction uses metal-accumulating plants to transport and concentrate metals from soils to the above-ground shoots. By harvesting and post-treatment of the Ni-accumulated biomass, a "bio-ore" may be produced from the Ni-contaminated soils; this process is referred to as "phytomining". Considering the purification feasibility and commercial value of Ni, this method is a commercially acceptable and environmentally sound approach (Brooks, 1998; Chaney et al., 2007; Li et al., 2003b; Sas-Nowosielska et al., 2004).

Usually, if a plant can accumulate Ni more than 1000 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> dry weight (DW) (0.1%) in shoots, it is defined as a Ni hyperaccumulator (Brooks *et al.*, 1977). Currently, more than 450 hyperaccumulating plant species from 45 families, accounting for less than 0.2% of all known plant species, have been described (Kotrba *et al.*, 2009). The most numerous metal-accumulating plants are the Ni hyperaccumulators. However, no plants identified in wild collections combine all the properties of an ideal hyperaccumulating plant. The ideal plant species for commercial phytoextraction of Ni from polluted or Ni-rich soil should grow rapidly, have high biomass superior capacity for Ni tolerance, and accumulate

a significantly higher Ni concentration than present in the soil (Chaney *et al.*, 2000; Lasat, 2002; McGrath *et al.*, 2002). Therefore, researchers have dedicated themselves to a thorough understanding of the mechanisms of Ni uptake and hyperaccumulation by plants at the physiological, biochemical, molecular, genetic, and agronomic levels. Some approaches such as utilization of microorganisms, genetic engineering, and cell engineering, as well as soil and plant management have been applied to enhance the effectiveness of phytoremediation for the Ni-contaminated soils.

In this review no attempt has been made to cover all the available literatures on uptake and hyperaccumulation of Ni in plants. Several excellent articles on this topic are available: Marschner, 1995; Robinson, 1997; Sheoran *et al.*, 2009; Glick 2010; Krämer, 2010; Maestri *et al.*, 2010; Mench, *et al.*, 2010; Ma *et al.*, 2011; Rascio and Navari-Izzo, 2011; Singh *et al.*, 2011.

# 2. STATUS OF NICKEL IN SOILS

Nickel has typical concentrations of  $1-450 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$  in most natural soils (Kabata-Pendias and Pendias, 1992; Bai et al., 2006). However, in polluted soils, Ni concentrations may reach 20to 30-fold  $(200-26,000 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$  higher than the overall range  $(10-1000 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$ (Izosimova, 2005). Serpentine soils developed on ultramafic rocks naturally contain high concentrations of Ni, usually in the range 0.1-3% Ni (Brooks, 1987; Kabata-Pendias and Pendias, 1992), averaging 1% Ni (Prasad, 2005). Even though area under serpentine terrain occupies less than 1% of the earth's total exposed surface, it is abundant in ophiolite belts along tectonic plate margins but widely scattered throughout the world and usually supports a unique flora (Morrison et al., 2009). In Albania (Balkans), serpentine soils cover 30% of the land area (Shallari et al., 1998; Bani et al., 2007). Serpentine soils near Pogradec in Albania contain approximately 3000 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> Ni (Barbaroux et al., 2009). In a smelter in Burrel, 35 km NE of Tirana (Albania), Ni background concentration in those serpentinite-derived soils is approximately  $2356 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$  (Shtiza *et al.*, 2005). Serpentinites are relatively common along the western coast of North America (Oze et al., 2004). In California and Oregon there are over 400,000 ha of serpentine soils, where Ni is usually present at the concentrations between 1000 and 7000 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (Alexander, 1994; Nicks and Chambers, 1998). Recently, a regional-scale study (Morrison et al., 2009) suggested that the chemically and mineralogically distinctive serpentine rocks outcrop extensively in the Coast Range and Sierra Nevada of California and surface soil samples derived from serpentine rocks of those areas contained  $1300-3900 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$  Ni.

#### Mechanisms of Nickel Uptake and Hyperaccumulation by Plants and Implications

Mining and smelting activities are the major sources of heavy metals entering into the environment and can lead to ecological damages (Wei et al., 2009a). The high organic muck soils present in the Port Colborne, Ontario, Canada are ideal for vegetable production. However, emissions from a refinery have left the nearby farmland with elevated Ni concentrations. Extremely high soil Ni concentrations have been detrimental to the agricultural industry in this region and have rendered the neighboring farmland unsuitable for growing fruits and vegetables (McLaughlin, 2002). Frank et al. (1982) reported that the concentration of Ni in the 0-5 cm layer of untilled muck soil downwind from the Port Colborne refinery ranged from 800 to  $>6000 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$ . Moreover, Everhart et al. (2006) showed that total Ni concentrations in the muck soils near this refinery at a depth of 0-15 cm ranged from 63 to  $>22000 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$ . Due to the shortage of irrigation water, industrial and domestic wastewater has been used to irrigate or partially irrigate croplands. Jinchang city of Gansu province is a famous "Nickel City" in China. The mine and surrounding environment has been polluted and destroyed due to the exploitation of metal mineral resources for more than 40 years (Cong, 1997; Zhao, 2000). The total Ni contents of samples from the agricultural soils (0-15 cm in depth) in this area ranged from 139 to 1099 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> with the mean value of 300 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>. All of the tested soil samples exceeded the Ni limit of grade II soil environmental quality standards in China (GB15168-1995), and partially exceeded grade III soil environmental quality standards in China (GB15168-1995), indicating severe pollution of the soils in the vicinity of the mine tailings (Wang et al., 2009). In the United Kingdom (UK), agricultural soils that had received sewage sludge contained Ni concentrations as high as  $385 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$ , while the background level of Ni in the UK is around 25 mg  $kg^{-1}$ , and the maximum allowable in pasture soils set by the European Community is 75 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (McGrath, 1995). In an extensive survey of heavy metal concentrations in US agricultural soils, Holmgren et al. (1993) reported a maximum Ni concentration of  $390 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$  and a mean Ni concentration of 25 mg kg $^{-1}$ .

## **3. NICKEL EFFECTS ON PLANTS**

## 3.1. Nickel Essentiality

Although discharge of Ni is known to have adverse effects on the environment, the essentiality of Ni is now generally acknowledged, based on the numerous symptoms caused by Ni deficiency and its physiological functions and critical roles in various enzymes in plants (Brown *et al.*, 1987;

Fageria et al., 2002; Muyssen et al., 2004). Nickel is currently considered to be a plant micronutrient and is found in the vegetative organs of most plants in the range of  $1-10 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$  DW (Assunção et al., 2003). Its deficiency can cause yield reductions. It has been shown in several plant species that low Ni concentrations have promotional effect on plant growth and development (Seregin and Kozhevnikowa, 2006). The available information on optimal and deficient concentrations of Ni is limited, but its role in the urease and hydrogenase metabolism has been used as criteria for critical concentration level (Harish et al., 2008). In different plant species the deficiency levels for  $Ni^{2+}$  ranged from  $10^{-12}$  M to  $2 \times 10^{-6}$  M (Muyssen et al., 2004). Nickel is found in several enzymes including urease, hydrogenase, carbon monoxide dehydrogenase, glyoxalase I, peptide deformylase, acetyl-S-coenzyme A synthase, methylcoenzyme M reductase and Ni-containing superoxide dismutase (NiSOD) (Ermler et al., 1998; Mulrooney and Hausinger, 2003). Gerendás and Sattelmacher (1999) showed that Ni addition markedly enhanced the dry matter production of urea-grown plants, but its deficiency significantly reduced the urease activity in the leaves and roots of plants. Nitrogen-fixing microbes require Ni for processing hydrogen gas generated during N2 fixation (Evans and Sorger, 1966; Taiz and Zeiger, 1998). Low levels of Ni supply may limit the symbiotic hydrogenase activity of Rhizobium leguminosarum (Ureta et al., 2005) and consequently influenced the symbiotic  $N_2$  fixation directly (Zobiole et al., 2010). It is known that Ni is incorporated into metallocenters through the coordination with surrounding ligands such as histidine (His) and cysteine (Cys) and for the complete metallocenter assembly (Hausinger, 1990; Hausinger et al., 1996).

Hyperaccumulated metal (such as Ni) concentrations in plant tissues may function as "elemental defense" against some natural enemies, such as pathogens and herbivores (Boyd, 2004). Recently, some studies have confirmed the defensive effects of Ni. For instance, Ni salts were effective as fungicides against leaf and stem rusts on wheat (Graham and Webb, 1991). When Alyssum murale and Alyssum serpyllifolium ssp. lusitanicum are grown in nutrient solution with low Ni concentrations, plants are more susceptible to infection with Pythium ultimum (Ghaderian et al., 2000). Alyssum species grown with higher Ni concentrations were protected from fungal attack. Jhee et al. (2006) suggested that Ni hyperaccumulation by Streptanthus polygaloides effectively protected against the folivore Plutella xylostella. Boyd et al. (2002) reported that in choice experiments, for Senecio coronatus, Ni-hyperaccumulator leaves were less damaged by snails than non-hyperaccumulator leaves. However, the lowest concentration needed to produce defensive effects is unclear. Coleman et al. (2005) suggested that Ni concentrations in plant tissues far lower than the minimum hyperaccumulator level can have defensive

have to face an array of natural enemies (Boyd, 2007).

benefits for plants. This phenomenon is under further investigation. Considering the different Ni concentration in the populations of the same plant species and even the organs of the same population, Boyd *et al.* (2008) pointed out an interesting assumption: if Ni does confer protection, then leaves of hyperaccumulator *S. coronatus* are much better defended than roots, as leaves contained at least 5-fold more Ni. Similarly, leaves and roots of hyperaccumulator populations are also better defended by Ni than those of non-hyperaccumulator populations. Nevertheless, the defensive effects have been analyzed mostly in laboratory conditions and have considered only one or a few selected herbivores, rather than being tested in the field where hyperaccumulators

## 3.2. Nickel Toxicity

An excess of a heavy metal is toxic to most plants (Foy et al., 1978; Seregin and Kozhevnikowa, 2006). It has been more than two decades since the significance of Ni as a pollutant was recognized (Iljin, 1991). The most obvious symptoms of Ni toxicity reported in plants are the inhibition of growth, chlorosis, necrosis, and wilting (Eskew et al., 1984; Marschner, 1995; Pandey and Sharma, 2002; Gajewska et al., 2006; Kopittke et al., 2007; Ghasemi and Ghaderian, 2009). Inhibitory effect of toxic levels of Ni on plant growth has been reported by many authors (Pandey and Sharma, 2002; Gajewska et al., 2006; Gajewska and Skłodowska, 2007, 2010). High concentrations of Ni may contribute to the deficiency of nutrients or the divalent cations that can compete with Ni. Nickel stress has been shown to cause a substantial decrease in all macro- and micronutrients in leaves and achenes of sunflower (Helianthus annuus L.) and a marked reduction in root and shoot fresh biomass. In this study, higher Ni levels decreased the concentrations of Ca, Mn, and Fe in achenes and N, K, Zn, Mn, and Cu decreased consistently with increasing level of Ni (Ahmad et al., 2011). In nutrient solution, with increasing Ni concentration from 1 to 100 µM, the uptake of Zn, Cu, Fe, and Mn in barley shoot decreased significantly (Rahman et al., 2005). Maize grown in calcareous soil with Ni application decreased P concentration (Karimian, 1995). The concentration of Cl<sup>-</sup> and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> decreased significantly with increasing Ni concentration in barley shoot (Brown et al., 1990).

L'Huiller *et al.* (1996) found that at the Ni concentration of 60 mM, maize root growth was reduced by directly inhibiting root mitotic activity. Nickel alters G-actin conformation, which can affect dynamics of actin filament (AF) polymerization/depolymerization (Dalledonne *et al.*, 1999). Moreover, Ni is a strong mitotic inhibitor of meristematic cells of *Allium cepa* root (Arrunategui-Jimenez *et al.*, 1999). When the

green alga Spirogyra decimina was exposed to Ni, its orientation of cortical microtubules was changed from a transverse to a skewed or longitudinal direction (Přibyl et al., 2008). Imbalances of Ni in plants may cause alteration of fundamental metabolic processes (e.g., photosynthesis and transport of photoassimilates from leaves) (Seregin and Kozhevnikowa, 2006), and thus inhibit the growth. In seedlings exposed to Ni, reduced root sink activity as well as the inhibited starch hydrolysis and/or transport of sucrose may result in the photoassimilate accumulation in leaves (Rautio, 2000; Roitto et al., 2005) and thus the root/shoot ratio of Scot pine (Pinus sylvestris) was reduced (Rautio, 2000). In addition, accumulation of carbohydrates in shoots was suggested to inhibit the root growth of maize (20-500 mM Ni in the growth medium) (Baccouch et al., 1998). Ni-induced transient starch accumulation was also observed in bundle sheet cells of maize (L'Huillier et al., 1996), needles of pine (Kukkola and Huttunen, 1998), detached rooting bean leaves (Nyitrai et al., 2004), and cabbage leaves (Molas, 2002). The Ni-induced starch accumulation indicates that the export of carbohydrates out of the plastids decreased, most probably due to the lower demand of the rest of the cells as a result of the Ni-dependent inhibition of growth (Appenroth et al., 2010).

Symptoms of Ni toxicity such as chlorosis and necrotic spots often occur in plants. For instance, maize (Zea mays L.) leaves became chlorotic at low Ni concentrations (20-100 mM) and necrotic at high Ni (250-500 mM)Ni) exposure levels and chlorophyll content decreased (Baccouch et al., 1998). Such chlorosis could result from both Fe and Mg deficiency and the inhibition of chlorophyll synthesis (Seregin and Kozhevnikowa, 2006). The content of photosynthetic pigments chlorophylls a and b decreased considerably after application of Ni (Pandey and Sharma, 2002; Gajewska et al., 2006; Seregin and Kozhevnikowa, 2006; Appenroth et al., 2010). The diminished rate of photosynthesis under Ni stress was reported to relate to the reduced stomatal conductance (Gs) (Bazzaz et al., 1974; Ouzounidou et al., 2006). Maximum quantum yield of primary photochemistry, variable fluorescence (Fv) and chlorophyll concentration were reduced by Ni treatment (Ouzounidou et al., 2006). On the other hand, Ni accumulation may result in acceleration of respiratory rates and disturbance of plant water balance. High uptake of Ni induced a decline in water content of dicot and monocot plant species. The decrease in water uptake has been used as an indicator of the progression of Ni toxicity in plants (Pandey and Sharma, 2002; Gajewska et al., 2006). In addition, several authors have reported that plants responded to Ni exposure can lead to the proline accumulation (Pandey and Sharma, 2002; Kovacik et al., 2009; Gajewska and Skłodowska, 2009; Kazemi et al., 2010). Proline accumulation may be involved in the mechanisms of osmoregulation, as well as, the important

role of proline in response of plants to heavy metal toxicity may be related to its antioxidative properties (Matysik *et al.*, 2002).

At cellular and molecular levels, Ni is known to bind strongly to oxygen (O), nitrogen (N), and sulfur (S) atoms. High affinity of Ni to sulfhydryl groups and disulfide bonds may cause damage to the secondary structure of proteins and affect the enzyme activities, leading to the disturbance of various metabolic pathways (Siedlecka and Krupa, 2002; Kabała *et al.*, 2008). Past studies have shown the effects of Ni on N metabolism: nitrate reductase (NR) and glutamine synthetase (GS) activities and nitrate content (Kevrešan *et al.*, 1998), transaminase activities and amino acid content (El-Shintinawy and El-Ansary, 2000), and proline metabolism (Lin and Kao, 2007). Effect of Ni on the activities of enzymes that mediate the successive steps of N assimilation, such as NR and NiR taking part in nitrate assimilation, GS and GOGAT constituting the main ammonium assimilating cycle, GDH participating in the alternative ammonium assimilation pathway, as well as AlaAT, AspAT catalyzing transamination reactions (Gajewska and Skłodowska, 2009).

Stimulation of production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as  $O_2^{\bullet-}$  and  $H_2O_2$  indirectly by inhibition of photosynthesis due to high concentrations of Ni in plants have been reported (Gajewska and Skłodowska, 2007; Kumar et al., 2007; Rocchetta and Kuepper, 2009). High Ni induces oxidative stress as evidenced by peroxidation of membrane lipids (Baccouch et al., 1998, 2001). However, the results regarding the effect of Ni on the activities of antioxidative enzymes are inconsistent; both stimulation (Baccouch et al., 1998; Yan et al., 2008; Duman and Ozturk, 2010; Gajewska and Skłodowska, 2010; Israr et al., 2011) and inhibition (Boominathan and Doran, 2002; Pandey and Sharma, 2002) in their activities have been reported. An increase in  $H_2O_2$  content in response to Ni stress was detected in leaves of wheat (Gajewska and Skłodowska, 2007) and canola plants (Kazemi et al., 2010) and in hairy roots of Alyssum (Boominathan and Doran, 2002). H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> may play an important role in the inhibition of growth of Ni-stressed plants (Chen et al., 2000; Kazemi et al., 2010). The lipid peroxidation destabilizes membranes thus disturbing their structure and function, changing their permeability and affecting the membrane-bound enzyme activities by changing their substrate affinity, activation energy or turnover number (Kerkeb et al., 2001). Nickel affected the lipid composition and H-ATPase activity of the plasma membrane as reported in Oryza sativa shoots (Ros et al., 1992a). Generally, the level of malondialdehyde (MDA), an indicator of oxidative membrane degradation, increased drastically in different plants exposed to Ni (Baccouch et al., 1998; Madhava Rao and Sresty, 2000; Ali et al., 2003; Kazemi et al., 2010). Such changes might disturb membrane functionality and ion balance in the cytoplasm, particularly of K<sup>+</sup>, the most mobile ion across plant cell membrane. However, it was reported that Ni did not increase the lipid peroxidation in the isolated tonoplast fractions from cucumber roots (Kabała and Janicka-Russak, 2011). Lipid peroxides content showed no significant changes in wheat leaves after exposure to 100  $\mu$ M of Ni for 3 days (Gajewska and Skłodowska, 2007). Lack of Ni effect may be related to low metal concentration and/or time of exposure to Ni (Kabała and Janicka-Russak, 2011), however, stimulated lipid peroxidation was reported in plants exposed to Ni at and above 0.5 mM Ni concentrations (Madhava Rao and Sresty, 2000) or application of Ni for several days at micromolar concentrations (Baccouch et al., 1998). An enhancement of membrane lipid peroxidation occurred in Z. mays shoots, after 48 h of 250 µM Ni applications (Baccouch et al., 1998). Moreover, the effect of Ni seems to depend on plant tolerance levels (Kabała and Janicka-Russak, 2011). The growth of hyperaccumulator Thlaspi on 125 mM Ni for 8 days did not change the total lipid peroxidation, but resulted in a significant increase in MDA levels in non-accumulator Arabidopsis thaliana plant (Freeman et al, 2004).

Ni-stressed canola plants have shown a decrease in the antioxidant enzymes (CAT, GPX and APX) activities (Kazemi *et al.*, 2010). These enzymes contain Fe in their structure. Since high concentrations of Ni have decreased Fe content in plant tissues (Pandey and Sharma, 2002; Everhart *et al.*, 2006), reduction in their activities in plants subjected to excess Ni may result in the deficiency of Fe for biosynthesis of these enzyme molecules (Kazemi *et al.*, 2010). Thus, the ratio of Ni/Fe may be a good predictor of Ni toxicity in plants.

## 4. NICKEL-HYPERACCUMULATOR PLANTS

Nickel hyperaccumulator plants contain >1000 mg Ni kg<sup>-1</sup> dry weight (DW) (0.1%) in the shoots. This is an exceptionally high heavy metal concentration since Ni toxicity in most plants occurs at concentrations higher than  $10-50 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$  DW (Marschner, 1995). Excluder plants, stored Ni in root cell wall vacuoles, thus keeping Ni sequestered away from photosynthetically active shoot tissues. Rascio and Navari-Izzo (2011) stated that hyperaccumulating plants actively take up exceedingly large amounts of one or more heavy metals from the growth medium and translocate the shoots when accumulated to at concentrations 100 - 1000times higher than those found in nonhyperaccumulating plant species. Hyperaccumulators have a much greater ability to detoxify and sequester huge amounts of heavy metals in the leaves, and exhibit no phytotoxicity symptoms (Rascio and Navari-Izzo, 2011).

Approximately 350 taxa of Ni hyperaccumulators are known to accumulate between 1000 and 38,000 mg Ni kg<sup>-1</sup> in dry leaf biomass (Reeves, 1992), whereas the corresponding concentrations are below 1–200 mg Ni kg<sup>-1</sup> for majority of non-accumulator taxa occuring in the same habitats (Brooks, 1987; Wycisk *et al.*, 2004). The web site (http://en.wikipedia. org/wiki/Hyperaccumulators\_table\_-\_2:\_Nickel) lists many of the Nihyperaccumulator plant species and their accumulation ability. Additional reports continuously appear on plant species that hyperaccumulate Ni and many yet unidentified Ni-hyperaccumulator plants may exist in other parts of the world (Harish *et al.*, 2008; Rascio and Navari-Izzo, 2011).

Nickel is the heavy metal that has been shown to reach the highest concentration in a plant. This is clearly shown in Sebertia acuminata Pierre ex Baill. Sapotaceae, a tree which is endemic to the serpentine soil from New Caledonia, can accumulate up to 26% Ni (dry mass) in its latex (Jaffré et al., 1976). A single tree of this species may contain 37 kg of the (Sagner *et al.*, 1998). About 25% of metal discovered Ni hyperaccumulators belong to the family of Brassicaceae (Prasad, 2005), in particular, to genera Alyssum and Thlaspi, and the genera Alyssum has the largest number of Ni hyperaccumulators since it hosts more than 50 taxa of such plants (Brooks, 1998; Rascio and Navari-Izzo, 2011). Plants belonging to these species offer an excellent source to study mechanisms of plant adaptation to hostile environments and to evaluate naturally selected complex traits. Linking contrasted phenotypes to specific genetic differences is a first step toward in depth understanding of how these various traits may have evolved (Weigel and Nordborg, 2005; Mitchell-Olds et al., 2007). Such knowledge could then be further used to develop improved biofortification and phytoremediation technologies (Hanikenne and Nouet, 2011).

Most hyperaccumulators are endemic to metalliferous soils behaving metallophytes" (Rascio and Navari-Izzo, "strict 2011). Ni as hyperaccumulation is likely evolved on relatively abundant geogenically Ni-rich (or serpentine) outcrops (Krämer, 2010). A large number of Ni hyperaccumulators may reflect the high worldwide occurrence of serpentine soils. Some "facultative metallophytes" can also live on nonmetalliferous soils, although they are more prevalent on metal-enriched habitats (Assunção et al., 2003). Furthermore, there are species that include both metallicolous- and non-metallicolous populations (Rascio and Navari-Izzo, 2011). The plant species that hyperaccumulate Ni are distributed in a wide range of distantly related families and reasons for their evolution that gave rise to hyperaccumulating plants are unknown and still under considerable debate (Hanikenne and Nouet, 2011; Rascio and Navari-Izzo, 2011). For the last 30 years, intensive research has been conducted to understand the biochemical, physiological and genetic basis of hyperaccumulation. Maestri et al. (2010) stated that considering the wide distribution of hyperaccumulators throughout the plant kingdom, it is unlikely that all these species have the same mechanism of hyperaccumulation.

### 5. MECHANISMS OF NICKEL HYPERACCUMULATION BY PLANTS

As shown in Fig. 1, metal hyperaccumulation is a complex and rare phenomenon, and the elucidation of the mechanisms for this process constitutes a considerable task. Knowledge of mechanisms of Ni uptake and accumulation from the soil/plant interface, transport to shoot, partitioning and distribution in cellular compartments can lead to an improved understanding of a plant's ability to hyperaccumulate Ni (Everhart *et al.*, 2006; Sheoran *et al.*, 2009).

Maestri *et al.* (2010) concluded that many kinds of transporter proteins participate in metal transport and homeostasis: (i) plasma membrane transporters involved in uptake; (ii) tonoplast transporters for uptake; (iii)



**Figure 1** Soil, plant and microbial traits and processes involved in Ni uptake and hyperaccumulation. (Modified from Yang *et al.*, 2005; Sheoran *et al.*, 2009 and Tack, 2010). For color version of this figure, the reader is referred to the online version of this book.

129

remobilization from the vacuole; (iv) transporters for xylem loading; and (v) endomembrane transporters. Hall and Williams (2003) summarized that some of these families have been identified, such as: (i) the influx transporter families: the natural resistance-associated macrophage protein (NRAMP), zinc-iron permease (ZIP) and yellow-stripe 1-like (YSL) subfamily proteins; (ii) the efflux protein families: the heavy metal ATPase (HMA), the cation diffusion facilitator (CDF) family proteins, cation exchanger (CAX) and ATP-binding cassette transporters (ABC).

## 5.1. Root Uptake

Plant can directly take up Ni<sup>2+</sup>, ion pairs (such as Ni<sup>2+</sup>(H<sub>2</sub>O)<sub>5</sub>SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup>), and simple complexes (such as NiOH<sup>+</sup>) in soil solution (Kabata-Pendias and Pendias, 1992; Tack, 2010). Nickel readily forms complexes with organic substances such as organic acids and other dissolved organic matter, which enhances Ni desorption or dissolution in soils. According to water solubility and/or plant uptake, soil Ni can be divided into available, potentially available, and unavailable pools (Fig. 1). The available Ni pool includes water soluble and exchangeable forms and the potentially available pool constitutes specifically adsorbed Ni, sparingly soluble minerals, and strongly bonded organic complexes, whereas Ni forms occluded in oxides, water insoluble compounds and tied within mineral structure are not available to plants within the growing season and generally considered as unavailable pool (Robinson, 1997; Sheoran et al., 2009). Plants may absorb Ni from available pool at any time. In potentially available pool, Ni is available to plants once the available pool is depleted (Robinson, 1997). The availability of soil Ni is influenced by many factors such as soil pH, redox potentials, organic matter content, and temperature (Kabata-Pendias and Pendias, 1992; Fageria et al., 2002; Tack, 2010).

Much less information is available on Ni uptake, as compared with other micronutrients. Similar to other metal ions, plant uptake of Ni<sup>2+</sup> may involve both passive and active processes (Kochian, 1991). Nickel uptake is generally rapid and positively correlated with Ni concentrations in soil solution (Kabata-Pendias and Pendias, 1992). The presence of metal cations such as  $Zn^{2+}$ ,  $Cu^{2+}$ ,  $Ca^{2+}$ , or  $Mg^{2+}$  was observed to inhibit Ni<sup>2+</sup> uptake in excised barley roots, but the effect was different between the macro and microelements, of competitive nature for  $Zn^{2+}$  and  $Cu^{2+}$  but non-competitive for Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Mg<sup>2+</sup> (Korner *et al*, 1986). Nickel uptake is influenced by many plant and soil factors as shown in Fig. 1 and discussed in the subsequent sections. pH is one of the most important soil properties, which decreases Ni uptake when raised from 4.5 to 6.5 (Kabata-Pendias and Pendias, 1992).

### 5.1.1. Bioactivation of nickel in the rhizosphere

A high proportion of metal-resistant bacterial populations live in the rhizosphere of the hyperaccumulators. The rhizosphere provides a complex and dynamic microenvironment where microorganisms, in association with roots, form a unique community (De-Souza et al., 1999). Plant exudates, including organic acids (e.g., malonic and oxalic acids), metal-chelating compounds (phytosiderophores), and enzymes (reductase), together with acidification by protons, play a role in the metal mobilization from the soil to the roots (Marschner, 1995). In turn, rhizosphere microorganisms may interact symbiotically/non symbiotically with roots to enhance the potential for metal uptake through lowering the pH, producing compounds such as antibiotics and antifungals, organic acids, hormones (e.g., indole acetic acid), metal-chelating agents, enhancing plant biomass increases at root level (Wenzel et al., 2003; Xiong et al., 2008), solubilization of soil phosphate (Gupta et al., 2002) and providing nutrients to the plant (Patten and Glick, 1996). Rhizosphere microbes, with activity and a high surface area-to-volume ratio because of their small size, provide a large contact area that may have the potential to act as microbial chelates associated with metal uptake (Karenlampi et al., 2000; Rajkumar and Freitas, 2008a) (Table 1).

Extractable Ni was found to increase from 2.2 to 2.6 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> when the soil was inoculated with *Microbacterium arabinogalactanolyticum* AY509224 (Abou-Shanab *et al.*, 2006). Plant growth-promoting bacteria (PGPB) *sychrobacter* sp. SRA1 and *Bacillus cereus* SRA10 significantly increased the accumulation of Ni in the root and shoot tissues of *Brassica juncea*, as compared with non-inoculated controls (Ma *et al.*, 2009a). These studies indicate that rhizosphere bacteria facilitate the release of Ni from the non-soluble phases in the soil, thus enhancing the availability of Ni to *A. murale* (Abou-Shanab *et al.*, 2003; 2006). Accordingly, Everhart *et al.* (2006) observed the highest number of Ni-resistant bacteria in the unlimed loam soil, which is also the soil that showed the highest Ni phytoextraction value. A possible explanation might be acid, siderophore production and phosphate solubilization by the bacteria, which facilitate Ni solubility (Abou-Shanab *et al.*, 2006).

In addition, some PGPB strains can produce siderophores and contain the enzyme 1-amino-cyclopropane-1-carboxylate (ACC) deaminase, which can reduce the production of ethylene, thus protecting the plant against Ni, Pb, and Zn toxicity (Burd *et al.*, 1998), promoting root elongation and plant growth (Hall *et al.*, 1996; Glick *et al.*, 1998; Belimov *et al.*, 2001), and contributing to the heavy metal tolerance of plants. Burd *et al.* (2000) reported that Ni-resistant *Kluyvera ascorbata* isolated from soil contaminated with Ni and other heavy metals has been shown to promote plant growth. *Psychrobacter* sp. SRA2 significantly increased the fresh (351%) and dry biomass (285%) of the *B. juncea* (Ma

# Author's personal copy

Bacteria	Plants	Metals	Effects/Mechanisms	References
Kluyvera ascorbata SSUD165	Canola (Brassica napus)	Ni	Increased biomass; ACC deaminase	Burd <i>et al.</i> , 1998
K. ascorbata SUD165, SUD165/26	Canola, tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum)	Ni, Pb, Zn	Increased biomass; ACC deaminase, siderophores	Burd <i>et al.</i> , 2000
Microbacterium arabinogalactanolyticum	Alyssum murale	Ni	Increased Ni uptake	Abou-Shanab et al., 2003
Rhizosphere and endophytic bacteria	Thlaspi goesingense	Ni	ACC deaminase, siderophores	Idris <i>et al.</i> , 2004
Rhizosphere bacteria	Graminaceae grasses	Cd, Zn, Ni	IAA, siderophores, ACC deaminase	Dell'Amico et al., 2005
P. fluorescens, P. putida	Canola (Brassica napus)	Ni	Increased seed germination and growth	Ashour <i>et al.</i> , 2006
P. putida UW4, P. putida HS-2	Canola (Brassica napus)	Ni	Increased biomass in the field; IAA, ACC deaminase	Farwell et al., 2006
B. subtilis SJ-101	Indian mustard (Brassica juncea)	Ni	Increased Ni uptake and Shoot length, fresh and dry weights; IAA, P solubilization	Zaidi <i>et al.</i> , 2006
Nine different Ni-resistant bacterial strains	Alyssum murale	Ni	Increased Ni uptake	Abou-Shanab et al., 2006
P. putida ARB86	Arabidopsis thaliana	Ni	Increased biomass and chlorophyll content	Someya <i>et al.</i> , 2007

### Table 1 Bacteria and plant combination in Ni phytoremediation of contaminated soils

131

(continued)

# Author's personal copy

## Table 1 (continued)

Bacteria	Plants	Metals	Effects/Mechanisms	References
Bradyrhizobium sp. RM8	Mung bean (Vigna mungo)	Ni, Zn	Increased growth, seed yield and seed protein, nodule number and plant Nutrition, decreased Ni toxicity and uptake; IAA, siderophores, HCN, ammonia production	Wani <i>et al.</i> , 2007a
Methylobacterium oryzae CBMB20, Burkholderia sp.	Lycopersicon esculentum	Ni, Cd	Increased Plant growth, decreased Ethylene emission, and Ni, Cd Uptake and translocation; ACC deaminase, phytohormone production	Madhaiyan <i>et al.</i> , 2007
Endophytic bacteria	A. bertolonii	Ni	Increased biomass; siderophores	Barzanti <i>et al.</i> (2007)
Rhizobium sp. RP5	Pisum sativum	Ni, Zn	Increased biomass, nodule number and plant nutrition, decreased Ni, Zn uptake and toxicity; IAA, siderophores	Wani <i>et al.</i> , 2007b
Enterobacter sp. NBRI K28	Indian mustard ( <i>Brassica juncea</i> )	Ni, Zn, Cr	Increased biomass, protein and chlorophyll content and Ni, Zn, Cr uptake; IAA, siderophores, ACC deaminase, P solubilization	Kumar <i>et al.</i> , 2008
P. putida HS-2	Canola (Brassica napus)	Ni	Increased seed germination and biomass; siderophores, IAA, ACC deaminase	Rodriguez et al., 2008

# Author's personal copy

Pseudomonas sp. 29C, Bacillus sp. 4C	Indian mustard (Brassica juncea)	Ni	Increased biomass; IAA, iderophores, ACC deaminase, P solubilization	Rajkumar And Freitas, 2008a
Pseudomonas sp. M6, Pseudo- monas jessenii M15	Castor bean ( <i>Ricinus communis</i> )	Ni, Cu, Zn	Increased biomass; IAA, ACC deaminase, P solubilization	Rajkumar And Freitas, 2008b
Pseudomonas sp.	Chickpea ( <i>Cicer</i> arietinum)	Ni	Increased biomass and decreased Ni uptake; siderophores	Tank and Saraf, 2008
Enterobacter erogenes, Rahnella aquatilis	Indian mustard ( <i>Brassica juncea</i> )	Ni, Cr	Increased biomass, and Ni, Cr uptake; IAA, siderophores, ACC deaminase, P solubilization	Kumar <i>et al.</i> , 2009
Psychrobacter sp. SRA1 and SRA2, Bacillus cereus SRA10	Indian mustard (Brassica juncea), B. oxyrrhina	Ni	Increased biomass, and Ni bioavail- ability and uptake; IAA, side- rophores, ACC deaminase, P solubilization	Ma <i>et al.</i> , 2009a
Pseudomonas sp. SRI2, Psy- chrobacter sp. SRS8 and Bacillus sp. SN9	Indian mustard (Brassica juncea), B. oxyrrhina	Ni	Increased biomass, and Ni bioavailability and uptake; IAA, siderophores, ACC deaminase, P solubilization	Ma <i>et al.</i> , 2009b
endophyte <i>Burkholderia</i> cepacia VM1468	yellow lupine	Ni	Decreased Ni and toluene phytotoxicity	Weyens <i>et al.</i> , 2010

(Sources: Glick, 2010 and Ma et al., 2011)

et al., 2009a). Besides, Rajkumar and Freitas (2008a) reported inoculation with the Ni-resistant PGPB, *Pseudomonas sp.* 29C and *Bacillus megaterium* 4C, had little influence on the accumulation of Ni in root and shoot system, but produced a much larger above-ground biomass of *B. juncea*. This observation showed that the strains Ps29C and Bm4C protect the plants against the inhibitory effects of Ni, probably due to the production of indole-3-acetic acid (IAA), siderophore and solubilization of phosphate. Some other bacteria belonging to different genera such as pseudomonas, mycobacterium, agrobacterium, and arthrobacter are also reported to produce IAA and aid in plant growth (Dell'Amico *et al.*, 2005).

Amino cyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid deaminase (AcdS) is an enzyme that is involved in the hydrolysis of plant hormone ethylene precursor ACC. The AcdS activity of many rhizobacterial strains may decrease the level of ethylene in root tissue, thereby promoting root growth (Glick *et al.*, 1998; Contesto *et al.*, 2008). Contesto *et al.* (2008) investigated the changes in root architecture and root hair length induced by four rhizobacteria (*Phyllobacterium brassicacearum* STM196, *Pseudomonas putida* UW4, *R. leguminosarum* bv. *viciae* 128C53K and *Mesorhizobium loti* MAFF303099) and by their respective AcdS-deficient mutants. The results showed that inoculation by any of the rhizobacteria led to a 2–3-fold increase in root hair length in *A. thaliana*. By contrast, root hairs of seedlings inoculated with the AcdS mutant strains were significantly increased. Similar effects have been reported for many other PGPR strains (Zimmer and Bothe, 1988; Bertrand *et al.*, 2000; Dobbelaere *et al.*, 2003; Ribaudo *et al.*, 2006).

Maestri *et al.* (2010) stated that root environment for hyperaccumulator and non-accumulator plant species seems to have different effects on metal bioavailability and root uptake, but more studies are needed to ascertain this.

#### 5.1.2. Root absorption and compartmentation

In root the plasma membrane (PM) is the first structure of living cells exposed to heavy metal. The PM functions as a barrier for metal movement into the cytoplasm (Kabała *et al.*, 2008). A key PM enzyme,  $H^+$ -ATPase, generates the proton electrochemical gradient, which acts as a driving force for nutrient uptake and loading of solutes and assimilates into the xylem and phloem, respectively (Morsomme and Boutry, 2000; Palmgren, 2001; Kabała *et al.*, 2008). Studies have shown that the increase or decrease of the PM  $H^+$ -ATPase activity in roots depends greatly on the metal concentration in the cultivation medium (Ros *et al.*, 1992b; Burzyński and Buczek, 1994; Janicka-Russak *et al.*, 2008).

In order to enter the xylem, Ni must first cross a membrane, probably through the action of membrane pump or channel. This type of transport of metals, called symplast transport, is regulated due to the selectively permeable plasma membrane of the cells that control access to the symplast by specific or generic metal ion carriers or channels (Gaymard, 1998; Hall, 2002; Sheoran et al., 2009). Soluble Ni can enter into the root symplast by crossing the PM of the root endodermal cells or they can enter the root apoplast through the space between cells (Peer et al., 2005; Mukhopadhyay and Maiti, 2010). Few data are available on the kinetic parameters of Ni uptake by vascular plant roots (Cataldo et al., 1978; Verlière and Heller, 1981; Aschmann and Zasoski, 1987; Puschenreiter et al., 2005). Most research on trace element uptake kinetics has focused on symplastic influx parameters, considering the apoplastic uptake to play no role in traceelement uptake. This is because apoplastic trace elements are considered to be blocked in the roots behind the apoplastic barriers (Casparian band), and therefore not translocated into the shoots (Redjala et al., 2010). However, a recent study using the fractionation method, allowed a separate assessment of the kinetics of apoplastic and symplastic Ni uptake for maize and Leptoplax emarginata with contrasting demands for the metal, revealed the importance of Ni adsorption on root apoplast (representing 81-95% of the total root uptake of both plant species), and suggested that apoplastic adsorption might also compete with the symplastic absorption and adds to the amount of Ni taken up by the plant, particularly in roots (Redjala et al., 2010).

### 5.2. Root-to-Shoot Transport

Plant uptake of Ni is accomplished by passive diffusion and active transport but their relative contribution depends on Ni concentration (Seregin and Kozhevnikowa, 2006). The active transport is more important at low Ni concentrations (below  $34 \,\mu\text{mol}\,\text{L}^{-1}$ ), and the diffusion process increases its role at higher concentrations due to the Ni toxic effect (Demchenko *et al.*, 2005; Jean *et al.*, 2008).

Unlike non-hyperaccumulator plants, which retain in root cells most of the heavy metals taken up from the soil, detoxifying them by chelation in the cytoplasm or storing them into vacuoles, in hyperaccumulators, once loaded into the xylem, the flow of xylem sap can rapidly and efficiently transport Ni to the shoots (Maestri *et al.*, 2010). Metal transporters carry metal ions from root symplast into xylem apoplast (Marschner, 1995), and are probably driven by transpiration pump (Salt *et al.*, 1995b). Although detailed information on the molecular factors governing metal translocation is still lacking, a number of different plant metal transporter families, as well as natural chelators and organic acids, have been identified to be effective in enhancing metal uptake and translocation from roots to the shoots in hyperaccumulators.

Lasat et al. (2000) and Rascio and Navari-Izzo (2011) concluded that the xylem translocation entails the heavy metal availability for xylem loading,

which derives from a low sequestration into and a ready efflux out of the vacuoles, possibly due to the specific features of root cell tonoplast. Xylem loading is known to operate through cation-proton antiport, cation-ATPases or ion channel (Williams *et al.*, 2000; Yang *et al.*, 2005).

### 5.2.1. Organic acids

Whether the long distance xylem transport of heavy metals can occur in free ionic forms or through metal complexation with organic acids is still controversial (Rascio and Navari-Izzo, 2011). It has been reported that only one-third of Ni has been bound by citrate in the xylem of hyperaccumulator Stackhousia tryoni (Celastraceae), whereas in the latex of the extreme Ni hyperaccumulator S. acuminata plant almost all Ni is complexed with citrate and other organic acids (Bidwell, 2001; Callahan et al., 2008; Rascio and Navari-Izzo, 2011). In several hyperaccumulating plant species, Citric acid was found to be the predominant chelator for Ni transport (Lee et al., 1977, 1978; Kersten et al., 1980). Studies with Alyssum bertolonii showed that Ni uptake was enhanced via Ni complexation with citric acid (Boominathan and Doran, 2003b). Moreover, in Datura innoxia, Ni is mainly present in the roots, nevertheless. Ni concentrations in stems of D. innoxia increased with the higher citric acid concentrations (Jean et al., 2008).

A key role of organic acids in heavy metal hyperaccumulation seems to be related to free amino acids, such as His and nicotinamine (NA), which form stable complexes with bivalent cations and free His appears to be the most important ligand involved in Ni hyperaccumulation (Callahan et al., 2006; Rascio and Navari-Izzo, 2011). In the Ni hyperaccumulator Alyssum lesbiacum, free His has been identified as the only amino acid shown to increase tolerance and translocation of metals to the shoot (Krämer et al., 1996). In Alyssum montanum, Ni is transported into the xylem at a 50fold increased rate by chelating with His (Krämer et al. 1996). The concentration of His in A. lesbiacum is increased by Ni treatment, but the genes of the biosynthetic pathway are not induced (Persans et al., 1999; Ingle et al., 2005). In the roots of Ni hyperaccumulator A. lesbiacum, as compared with the non-hyperaccumulator A. montanum, the constitutive TP-PRT1 overexpression of the gene (encoding the ATPphosphoribosyl transfer enzyme, committed in the first step of the biosynthetic pathway) leads to a larger endogenous pool of His, which favors the Ni xylem loading as a Ni-His complex (Kerkeb and Krämer, 2003; Ingle et al., 2005). Results with other species of the Brassicaceae family suggest that His-dependent Ni xylem loading may not be universal (Persans et al., 1999; Montargès-Pelletier et al., 2008; Verbruggen et al., 2009). Araújo et al. (2009) investigated the influence of four different ligands present in the xylem sap of Quercus ilex (His, citric, oxalic and aspartic acids) on Ni adsorption by xylem. The data fit the Freundlich isotherm model, the decreasing affinity order of ligands for Ni was: oxalic acid > citric acid > His > aspartic acid. On the other hand, the Ni adsorption by xylem increased following the inverse sequence of ligands (Araújo *et al.*, 2009). Besides, Wycisk *et al.* (2004) demonstrated that enhancing the first step in the His biosynthesis pathway, by expression in *Arabidopsis thaliana* of a bacterial gene encoding ATP phosphoribosyl transferase, is sufficient to increase the endogenous free His pool and Ni tolerance in *A. thaliana*. Hyperaccumulators contain a larger pool of His available for chelation in roots. The formation of Ni—His complex in the cytoplasm of root cells plays an essential role in preventing Ni entrapment in root vacuole, thus keeping it in the cytosol, in a detoxified form to facilitate its translocation (Maestri *et al.*, 2010). This could be the probable reason for higher rate of Ni loading in the xylem sap of *Thlaspi caerulescens*, as compared with the non-accumulator *Thlaspi arvense* (Richau *et al.*, 2009; Maestri *et al.*, 2010).

Nicotinamine is synthesized by the enzyme NA synthase from three molecules of S-adenosylmethionine, whereby three molecules of 50-Smethyl-50-thioadenosine are released (Wycisk et al., 2004). Nicotinamine forms complexes with most transition metal ions and its role is supposed to facilitate the movement of micronutrients throughout the plant (Stephan and Scholz, 1993). Studies suggested that NA is involved in iron homeostasis and confers Zn (Becher et al., 2004; Weber et al., 2004) and Ni tolerance (Vacchina et al., 2003). Positive correlation exists between enhanced NA synthesis and NA-metal chelation with Ni hyperaccumulation in T. caerulescens (Vacchina et al., 2003). After 6 h of exposure to Ni, TcNAS1 was expressed in shoots, NA was found in roots, and NA-Ni complexes became detectable in the xylem sap (Maestri et al., 2010). NA seems to be translocated to the roots in response to Ni toxicity, where it chelates with the absorbed Ni, thus facilitating NA-Ni complex transport to the shoot (Maestri et al., 2010). Through liquid chromatograpy coupled with electrospray ionization mass spectrometry, NA was found to play a crucial role in Ni translocation within metal-accumulating plants (Mari et al., 2006; Ouerdane et al., 2006; Callahan et al., 2007).

Other known metal chelators, such as phytochelatins (PCs) or glutathione (GSH), are not involved in Ni binding in the Ni hyperaccumulators such as *A. lesbiacum* (Krämer *et al.*, 1996) and *Thlaspi goesingense* Hálácsy (Krämer *et al.*, 2000).

### 5.2.2. Transport proteins

Each transporting protein usually catalyzes the transport of several ions, but with different affinity. Specific transporters in plant responsible for Ni hyperaccumulation have not yet been recognized (Rascio and Navari-Izzo, 2011). Assunção *et al.* (2008) stated that the preference of Zn over Ni

absorption by some Zn- and Ni-hyperaccumulator plants supplied with the same concentration of both heavy metals strongly suggests that a Zn transport system might also be employed in Ni entrance into roots.

In metal transport, ZIP and NRAMP play an important role (Guerinot, 2000; Williams et al., 2000). Mizuno et al. (2005) have reported that ZIP and RAMP transporter genes ( $T_jZnt1$ ,  $T_jZnt2$  and TjNRAMP4) from the sole Ni hyperaccumulator (Thlaspi japonicum) found in Japan were cloned and their Ni-transport ability was demonstrated by expression in yeast. Further, the ZIP and NRAMP transporters, isolated from T. japonicum, appear to protect cells from high-Ni levels. Transporter genes, TjZNT1 and TjZNT2 contain two long His-rich domains (HRDs) and act as a strong Ni-binding region. Mizuno et al. (2007) further reported that introduced ZIP family transporter gene homologous to  $T_jZnt1$  and TjZnt2 into yeast strains increased Ni tolerance in that species. However, the action of ZIP family transporter homologous could not explain the Ni resistance of yeast strains transformed with  $T_jZnt1$  and  $T_jZnt2$ . Mizuno et al. (2007) found that Ni tolerance of the  $T_jZnt2$  expressing yeast strain was not correlated with binding to HRDs, and Ni tolerance of TjZnt1; however, it was partially correlated with Zn influx, which suppressed Ni influx, therefore Ni influx and competitive inhibition of Ni influx by other metals might be the possible explanation. NRAMP family acts to control and maintain homeostasis of metals, with location mainly at the vacuolar membrane (Mizuno et al., 2005). In contrast to the wide metal transport specificity of TjZNT1 and TjZNT2 that transport Ni, Mn, Zn, and Cd, TjNRAMP4 did not show any transport activity for metals other than Ni (Mizuno et al., 2005).

In *T. caerulescens*, TcYSL3 was identified to participate in the vascular loading and mediate translocation of the Ni–NA complex *via* symplast (Gendre *et al.*, 2007). HMAs is of particular importance in heavy metal transport and plays a role in metal homeostasis and tolerance (Axelsen and Palmgren, 1998). Interestingly, the *HMA4* (one of the genes coding bicalent cation transporters of HMAs) activity has been shown to positively affect other candidate genes for hyperaccumulation. The increased expression of HMA4 increased the expression of genes belonging to the *ZIP* family, further suggesting that the root-to-shoot translocation acts as a driving force of the hyperaccumulation, by creating a permanent metal deficiency response in roots (Hanikenne *et al.*, 2008; Rascio and Navari-Izzo, 2011).

### 5.3. Distribution/Detoxification/Sequestration

### 5.3.1. Distribution

The knowledge of spatial distribution and localization of Ni and other metals within plant tissues is needed to comprehend mechanisms and

139

ecological benefits of hyperaccumulation and tolerance to toxic levels of heavy metals. For instance, only when Ni is present at sufficiently high concentrations in the phloem, can protection against phloem-sucking insects be effective (Gramlicha *et al.*, 2011).

It has been extensively reported that the higher concentration of Ni was found in the above-ground parts of plants rather than in the roots (Shallari et al., 1998; Broadhurst et al., 2004; Bani et al., 2007). For instance, A. murale grown in ultramafic soil near Pogradec in Albania, seeds contained the highest Ni concentration (stems:  $1170 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$ , roots:  $1260 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$ , and seeds: 11,400 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) (Barbaroux et al., 2009). Also, A. murale has been shown to contain a high amount of Ni in the leaves at the flowering stage (Bani et al., 2007; Chaney et al., 2007). Mesjasz-Przybylowicz et al. (1994) reported that for S. coronatus, most of the Ni was located in leaves and was concentrated mostly in the leaf epidermis. Ni-hyperaccumulating plants are known to contain Ni concentrations from several thousands of mg kg<sup>-1</sup> up to 5% Ni in leaf dry matter (Baker *et al.*, 1992; Prasad, 2005). Sander and Ericsson (1998) found that concentrations of Zn, Cu, Ni, and Cd in stems of Salix viminalis increased significantly with plant height, thought principally to be a consequence of increasing bark proportions.

A significantly higher Ni concentration in the leaves than in the stems and roots (leaves > stems > roots) has been reported in the Ni hyperaccumulator Berkheya coddii by using different methods (Mesjasz-Przybylowicz et al., 2001; Robinson et al., 2003; Budka et al., 2005; Moradi et al., 2010; Gramlicha et al., 2011), the highest concentrations were in the lower leaves and upper stems. In the stems of B. coddii, Ni concentrations were higher in the epidermis than in the cortex and the pith, and the vascular bundles occasionally showed higher Ni accumulation than cortex and pith (Budka et al., 2005; Gramlicha et al., 2011). Nickel concentrations in leaves of B. coddii, were lower in the inner collenchymas and the vascular bundles than in the upper epidermis. In the top leaves, the lower epidermis showed significantly lower concentrations than the upper epidermis (Gramlicha et al., 2011). The high concentrations were found in the midrib of B. coddii (Mesjasz-Przybylowicz et al., 2001; Gramlicha et al., 2011). In the roots of B. coddii, the lowest root Ni concentrations were observed in the stele (Moradi et al., 2010; Gramlicha et al., 2011). Nickel distribution patterns similar to this have been reported in the roots of other Ni hyperaccumulators (Gramlicha et al., 2011). In roots of Nihyperaccumulator plant S. coronatus Harv the concentrations of Ni decreased from the outer cortex toward the inner cortex (Mesjasz-Przybylowicz et al., 2007), and in Stackhousia tryonii F.M. Bailey plants higher Ni-concentrations were found in the vascular bundles than in the cortex and pith (Bhatia et al., 2004). High Ni-concentrations in epidermal tissues were observed in A. bertolonii Desv plants (Marmiroli et al., 2004). Nickel was found to be located within the epidermal cells or in the basal compartment or pedicle of the trichomes on the leaf surface in *A. lesbiacum, A. bertolonii, A. murale, L. emarginata,* and *T. gosingense* (Krämer et al., 1997; Psaras et al., 2000; Broadhurst et al., 2004). Additionally, Hasselgren (1999) determined that Cu, Pb, and Cr were mainly found in the stems, while Zn, Cd, and Ni were found mainly in the leaves of sludge-amended willow plots.

Nevertheless, different Ni distribution patterns were observed in other plant species. For example, Marques et al. (2009) reported that in Rubus ulmifolius, Ni was only distributed in the root. Berazain et al. (2007) found the highest Ni-concentrations in the cortex of the stems of six species of the Euphorbiaceae family. In an endemic serpentinic Proteaceae of New Caledonia Grevillea exul var. exul, Ni was highest in the roots, lower in stems with a higher accumulation in the basal part than in the upper one and, not detectable in leaves. Nickel was concentrated mostly in the phloem compared to the xylem and the epidermis, either in roots or stems and was mostly in the epidermis in the upper part of the stems (Rabier et al., 2007; 2008). S. acuminata (Sagner et al., 1998) and Q. ilex (Nabais et al., 1996) tree species accumulated Ni in the conducting tissues, while Ni is mainly localized in the leaf epidermis of herbaceous species (Broadhurst et al., 2004; Heath et al., 1997) or shrubs (Severne, 1974). Rabier et al. (2008) concluded that the difference of Ni localization in roots, stem, and leaves tended to reflect the existence of different tolerance strategies among herbaceous bushes and trees species for storage in senescing tissues rather than the simple distinction between excluders and accumulators.

Although extensive work has been performed on Ni-hyperaccumulator plants in trying to determine the principal sites of metal localization within plant tissues, no consistent picture of Ni distribution emerged. This might be caused by differences of plant species, as well as conditions of cultivation, and the developmental age of analyzed tissues (Grovenor et al., 2006; Smart et al., 2007; Bhattacharvya et al., 2008). In B. coddii, Ni is redistributed from older to younger leaves through phloem transport (Marschner, 1995; Page and Feller, 2005; Riesen and Feller, 2005). Moreover, in recent years, many methods have been used to analyze Ni distribution in hyperaccumulator plants, such as electron dispersive X-ray analysis (EDXA) (Robinson et al., 2003; Bidwell et al., 2004; Marmiroli et al., 2004; Berazain et al., 2007), quantitative micro-proton induced X-ray emission spectroscopy (µ-PIXE) (Mesjasz-Przybylowicz et al., 2001; Bhatia et al., 2004; Budka et al., 2005; Kachenko et al., 2008), high-resolution secondary ion mass spectroscopy (NanoSIMS) (Smart et al., 2007), synchrotron-based fluorescence computed microtomography (CMT) (McNear et al., 2005), dimethylglyoxime (DMG) (Mizuno et al., 2003; Seregin et al., 2003; Bhatia et al., 2004; Richau et al., 2009; Gramlicha et al., 2011), and inductively

coupled plasma-mass spectroscopy (ICP-MS) (Marques *et al.*, 2009). However, each method has its unique advantages and disadvantages such as the detection limit and the redistribution of Ni during sample pretreatment. For example, EDXA may respond differently to less soluble Ni fractions than DMG (Gramlicha *et al.*, 2011). Establishment of a uniform detection system with sensitive detection limits and preparation methods that do not modify the sample will be necessary for investigation of the spatial distribution and localization of Ni within plant tissues.

### 5.3.2. Sequestration and detoxification

Great efficiency in detoxification and sequestration is a key property of hyperaccumulators which allows them to concentrate huge amounts of heavy metals in above-ground organs without suffering any phytotoxic effect (Rascio and Navari-Izzo, 2011). A general mechanism for detoxification of heavy metals in plants is the distribution of metals to cellular locations where the metal will not damage the vital cellular processes such as photosynthesis, and chelation of the metals by ligands, followed by the sequestration of the metal-ligand complex from metabolically active cytoplasm into inactive subcellular compartments such as vacuoles and cell walls. The sequestered metal in shoot cells can be in the apoplast or in specialized cell types, such as epidermal cells (Heath et al., 1997; Bidwell et al., 2004; Ma et al., 2005; Asemaneh et al., 2006; Freeman, et al., 2006), mesophyll cells (Hale et al., 2001), trichomes (Küpper et al., 2000; 2001), and cuticle (Robinson et al., 2003). It was reported that, localization in epidermal cells is an important physiological mechanism involved in Ni accumulation and tolerance, in leaves of Ni hyperaccumulating shrub-Hybanthus floribundus (Kachenko et al., 2008). Nickel ions taken up by roots of H. floribundus are complexed by ligands (Kersten et al., 1980). Following complexation, Ni is compartmentalized within epidermal tissues as the preferential site of Ni accumulation with high concentrations in epidermal vacuoles (Bidwell et al., 2004).

Nickel accumulates primarily in the cell vacuoles of epidermal stem and leaf tissues and trichome basal compartments (Broadhurst *et al.*, 2004; McNear *et al.*, 2005; McNear *et al.*, 2010). At higher growth medium Ni concentrations, accumulation by palisade mesophyll cells becomes important probably due to overflow of the primary cellular storage compartments (Broadhurst *et al.*, 2004; McNear *et al.*, 2010). In many cases heavy metals are also excluded from both subsidiary and guard cells of stomata (Frey *et al.*, 2000; Broadhurst *et al.*, 2004; Cosio *et al.*, 2005). This may preserve the functional stomatal cells from metal phytotoxic effects (Rascio and Navari-Izzo, 2011). Cell walls may play an important role in detoxifying metals in plant cells of the Ni and Zn/Cd hyperaccumulating plant

species. About 60-70% of accumulated Ni and/or Zn are distributed in the apoplast cell walls (Krämer et al., 2000; Yang et al., 2005; Li et al., 2006). However, molecular basis of metal detoxification by cell walls is not well al., 2005). The precise understood (Yang et localization of hyperaccumulated metals and their possible binding with cell walls are still debated as the situation is complicated because different analytical techniques involve different preparation operations that may affect the status of metals (Montargès-Pelletier et al., 2008).

Invariably, in most of the Ni-hyperaccumulator plants, the typical Ni concentration distribution follow the order of Ni in shoots (leaves > stems) > roots; however storage in senescing root tissues might be a supplementary mechanism of Ni detoxification besides metal accumulations in shoots (Rabier et al., 2008). Even in the hyperaccumulator species Psychotria douarrei known for its high-Ni accumulation in leaf, a very high level of Ni (92,500 ppm) were observed in the bark of the root (Jaffré and Schmid, 1974; Rabier et al., 2008). The high amount of Ni in the roots and the poor translocation to the leaves in D. innoxia may be explained by a sequestration of Ni on the cation exchange sites of the xylem parenchyma vessel walls in roots and immobilization in the vacuoles of the root cells (Jean et al., 2008). Plant ability to tolerate heavy metals is probably due to the capacity of cell walls to bind metals (Seregin and Kozhevnikowa, 2006). Jean et al. (2008) stated that Ni could be fixed in the stems of D. innoxia because of the existence of equilibrium between metal, chelates and the metal binding sites in the cell wall of the xylem vessels.

### 5.3.2.1. Vacuolar sequestration

Vacuolar sequestration is considered to play an important role in plant metal homeostasis and plant detoxification from heavy metals (Martinoia *et al.*, 2007). The vacuole is generally considered the main storage site for metals in yeast and plant cells, and it has been shown that PC-metal complexes are pumped into the vacuole in plants (Salt *et al.*, 1995a,b) and in fission yeast (*Schizosaccharomyces pombe*) (Ortiz *et al.*, 1995) and in plants (Salt *et al.*, 1995a,b). Moreover, it is considered the vacuolar Ni storage in leaf cells is the main biochemical detoxification mechanism by the comparing Ni compartmentation between non-accumulating and hyperaccumulating species (Krämer *et al.*, 2000). Compartmentalization of metals in vacuoles is very effective in controlling the distribution and concentration of metal ions. Wu *et al.* (2010) stated that vacuole compartmentalization "arrest and imprisons" hazardous metal ions, constricting them into a limited site where other parts of the cell have no access to those toxic metal ions and safety is ensured.

Metal ions sequestration inside the vacuole involves active transport systems operating in the tonoplast. Transport of heavy metals across the tonoplast is energized directly by ATP hydrolysis such as primary active transporters that includes ABC-type proteins and P1B-ATPases or by the transmembrane pH gradient such as secondary active antiporters (Krämer *et al.*, 2007; Martinoia *et al.*, 2007). Tonoplast antiporters are responsible for compartmentalization of metals in the vacuoles and these have been identified and classified to the CDF, CAX and magnesium exchangers (Shaul *et al.*, 1999; Kobae *et al.*, 2004; Shigaki and Hirschi, 2006). The central vacuole is considered as the site of Ni sequestration. Some tonoplast efflux transporters are required to transport excess Ni present in the cytosol into the vacuole against their electrochemical gradient (Kabała and Janicka-Russak, 2011). Krämer *et al.* (2000) observed that by "imprisoning" most of the intracellular leaf Ni into vacuole, Ni tolerance of hyperaccumulator *T. goesingense* is greatly improved. In this plant, high expression of MTP1 tonoplast protein has been reported to confer tolerance to Ni as well as to Cd and Co (Persans *et al.*, 2001).

The presence of  $Ni^{2+}/H^+$  antiport system has been demonstrated in the tonoplast of hyperaccumulator species-*A. lesbiacum* (Ingle *et al.*, 2008). Moreover, it was reported that in the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* vacuolar accumulation of Ni is essential for Ni resistance (Ramsay and Gadd, 1997; Nishimura *et al.*, 1998; Yang *et al.*, 2005). Such vacuolar accumulation of Ni in yeast is driven by the pH gradient that exists across the vacuolar membrane (Nishimura *et al.*, 1998; Yang *et al.*, 2005). In roots of Ni sensitive oat seedlings, surprisingly, Ni-transport dependence upon the pH gradient was not confirmed (Gries and Wagner, 1998); however, only a minor accumulation of Ni could be detected in vacuoles isolated from leaves of Ni sensitive barley.

An electrochemical gradient across the tonoplast, required for metal accumulation, is generated by two proton pumps, vacuolar-proton transporting ATPase (V-ATPase) and Vacuolar H<sup>+</sup>-translocating pyrophosphatase (V-PPase) (Kabała and Janicka-Russak, 2011). These proton pumps seem to be an important element of the mechanisms involved in plant metal tolerance. V-ATPase and V-PPase generate an electrochemical proton gradient across the tonoplast, energize secondary transporters operating as H<sup>+</sup>-coupled carriers, including metal efflux transporters (Kabała and Janicka-Russak, 2011). Lower concentration of Ni stimulated V-PPase activities, but did not significantly change the action of V-ATPase, while, higher-metal concentration had visible inhibitory effect on the functioning of V-ATPase, especially on the ATP-driven proton transport across the tonoplast (Kabała and Janicka-Russak, 2011). In addition, treatment of plants with Ni stimulated the activity of PM H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase in shoots (Ros et al., 1990; 1992a; 1992b). Therefore, it was concluded that the effect of Ni on ATP and PPi-driven proton pumping in tonoplast vesicles depended on the metal concentration in the medium and correlated well with metal accumulation in the root tissues (Kabała and Janicka-Russak, 2011). An inhibitory effect on V-ATPase and V-PPase activities was observed when Ni was applied *in vitro* at high levels to *Cucumis sativus* roots (Kabała and Janicka-Russak, 2011). Comparable observations were made by Kennedy and Gonsalves (1989) and Ros *et al.* (1992b) for the plasma membrane ATPase with Ni. These results suggest that different mechanisms may be responsible for heavy metal action *in vivo* and *in vitro* roots (Kabała and Janicka-Russak, 2011).

### 5.3.2.2. Chelators

Wu et al. (2010) stated that heavy metal chelation (binding of metal ions by ligands) plays a crucial role not only in the accumulation and transportation of heavy metals, but also in the detoxification phase. Chelated metal ions are uncharged and inert to react with other substances, therefore cell damage by heavy metals is reduced significantly. Once metals are taken up into the cytosol, and in particular in vacuoles, metal ions can be chelated by different ligands such as organic acids (oxygen donor ligands), amino acids (oxvgen and nitrogen donor ligands), metallothioneins (MTs) (sulfur donor ligands), PCs (peptides, oxygen and nitrogen donor ligands), and other high molecular weight molecules (proteins, chaperones).

Small ligands, such as organic acids, may be instrumental in prevention and persistence of heavy metals as free ions in cytoplasm. These ligands enable entrapment of heavy metals in vacuoles where the metal-organic acid chelates are primarily located (Rascio and Navari-Izzo, 2011). In leaves of T. goesingense, for instance, citrate is the main ligand for entrapment of Ni (Krämer et al., 2000). Moreover, in H. floribundus, the majority of Ni (up to 95%) was bound to citrate in leaf tissue (Kersten et al., 1980). A correlation between Ni and citric acid concentrations in leaves has been demonstrated in a range of hyperaccumulating species (Lee et al., 1978). In the case of Ni hyperaccumulators-Phyllanthus serpentinus and P. douarrei, Ni-malate was shown to be the dominating chemical form of Ni within the plant cells (Kersten et al., 1980). It has been reported that in S. acuminata latex between 37% and 99% of the Ni is complexed by citric acid (Sagner et al., 1998; Schaumlöffel et al., 2003). Schaumlöffel et al. (2003) stated that as citrate does not bind Ni strongly (lgK = 5.4, where K is the association constant of the complex), the Ni ion may be transported to the laticifers in the form of its more stable complexes with NA (lgK = 16.1). Recently, a new Ni ligand, methylated aldaric acid (2, 4, 5-trihydroxy-3-methoxy-1, 6-hexan-dioic acid), was identified for the first time in biological extracts. After citric acid, methylated aldaric acid appears to be one of the most abundant small organic molecules present in the latex of the hyperaccumulating tree S. acuminata (Callahan et al., 2008). The transport and storage of Ni in several Alyssum species has been attributed to organic acids and

possibly His (McNear Jr. et al., 2010). Montargès-Pelletier et al. (2008) found that *L. emarginata, A. murale*, and *T. caerulescens* stored Ni in their leaves as Ni-malate and in the stems as Ni-citrate complexes, while His could not be detected either in leaves, stems nor roots of these three plants. McNear Jr. et al. (2010) suggested that Ni is concentrated in the dermal leaf and stem tissues of *A. murale* bound primarily to malate along with other low-molecular-weight organic acids (LMWOA) and possibly counter anions (e.g., sulfate). Nickel is present in the plant sap and vasculature bound to His, malate and other low molecular weight compounds. The data presented in the article by McNear et al. (2010) supports a model in which Ni is transported from the roots to the shoots complexed with His and stored within the plant leaf dermal tissues complexed with malate, and other low molecular weight organic acids or counter-ions.

In some plants, the Cys-rich peptide ligands MTs and PCs have been shown to play a role in metal tolerance when accumulated metals are at phytotoxic levels, but less so in metal tolerant plants (Schat et al., 2002). Ag (I), Cd (II), Co (II), Cu (II), Hg (II), and Ni (II) metals are sequestered by binding with organic sulfur (R-SH) on the Cys residues of these peptides (Eapen and D'Souza, 2005). Family of MTs genes in plants encoding peptides that are generally composed of 60-80 amino acids and contain 9-16 Cys residues and these MT genes can protect plants from toxic metal ions (Zhou and Goldsbrough, 1995; Chatthai et al., 1997). These MT-metal complexes can be glutathionated, suggesting that they may be transported into vacuoles for long-term sequestration (Brouwer et al., 1993; Eapen and D'Souza, 2005). PCs, composed of only three amino acids, glutamine (Glu), Cys and glycine (Gly), are used in algae and plants to detoxify excess cellular metal (Zenk, 1996). PCs complex with metals and facilitate their storage in vacuoles. PCs are rapidly induced in cells and tissues exposed to a range of heavy metal ions, such as Cd, Ni, Cu, Zn, Ag, Hg, and Pb, and anions, such as arsenate and selenite (Rauser, 1995; Yang et al., 2001). Nevertheless, their production in hyper-tolerant species is only inducible at extremely high exogenous metal concentration (Ebbs et al., 2002; Schat et al., 2002). Raab et al. (2004) and Schat et al. (2002) suspected that the heavy metal detoxification in hyperaccumulators, in contrast with tolerant non-hyperaccumulator plants, does not rely on these high molecular mass ligands. Antioxidation-related genes overexpression (Chiang et al., 2006), and enhanced synthesis of GSH are pivotal antioxidant molecules (van de Mortel et al., 2008), involved in a plethora of cellular processes in hyperaccumulators, including defense against ROS rise due to heavy metal stress (Foyer and Noctor, 2005; Mullineaux and Rausch, 2005), and sequestration and detoxification of heavy metals (Cobbett and Goldsbrough, 2002; Freeman et al., 2004). GSH has been detected virtually in all cell compartments such as cytosol, chloroplast, endoplasmic reticulum, vacuole, and mitochondria (Yadav, 2010). GSH represents one of the major sources of non-protein thiols in most plant cells. In plants, during degradation of  $H_2O_2$ , change in the ratio of its reduced (GSH) to oxidized (GSSG) form is important in certain redox signaling pathways (Millar *et al.*, 2003). Reduced GSH acts as an antioxidant and is involved directly in the reduction of most ROS generated during stress (Millar *et al.*, 2003; Foyer and Noctor, 2005; Shao *et al.*, 2008).

Transgenic plants exhibit greater heavy metal tolerance and accumulation of heavy metals in shoot mainly due to their enhanced chelation capacities by overexpressed enzymes involved in the biosynthesis of GSH, which is the precursor for PCs synthesis (Zhu et al., 1999; Bennett et al., 2003; Gisbert et al., 2003; Tong et al., 2004). MTs and PCs consist of amino acids and bind metals in thiolate complexes and thus demand a greater input of amino acids (especially Cys), sulfur and nitrogen from the plant as the level of accumulated metals rises (Tong et al., 2004). Bonner et al. (2005) and Eapen and D'Souza (2005) stated that the gene, O-acetyl-L-serine (thiol) lyase (OAS-TL, At3g22460), forms a carbon skeleton for Cvs biosynthesis, producing an amino acid which is a fundamental constituent of all metal chelators: MTs, PCs, GSH, and NA. Kawashima et al. (2004) stated that tobacco plants with altered levels of this protein in the cytosol and/or chloroplasts showed enhanced tolerance to Cd, Se, and Ni. Kawashima et al. (2004) reported markedly improved Ni tolerance (on medium with 500  $\mu$ M Ni<sup>2+</sup>, with 1.3 times higher biomass and 4.2 times longer roots) in Nicotiana tabacum overproducing OAS-TL from spinach Spinacia oleracea. Yadav (2010) stated that the concentrations of GSH, Cys, and OAS in shoot tissue are closely related to the ability to hyperaccumulate Ni in various Thlaspi hyperaccumulators collected from serpentine soils. Examples of such hyperaccumulators reported are T. goesingense, Thlaspi oxyceras, and Thlaspi rosulare, and non-accumulator relatives Thlaspi perfoliatum, T. arvense, and A. thaliana (Krämer et al., 1997; Wenzel and Jockwer, 1999; Reeves and Baker, 2000; Guerinot and Salt, 2001; Peer et al., 2003; Freeman et al., 2004). High concentrations of OAS, Cys, and GSH in Austrian Ni hyperaccumulator T. goesingense coincide with high activity of both serine acetyltransferase (SAT) and GSH reductase (GR) enzymes. SAT catalyzes the acetylation of L-Ser to produce OAS. These changes in Cys and GSH metabolism are consistent with the ability of T. goesingense to hyperaccumulate Ni and resistance to oxidative stress (Peer et al., 2003; Freeman et al., 2004; Yadav, 2010).

For instance, in *T. goesigense*, the natural overproduction of GSH is considered a trait sustaining tolerance to oxidative stress caused by Cd and Ni (Boominathan and Doran, 2003a; Freeman and Salt, 2007). Besides,

overproduction of mitochondrial SAT encoded by TgSAT of *T. goesingense* promoted an accumulation of GSH in leaves of *A. thaliana*, providing increased resistance to Ni-induced growth inhibition and oxidative stress (Freeman and Salt, 2007). In addition, salicylic acid (SA) metabolites such as phenylalanine, cinnamic acid, salicyloyl-glucose, and catechol were also elevated in the hyperaccumulator *T. goesingense*, as compared to the non-accumulators *A. thaliana* and *T. arvense* (Freeman *et al.*, 2005a). Elevation in free SA levels of Arabidopsis, either through genetic modification or by exogenous feeding enhanced the specific activity of SAT. The increase in SAT activity raised GSH content and enhanced Ni resistance (Yadav, 2010).

The NA concentration can be increased by the overexpression of NA synthase (*NAS*) genes. For example, enhanced accumulation of Zn, Fe, Cu, Ni, and Mn in shoots of tobacco and the level of its tolerance to metals is induced by the transferred *NAS1* from *Hordeum vulgare* to tobacco (Takahashi *et al.*, 2003).

### 5.3.2.3. Proteins

Rascio and Navari-Izzo (2011) stated that the sequestration trait in plants relies, at least in part, on constitutive overexpression of genes that, in this case, encode proteins operating in heavy metal transfer across the tonoplast and/or plasma membrane and involved in excluding them from cytoplasm CDFs (MTPs), which mediate bivalent cation efflux from the cytosol, are important candidates for this process (Rascio and Navari-Izzo, 2011). Phylogenetic reconstruction has classified the majority of CDF family members into three groups, each containing characteristic members that share the same specificity toward the principally transported metal, i.e., Zn, Fe/Zn or Mn (Montanini et al., 2007). MTP1, belonging to the Group I members of CDF family-Zn-CDFs, a gene encoding a protein localized at tonoplast, is highly overexpressed in the leaves of Zn/Ni hyperaccumulator plants (Dräger et al., 2004; Kim et al., 2004; Hammond et al., 2006; Gustin et al., 2009). Contrary to previous reports indicating plasma membrane localization (Kim et al., 2004), Gustin et al. (2009) observed that TgMTP1 from T. goesingense localizes to the vacuolar membrane. TgMTP1 also was shown to be able to confer Ni, Cd, and Co tolerance when overexpressed in yeast (Persans et al., 2001; Bloss et al., 2002). As mentioned in the Section 5.3.2.1., high level expression of a vacuolar metal ion transporter TgMTP1 in T. goesingense was proposed to account for the enhanced ability to accumulate metal ions within shoot vacuoles (Persans et al., 2001). Besides, RmCzcD from Cupriavidus metallidurans, belonging also to Zn-CDFs, is able to bind Zn, Co, Cu, and Ni (Anton et al., 2004) and to alleviate Zn, Co, and Cd toxicity when overexpressed in bacteria (Anton et al., 1999). In addition, WmFieF, belonging to the Group II members of CDF family—Fe/Zn-CDFs from *C. metallidurans*, is mainly involved in Fe detoxification; it also mediates resistance against other divalent metals such as Zn, Co, Cd, and Ni, as shown by overexpression in *Escherichia coli* or in *C. metallidurans* metal sensitive mutants (Munkelt *et al.*, 2004).

NRAMP3 has been isolated from *T. caerulescens* (Oomen *et al.*, 2009; Wei *et al.*, 2009b) and its expression in roots is induced by Fe starvation and by the presence of Cd and Ni. In yeast, overexpression of TcNRAMP3 increased Cd content, enhanced Ni resistance, and reduced Ni accumulation, emphasizing the role of TcNRAMP3 in metal cations homeostasis rather than in metals accumulation (Wei *et al.*, 2009b; Maestri *et al.*, 2010).

Schulz and Kolukisaoglu (2006) reported the involvement of ABC transporters in a vast number of metabolic pathways and physiological processes, including hormone transport, plasma membrane channel regulation, and ion homeostasis. ABC transporters have been categorized based on structural similarities, in several subfamilies, however only two of these subfamilies, such as MRP and AMT/HTM, contain proteins involved in metal transport (Martinoia et al., 2002). These contain two cytosolic, two large transmembrane regions and N-terminal extensions (Bovet et al., 2003), and probably have a multifunctional role in plant homeostasis (Schulz and Kolukisaoglu, 2006; Zientara et al., 2009). GUS has been used as a reporter to monitor the activity of the promoter of the AtMRP3 gene from A. thaliana, and then, the AtMRP3 promoter-GUS fusion expression cassette was introduced into the genome of two model plants, A. thaliana and N. tabacum (Zientara et al., 2009). The results showed that this promoter can be used for driving the specific expression of genes involved in As, Cd, Ni, Co, or Pb metal phytoremediation, or for monitoring the presence of bioavailable As, Cd, Ni, Co, and Pb in the soil using transgenic reporter plants (Zientara et al., 2009).

In *N. tabacum*, the plasma membrane localizes NtCBP4 (calmodulin binding protein) which is structurally similar to vertebrate and invertebrate  $K^+$  and to nonselective cation channels (Arazi *et al.*, 1999). Overproduction of NtCBP4 in *N. tabaccum* exhibited increased uptake and translocation of Pb to shoots, reflected in the higher sensitivity of transgenes compared to controls (Arazi *et al.*, 1999). In contrast, hydroponically (by 70% longer roots on medium with 100  $\mu$ M Ni<sup>2+</sup>) grown *N. tabaccum* overexpression of NtCBP4 restricted the accumulation of Ni (shoot uptake of Ni reduced by 60% in plant grown in medium with 200  $\mu$ M Ni<sup>2+</sup>), thereby enhancing tolerance to elevated Ni concentrations (Bizily *et al.*, 1999).

Nickel and Co are ubiquitous and are often co-localized in natural environments (Gikas, 2008). When present in excess concentrations, both Ni and Co are expelled out of the bacterial cell to ensure detoxification (Blaha *et al.*, 2011). RcnA has been reported as an efflux pump responsible for Ni and Co detoxification in *E. coli*. RcnA confers resistance to Ni and Co, and its expression is induced by these two metals and not by other divalent cations (Rodrigue *et al.*, 2005; Blaha *et al.*, 2011). Overexpression of MTs and GSH S-transferase fusion protein (GSM-MT) as well as nixA gene exhibits very high affinity for Ni in *E.* coli JM109 (Deng *et al.*, 2003).

## 6. PHYTOREMEDIATION

## 6.1. Phytoextraction and Phytomining

Although there are many contaminated and/or Ni-rich soils in the world, unfortunately, modern mining technology cannot be economically applied to this ore, since a content of at least 30 g kg<sup>-1</sup> Ni is required to proceed, which is never the case in the soils even if ultramafic rocks are present (Ni concentrations are between 1 and 7 g kg<sup>-1</sup> of rock) (Li *et al.*, 2003b). Phytoremediation is emerging as a cost-effective method for *in situ* removal of the pollutants from matrices, and phytoextraction using hyperaccumulator plants is proving to be one of the most effective phytoremediation methods to clean up metal contaminated sites (Robinson *et al.*, 1999b; Nedelkoska and Doran, 2000; Chaney *et al.*, 2007).

The "bio-ore" produced by phytomining is much richer in Ni than the naturally occurring common Ni ores (Brooks *et al.*, 1998; Chaney *et al.*, 1998). The post-treatment methods of Ni hyperaccumulators include incineration followed by conventional smelting processes (Belevi and Moench, 2000; Keller *et al.*, 2005). Such metal recovery method is a more environmentally friendly approach than metal extraction through chemical leaching (Barbaroux *et al.*, 2009) and pyrolysis method (Koppolu and Clements, 2003; Boominathan *et al.*, 2004). There are evidences for extraction of high purity Ni from Ni-contaminated Alyssum biomass (Bani *et al.*, 2008; Chaney *et al.*, 2008). Additionally, recycling in metallurgy and using as Ni fertilizer to correct Ni deficiency in crops are both commercially viable options for the Ni recovered from the Ni-accumulated plant biomass (Mench *et al.*, 2010).

The hyperaccumulator plants for metal mining from sub-economic ore bodies have been reported previously. For instance, 1600 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> Ni was measured in dried leaves of *H. floribundus*, grown in a Australian soil with Ni content of 700 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> soil (Severne and Brooks, 1972) and excess of one percent Ni concentration was reported in *H. floribundus* (Cole, 1973).

The US Bureau of Mines conducted a Ni phytoremediation field study in 1995 at Reno, Nevada on serpentine soil containing Ni concentration of 3340 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> and used naturally occurring strain of *S. polygaloides*, a Nihyperaccumulating member of the *Brassicaceae* family endemic to serpentine soils of California (Reeves *et al.*, 1981). At harvest the shoot Ni concentration of *S. polygaloides* averaged 5300 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, with a biomass yield of 4.8 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> (Nicks and Chambers, 1995). From this study it was concluded a net return of \$300–500 ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> could be achieved assuming a Ni price of \$7.65 kg<sup>-1</sup>, and a quarter of the energy of biomass combustion could be turned into electricity.

In Italy, Robinson *et al.* (1997a) used *A. bertolonii* as hyper Ni accumulator and were able to remove 72 kg Ni ha<sup>-1</sup>, which was worth \$539.00. Brooks *et al.* (1999) reported that *B. coddii* is an excellent plant to use as hyperaccumulator for phytomining of Ni since it is perennial, has a high biomass, and tolerates severe climatic conditions such as frost and cool weather. With adequate fertilizer and soil moisture it is known to remove 100 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> of Ni (Anderson *et al.*, 1999). Li *et al.* (2003b) reported that selected parental lines of *A. murale* and *Alyssum corsicum* had shoot Ni concentration as high as 22,000 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> and biomass as high as 20,000 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>.

However, Bennett *et al.* (1998) pointed out that phytoremediation and phytomining techniques are still in their infancy and will need to be proven over several years before there is complete scientific and commercial acceptance of their values. Although many Ni-hyperaccumulating species have been described, their remediation potential is greatly limited due to their low biomass and slow growth. Li *et al.* (2003b) concluded that in developing plants suitable for commercial phytoremediation, should take into account (1) identifying or creating ideal phytoextraction plants, (2) optimizing soil and crop management practices, and (3) developing methods for biomass processing and Ni extraction.

### 6.2. Optimizing Soil Management Practices

The solubility and availability of metals for plants may be affected by several soil factors such as pH, proportion of nutrient elements, soil organic matter content (SOM), cation exchange capacity (CEC), clay content, carbon exchange capacity, redox potential, and moisture, which determine the different uptake by different plant species and at different locations. Recently, Li *et al.* (2011) developed the quantitative relationships between Ni toxicity and Chinese soil properties (regression models between toxicity thresholds and soil pH, soil organic carbon content, and effective cation exchange capacity). These models showed good agreement with those developed previously by Rooney *et al.* (2007) for European soils ( $R^2 = 0.87$ ), which are helpful to develop soil-specific guidance on Ni toxicity thresholds for China and Europe where majority of Ni-contaminated sites currently exist.

### 6.2.1. pH

Of the soil factors, pH is one of the most important parameters affecting absorption of metals by plants. Soil amendments have been used widely to alter the pH of the soil (Kukier and Chaney, 2001). In most cases, increasing soil pH results in a decrease of Ni concentrations in various plant species. Studies have shown that as Ni-contaminated soils are limed, or made calcareous, Ni uptake by various crops is significantly reduced (Crooke, 1956; Frank et al., 1982; Bisessar, 1989; Cao et al., 1993; Hooda and Alloway, 1996; Kukier and Chaney, 2001; Everhart et al., 2006). A combination of lime stabilization to pH of 6 and the use of Agropyron as a revegetation species should provide a means to remediate and restore acidic soil contaminated with Ni up to a concentration of  $100 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$  (Chen and Wong, 2006). Robinson et al. (1999a) reported the effect of MgCO<sub>3</sub>, CaCO<sub>3</sub>, and sulfur application on Ni and Co uptake by B. coddii. MgCO3 increased soil pH from 6.9 to 8.7, resulting in a significant (P < 0.05) decrease in plant uptake of both Ni and Co. Sulfur application caused a decrease in soil pH from 6.9 to 5.5, hence increasing the plant uptake of both metals. Increasing soil pH was effective in ameliorating Ni phytotoxicity by converting soluble Ni into forms that are not available to the plants (Scheckel and Sparks, 2001; Sheoran et al., 2009).

Management of soil pH and use of Alyssum spp. may facilitate the remediation of Ni-contaminated soils (Siebielec et al., 2007). Nevertheless, Li (2003a)raised verv important question et al. а regarding plant-soil-metal interactions: how much soil pH affects uptake of Ni and other metals by hyperaccumulator plants? They carried out both a greenhouse and a field experiment using the Ni hyperaccumulator species A. murale and A. corsicum. For the greenhouse experiment, Welland loam soil (Orthic Humic Gleysol) pH was adjusted using nitric acid and CaCO<sub>3</sub> to provide a range of pH before planting. For the field study, both Welland loam soil (Orthic Humic Glevsol) and Quarry muck soil (Terric Mesisol) pH was increased by limestone addition. The pH range of Welland loam soil was from 4.97 to 5.46, and the pH range of Quarry muck soil was from 5.4 to 6.32. An unexpected result of both experiments was that Ni uptake by these Alyssum species was reduced at lower soil pH and increased at higher soil pH (Li et al., 2003a). Besides, Kukier et al. (2004) also carried out an experiment using A. murale and A. corsicum grown in Quarry muck (Terric Haplohemist) and Welland (Typic Epiaquoll) soils contaminated by a Ni refinery in Port Colborne, Ontario, Canada, and in the serpentine Brockman soil from Oregon, USA. Soils were acidified and limed to cover pH from strongly acidic to mildly alkaline. Alyssum grown in both industrially contaminated soils exhibited increased Ni concentration in shoots as soil pH increased despite a decrease in water-soluble soil Ni. A small decrease in Alyssum
shoot Ni concentration as soil pH increased was observed in the serpentine soil. Maximum Ni phytoextraction was achieved at pH 7.3, 7.7, and 6.4 in the Quarry, Welland, and Brockman soils, respectively. The differences in uptake pattern of Ni by Alyssum from different soils and pH were probably related to the differences in organic matter and iron contents of the soils. Moreover, Everhart et al. (2006) reported that the phytoextraction capability of A. murale increased as soil pH increased, which was not the case for Alyssum sativa. Further, Everhart et al. (2006) pointed out that the Ni specific bacterial biosensor was successful in predicting Ni bioavailability in the soils and suggested that higher Ni bioavailabilities occur in the soils at pH values of 5.1 and 6. These results are opposite to the response seen in crop plants and to the pattern of accumulation of other divalent metals (e.g., Mn and Zn) by these Ni-hyperaccumulator species. Li et al. (2003a) stated that further research is needed to elucidate the mechanisms responsible for the unusual pattern of Ni accumulation by Alyssum shoots in response to varying soil pH and other soil chemical properties that may influence Ni availability and growth of the hyperaccumulators.

### 6.2.2. Fertilizers

Serpentine soils are characterized by a pH of 6-8, low Ca and high Mg, and low levels of N, P, and K. The severely deficient levels of N, P, K, and Ca lead to most serpentine soils inhospitable to normal terrestrial plants (Nicks and Chambers, 1995; 1998). Addition of fertilizers such as N, P, K, and moderate amounts of Ca to soil, may not only support the growth of plants, but will also decrease the soil pH, hence increasing the metal bioavailability. Experiment with Ni hyperaccumulators grown in Ni-rich soil in Pojska, Albania, showed that shoot Ni concentrations ranging from 0.13% Ni in Thlaspi ochroleucum to 1.33% Ni in A. murale (Bani et al., 2008). Fertilization of native A. murale with NPK promoted shoot biomass yields without affecting Ni concentration in shoot, resulting in increased Ni removal (Bani et al., 2008). In fertilized and herbicide (antimonocots)-treated plots the biomass yield progressively improved from 2.6 to 6.0 t  $ha^{-1}$ , and Ni removal increased from 22.6 to 69 kg  $ha^{-1}$ (Bani et al., 2007; 2008). Kidd and Monterroso (2005) identified that increased uptake of Cr and Ni by A. serpyllifolium can be achieved by increasing plant biomass via liming and fertilization with N, P, and K. Naturally occurring populations of A. bertolonii in Italy were evaluated by Robinson et al. (1997b) for Ni accumulation. With the addition of fertilizers, the maximum annual biomass was approximately 300% of the control without reducing shoot Ni concentration. In another study similar trends were observed for B. coddii where addition of N increased Ni content from 2500 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> to 4200 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> in leaves (Robinson et al., 1997a). Robinson et al. (1999a) further indicated that uptake of Co

and Ni by *B. coddii* was enhanced by sulfur fertilizer in a serpentine-spoil in New Zealand.

Higher levels of N-fertilization increased accumulations of Ni, Cd, and Zn along with biomass yield (Keller *et al.*, 2003, 2005; Keller and Hammer, 2004; Chaney *et al.*, 2008). Similarly, addition of ammonium sulfate to a soil doubled the concentrations of Zn and Ni in willow without affecting plant yield. Bennett *et al.* (1998) reported that N-fertilization increased the biomass of three hyperaccumulator species, *A. bertolonii*, *S. polygaloides* and *T. caerulescens*. In this study, *Alyssum* and *Thlaspi* had a slight reduction in Ni and Zn concentration when biomass of each plant was increased using an N fertilizer of 100 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>. All of these studies indicate that management of soil fertility is vital for the development of successful commercial phytoextraction technology (Li *et al.*, 2003b; Sheoran *et al.*, 2009).

Moreover, studies showed that nutrient enrichment could influence both metal uptake and its distribution in the subcellular structures and macromolecular components of the phytoplankton. Nitrate addition enhanced the uptake of Ni by Prorocentrum donghaiense, whereas phosphate addition inhibited Ni uptake at high-Ni concentration. In addition, although the effects of nitrate concentration on Ni uptake were significant, they seemed relatively small in comparison with the effect of urea on Ni uptake under high-Ni treatment (Hong et al., 2009). Nitrate or phosphate addition significantly affected Ni distribution in the subcellular structures and components. The majority of Ni was found in the soluble substances (>70%) and in the proteins (55.0-79.6%) of the algal cells. With an increase in nitrate concentration, the Ni content in the cell wall and soluble substances tended to decrease, but that in the organelles showed a tendency to increase. However, the increase of phosphate level increased the Ni content in the cell wall and soluble substances, while showing insignificant impact in the organelles (Hong et al., 2009). Thus, the increasing nitrate concentration might cause the algal cells to suffer more from metal toxicity, but phosphate addition could show a protecting effect, since metal internalization in the cell wall could act on the protective mechanism and the organelle is usually sensitive to metal attack (Neumann et al., 1995; Zenk, 1996; Hall, 2002; Hong et al., 2009). Urea reduced Ni content in the amino acid-carbohydrate but elevated its content in proteins, and showed significant correlation with the protein content of the algal cells (Hong et al., 2009).

## 6.2.3. Cation exchange capacity

Cations, such as  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $H^+$ , can influence Ni uptake and toxicity. A higher cation exchange capacity (CEC) could lead to more metal ions on the exchangeable sites. As discussed in Section 6.2.1., pH is an important soil property modulating the availability of Ni. Rooney *et al.* (2007) showed that exchangeable Ca concentration in soils is the best

predictor of the variation of toxicity threshold values (EC50 and EC10) of Ni for barley and tomato. Studies showed that Ca, H, and Ni competed for root binding sites of pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) with high pH and low Ca favoring more Ni accumulation (Wu *et al.*, 2010). At low pH, Ca accumulation is the key factor determining root growth of pea; while at medium to high pH, root elongation is more sensitive to Ni concentration (Wu *et al.*, 2010). Additionally, in hydroponic experiments, Weng *et al.* (2003) observed that increased pH led to increased Ni in oat roots.

### 6.2.4. Soil organic matter

Soil organic matter (SOM) can also have a significant impact on metal sequestration thus reducing the solubility of Ni by forming complexes with organic functional groups (Nachtegaal and Sparks, 2003). Soil organic matter strengthens soil buffering capacity, providing resistance against severe chemical changes. The ability of SOM to form complexes with metals depends on its high content of functional groups (carboxyl COOH, phenolic-OH, etc.) with COOH playing a predominant role in metal binding (Stevenson, 1994).

Soil organic matter plays an important role in ecosystem functioning, by improving physical and chemical properties of the soil and/or by buffering nutrient supply (Viventsova *et al.*, 2005). Cation exchange capacity of the soil is highly associated with clay minerals and SOM content of soil, and in sandy soils the CEC is rather low and predominantly controlled by the level of SOM (Smith *et al.*, 1993). Therefore, levels of exchangeable nutrient elements are generally higher in soils with a larger amount of SOM, since most nutrient elements are related to SOM, the maintenance of the SOM pool will ensure favorable nutrient conditions for ecosystem restoration.

In aquatic systems, dissolved organic matter (DOM) is known to reduce the bioavailability of Ni. Moreover, it was suggested that the concentration of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) plays a greater role than either DOC source or fraction in determining Ni speciation and subsequently the bioavailability and toxicity to *Hyalella azteca*, a common freshwater benthic invertebrate (Doig and Liber, 2006).

### 6.2.5. Soil moisture

Soil extractable Ni often decreased with increasing moisture content and in waterlogged soils, solubility of Ni is reduced considerably due to low redox potentials (Rieuwerts *et al.*, 1998) and formation of sparingly soluble sulfides (Marschner, 1995). Angle *et al.* (2003) stated that plant growth, exclusive of metal availability might be affected when hyperaccumulators are grown in high moisture soils. Overall, soil water plays a greater role in the amount of available Ni.

Angle *et al.* (2003) reported that extractable Ni in soil decreased with increasing soil water holding capacity (WHC) from 30 to 100%. Biomass of Ni hyperaccumulators (*A. murale* and *B. coddii*) and the Zn hyperaccumulators (*T. caerulescens*) was reduced at low soil moisture. Plants accumulated large amounts of metals from soil at higher soil moisture. Highest foliar concentrations of Zn or Ni were found at the two highest WHCs of 80 and 100%. In this study hyperaccumulators grow well under conditions of high soil moisture content and that they continued to hyperaccumulate metals.

## 6.2.6. Vegetation

The effect of other vegetation on the bioavailability of metals is uncertain. Pulford *et al.* (2002) showed that EDTA extractable Cd, Cu, Ni, and Zn in sewage sludge treated soil were higher under willow than in unplanted areas. On the other hand, Watson (2002) found evidence for depletion of extractable metals under the willow tree, as compared to concentrations in adjacent unplanted areas. Assessment of Ni bioavailability in smelter-contaminated soils of Port Colborne (Canada) indicated that large surface area of trees impact aerial deposits and elevated levels of Ni. The Ni level in the soil from a forest downwind of the refinery was approximately 22,000 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>. However, field plots next to this forest-covered soil had approximately 5000 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> of Ni (Everhart *et al.*, 2006).

## 6.2.7. Exogenous chelates

Exogenous chelates in soil have shown high effectiveness in enhancing phytoextraction of metals. Various reported chelates for Ni phytoextraction are the synthetic chelates such as EDTA (ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid), DTPA (diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid), HEDTA (N-(2-hydroxye-thy1)-ethylenediaminetetraacetic), NTA (nitrolenetriacetic acid), EDDS (ethylenediaminedisuccinic acid), and naturally occurring low-molecular-weight organic acids such as citric acid, His, gallic acid, and oxalic acid. Such substances are capable of forming complexes with metal ions, thereby modifying the bioavailability of heavy metals in soils.

Dramatic increases in the accumulation of Pb, Cd, Ni, Cu, and Zn in *B. juncea* in the presence of added EDTA and other synthetic chelants [DTPA, citric acid and CDTA (Trans-1, 2-cyclohexanediaminetetraacetic acid)] were reported by Blaylock *et al.* (1997). Soil applied EDTA is probably the most efficient chelate for increasing the concentrations of various metals in above-ground plant tissues (Cunningham and Ow, 1996; Blaylock *et al.*, 1997; Huang *et al.*, 1997; Vassil *et al.*, 1998). Its high efficiency relies on the strong chelating ability and also solubilization of poorly available metals in soils, followed by a largely passive accumulation of metal complexes in plant shoots through the transpiration stream (Blaylock, 2000; Sarret *et al.*,

2001). Chen and Cutright (2001) found that Ni was considerably mobilized and taken up by *H. annuus*, with increasing concentration of HEDTA (droxyethylethylenediaminetriacetic acid) (FeHEDTA) and EDTA. In particular, EDTA at a rate of 0.5 g kg<sup>-1</sup> significantly increased the shoot concentrations of Ni from 15 to 117 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>.

Metal uptake by H. vulgare and H. annuus in old animal waste storage lagoons, enriched with heavy metals, with and without the application of EDTA (0.5 g EDTA kg<sup>-1</sup> soil) was investigated by Madrid and Kirkham (2002). The addition of EDTA did not increase heavy metal uptake by H. annuus, yet it induced higher Cu, Pb, and Ni accumulation in H. vulgare without reduction in biomass productivity. Meers et al. (2005b) repotted enhanced uptake of heavy metals (Cd, Cu, Ni, Pb and Zn) by H. annuus without a decrease in biomass productivity when EDTA (1, 3, and 5 mmol  $kg^{-1}$  soil) was applied shortly before harvest. Liphadzi and Kirkham (2006) showed that 1.0 g EDTA kg<sup>-1</sup> applied to composted biosolids reduced Ni in the leaves and stems of H. annuus. However, when the applied EDTA levels increased to  $2.0 \text{ g kg}^{-1}$ compost, the concentrations of Ni in the roots increased to levels greater than the concentrations known to be toxic to plants  $(10 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$ (Liphadzi and Kirkham, 2006). Therefore, in general, Ni in the composted biosolids tended to accumulate more in the leaves at low EDTA application rates of  $1.0 \text{ g kg}^{-1}$  compost or without EDTA. Additionally, it was reported that with the addition of 30 mmol  $kg^{-1}$ EDTA, the concentration of Ni in turfgrass Lolium perenne L. was increased 20 fold, as compared with the control (Duo et al., 2005). The mobilization of Cr and Ni from an industrial soil was investigated using citric acid, His and EDTA. In this study, EDTA was the most effective for Ni mobilization, and a concentration of  $0.05 \text{ mol } L^{-1}$  EDTA allowed a good compromise between metal mobilization and preservation of the soil mineral integrity (Jean et al., 2007). Besides, EDTA and citric acid were tested by Jean et al. (2008) to solubilize metals and to enhance their uptake by D. innoxia, the results showed that both the chelates increased the uptake of Ni, while EDTA was the most effective. For applications of 1 mmol  $kg^{-1}$  EDTA, the translocation factor (TF) of Ni was 6.7-fold higher than the control. However, when B. coddii was grown in substrates treated with 10 g kg<sup>-1</sup> citric acid, 20 g kg<sup>-1</sup> citric acid, 4 g kg<sup>-1</sup> EDTA, or 10 g kg<sup>-1</sup> citric acid and 4 g kg<sup>-1</sup> EDTA, Robinson *et al.* (1997a) observed a decrease in shoot Ni concentration despite an increase in the concentration of soluble Ni in the rhizosphere. This loss was attributed to the competition with plant's own Ni-binding agents, thereby diffusing Ni downwards to the plant root system. Similar results were obtained in *B. coddii* by 0.5, 1, 2, and 4 g kg<sup>-1</sup> NTA or DTPA for Ni but Co uptake was unaffected (Robinson et al., 1999a).

Some synthetic chelating agents such as EDTA even allow plants, which are not considered as hyperaccumulators, to be usable for phytoremediation purposes, because chelates induce plants to take up more heavy metals than they normally accumulate (Liphadzi *et al.*, 2003). However, the slow degradation rate and long persistence of EDTA in soil can lead to uncontrolled leaching of metals, which may result in potential risks of surface and ground water pollution (Quartacci *et al.*, 2006). Uncontrolled use of EDTA creats limit for phytoextraction under field conditions (Lombi *et al.*, 2001; Wu *et al.*, 2004; Meers *et al.*, 2005a). Consequently, Evangelou *et al.* (2004) suggested using a combination of biodegradable chelators and a plant with a high biomass and adequate metal tolerance to increase phytoextraction efficiency.

Biodegradable chelate alternatives to EDTA such as EDDS and NTA, as well as the widespread natural sources-LMWOA (e.g., citric acid, His, gallic acid, oxalic acid) in greater public acceptance of phytoextraction technology since they are easily biodegraded and more environmentally compatible than synthetic chelators (Wu *et al.*, 2004; Meers *et al.*, 2005a; Quartacci *et al.*, 2005; Nowack *et al.*, 2006). However, NTA proved to be unsuccessful in enhancing plant uptake of heavy metals (Cd, Cu, Ni, Pb, and Zn) from a moderately contaminated calcareous soil by *Z. mays* (2 mmol kg<sup>-1</sup> soil) (Meers *et al.*, 2004) or *H. annuus* (3.56 mmol kg<sup>-1</sup> dry weight dredged sediment) (Meers *et al.*, 2005a).

Meers *et al.* (2005a) repoted that uptake of Cu, Zn, and Ni by *H. annuus* was higher in dredged sediment treated with EDDS than EDTA. Similar results have been reported for four different agronomic crops (*Brassica rapa, Cannabis sativa, H. annuus, and Z. mays*), cultivated on calcareous soils. EDDS induced more uptake of Cu and Ni than EDTA, while for uptake of Cd and Pb it was the other way around and Zn-uptake were similar between chelates (Meers *et al., 2005b*). In woody species such as *Salix sp.,* EDDS enhanced the uptake of Cu and Ni (Meers *et al., 2007*).

Turgut *et al.* (2004) found that Ni uptake in the leaves of *H. annuus* was 4.3-fold higher when treated with 3.0 g kg<sup>-1</sup> citric acid, compared to 1.0 g kg<sup>-1</sup> citric acid. Tatar *et al.* (1999) suggested that citric acid could be involved in Ni transport within cucumber plants. Singer *et al.* (2007) stated that exogenous His of 11.5 mmol kg<sup>-1</sup> soil did not increase Ni phytoextraction, yet they did observe that the His-extractable fraction of soil Ni showed a high correlation with phytoextractable Ni. Moreover, do Nascimento *et al.* (2006) compared the performance of synthetic chelates (EDTA and DTPA) with LMWOA (citric acid and gallic acid) in enhancing phytoextraction of metals by *B. juncea* from multi-metal (Cd, Zn, Cu, and Ni) contaminated soils. They demonstrated the net removal of these metals caused by 10 mmol kg<sup>-1</sup> citric acid or gallic acid can be as much as synthetic chelates at the same dose, without increasing

the risk of leaching for these metals. Such findings demonstrated that LMWOA can be as efficient as synthetic chelates for use in phytoextraction technology. A major reason for this is the lower phytotoxicity of LMWOA, especially gallic acid, to Indian mustard compared to EDTA. In addition, Hsiao *et al.* (2007) found that levels of Cr and Ni in the soil solutions, and the concentration and total uptake of Ni in shoots of *B. juncea* treated with LMWOAs (oxalic acid and citric acid) were lower than those treated with EDTA and DTPA. The difference in Ni hyperaccumulation between synthetic chelators and LMWOAs agreed with findings obtained by Wu *et al.* (2004) and Quartacci *et al.* (2005). But, the reduction of plant shoot biomass caused by the two synthetic chelators exceeds that caused by the LMWOAs. The low plant biomass did not assist phytoextraction by using EDTA and DTPA. Therefore, adding LMWOAs during phytoremediation can provide an environmentally compatible alternative, which may decrease the use of synthetic chelators.

It has been widely reported that the addition of exogenous chelators to growth medium has a significantly adverse effect on plant growth (Grčman et al., 2001; Lai and Chen, 2005; Quartacci et al., 2006). Tobacco (N. tabacum) showed toxic symptoms such as lower dry weight and chlorosis in growth medium applied with higher concentrations of LMWOA chelates. Evangelou et al. (2006) have reported significant toxic effects of citric acid at the concentration of 125 mmol kg<sup>-1</sup> on N. tabacum. Application of NTA at 5 mmol kg<sup>-1</sup> rate reduced the shoot dry weight of *B. juncea* significantly (Quartacci et al., 2006). Soil application of 5 mmol kg<sup>-1</sup> of EDTA and EDDS decreased shoots biomass by up to 60% and 52% for corn, and 76% and 61% for beans (Luo et al., 2005). Application of HEDTA and EDTA reduced shoot biomass of H. annuus and increasing chelate application rates from 0.5 to  $2 \text{ g kg}^{-1}$  led to a severe yield reduction. Increasing growth medium concentrations of Cd, Cr, and Ni from 90 to 150 ppm along with increasing rates of these chelates reduced the average shoot biomass from 50% to 75% respectively (Chen and Cutright, 2001). Such reduction in plant growth was attributed to the combined application of heavy metals and chelates that exceeded the capacity of plants to activate defense systems, for instance, LMWOA may damage the plasma membranes which are normally stabilized by Ca and Zn ions (Kaszuba and Hunt, 1990). Synthetic chelating agents applied to growth medium at high concentrations are known to be toxic to plants (Cooper et al., 1999; Navari-Izzo and Quartacci, 2001; Luo et al., 2005). Sun et al. (2009) stated that, when chelate enhancement is used to improve photoextraction efficiency, other than uptake capacity and biodegradation the high metal property, a reasonable amount of the chelate addition should also be considered, to maintain high plant biomass.

## 6.2.8. Composts

Composts have also been added to soils to assist phytoremediation. In mine tailings restoration when clay loam soils were amended with composted biosolids, willows growing in such medium were very effective in phytoex-traction of Mn, Cu, and Cd (Boyter *et al.*, 2009). Compost amendments (obtained using wasted tea leaves as the main carbon source and swine manure as the nitrogen source by mixing at a mass ratio of 20 to 1) are found to be effective in assisting the growth of rape seeds, sunflowers, tomatoes, and soapworts in silt loams, and in performing the phytoextraction of Cu, Ni, and Cr from water-washed silt loams (Sung *et al.*, 2011). Composts can not only supply nutrients to plants, but also can create loose and ventilated soils for plants growing in hostile soils. It is seen that both the CEC and the organic matter increase in the test soils after adding the compost (Sung *et al.*, 2011).

# 6.3. Biological Factors

The ability to accumulate metals varies between species and between ecotypes within a given species. For instance, Boyd et al. (2008) investigated the variation of Ni concentrations in S. coronatus populations growing on ultramafic soils and found that two populations hyperaccumulated Ni in leaves (means of 12,000 and 8800 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) whereas the others did not (means of 120 and 130 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>). Besides, Boyd et al. (2002) reported mean leaf Ni concentrations of 12,100, and  $680 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$  from two populations growing on ultramafic soils in Mpumalanga Province, South Africa. Boyd et al. (2004) investigated population-level variation in Ni concentrations of B. coddii on three sites (Groenvaly, Groenvaly Mine and Doyershoek) with similar Ni levels. Highest Ni levels in plants were found at Groenvaly  $(10,900 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$  and Groenvaly Mine (10,700 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) sites and plant Ni concentrations were lowest at Doyershoek sites (8800 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) but still at hyperaccumulator levels. Therefore, selecting the most effective hiperaccumulator population can be valuable for the development of phytoremediation methods to clean up Ni-contaminated soils. In the past decade, many studies have focused on identifying or creating ideal phytoextraction plants and optimizing crop management practices (Li et al., 2003b).

## 6.3.1. Microbe enhancement

As discussed in Section 5.1.1., using rhizosphere bacteria is an alternate way to enhance phytoextraction efficiency. Some bacteria are capable of entering the plant as endophytes that do not cause harm and could establish a mutualistic association (Hallmann *et al.*, 1997; Compant *et al.*, 2005). Though many reports attest to the role of rhizosphere microbial

assisted phytoremediation (Gentry et al., 2004; Thompson et al., 2005; Rajkumar et al., 2006; Lebeau et al., 2008), the bacterial endophytes offer several advantages over rhizosphere microbes (Rajkumar et al., 2009). Endophytes are known to enhance plant growth and increase plant tolerance to heavy metal stresses by improving plant nitrogen fixation capacity, IAA production, phosphate solubilization and the production of a siderophores in rhizophere (Costa and Loper, 1994; Verma et al., 2001; Muthukumarasamy et al., 2002; Lee et al., 2004; Wakelin et al., 2004). Endophytes are known to improve plant growth and health by enhancing mineral nutrition, or increasing resistance or tolerance to biotic and abiotic stresses (Ryan et al., 2008; Rajkumar et al., 2009).

In addition to plant growth promoting potential, certain metal-resistant endophytes have been shown to be able to increase Ni accumulation in the plant. Idris et al. (2004) reported the siderophore production in Ni-resistant bacteria isolated from T. goesingense and pointed out that endophytes were able to tolerate larger concentrations of Ni than rhizosphere bacteria, indicating an adaptation of the endophytic microflora to the large heavy metal concentrations present in T. goesingense shoots. Barzanti et al. (2007) isolated 83 endophytic bacteria from roots, stems, and leaves of Ni hyperaccumulator plant A. bertolonii. A. bertolonii harbors endophytic bacteria shown to produce siderophores and promote the plant growth under Ni stress. However, in general the siderophore production among endophytes may be a general phenotype (Idris et al., 2004; Sessitsch et al., 2004) because endophytic lifestyle has to cope with extremely low levels of free iron ions in the plant tissue. We en *et al.* (2010) reported that inoculation of yellow lupine exposed to Ni and toluene with a Niresistant and toluene-degrading endophytic bacterium resulted in decreased Ni and toluene phytotoxicity, and reduced evapotranspiration of toluene. Yellow lupine inoculated with the endophyte Burkholderia cepacia VM1468 bacterium possessing the ncc (nickel-cadmium-cobalt resistance)-nre Ni resistance/sequestration system and the pTOM-Bu61 plasmid coding for constitutive trichloroethylene (TCE) degradation could result in a strong reduction of phytotoxicity for plants exposed to Ni and TCE and a significant increase in Ni uptake (Weyens et al., 2010).

However, other studies showed that the presence of metal-resistant endophytes decreased the uptake of Ni by the plants. In order to improve phytoremediation of heavy metals, Lodewyckx *et al.* (2001) introduced Ni tolerance genes *ncc-nre* from *Ralstonia metallidurans* 31A into two endophyte strains (*B. cepacia* and *Herbaspirillum seropedicae*). When inoculated on *Lupinus luteus*, the Ni-resistant *B. cepacia* induced a significant increase in the concentration of Ni in root, but not in the shoot (Lodewyckx *et al.*, 2001; Rajkumar *et al.*, 2009). Similarly, the inoculation of Ni resistance *H. seropedicae* decreased Ni uptake in *L. perenne*; however, inoculation of wild type strain showed similar effect indicating that the Ni resistance characteristics of endophytes are not responsible for the altered Ni uptake in plants (Lodewyckx *et al.*, 2001; Rajkumar *et al.*, 2009). Madhaiyan *et al.* (2007) reported that inoculation with methylotrophic bacteria, *Methylobacterium oryzae* and *Burkholderia sp.* (isolated from rice tissue), reduced Ni and Cd uptake in roots and shoots of tomato and also their availability in soil, hence, protecting tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum*) seeds from the toxicity of high concentrations of Ni and Cd. Such effects were attributed to the bacterium ability to lower the level of ethylene stress induced by the Ni and Cd. Inoculation of endophytes may also contribute to the reduced phytotoxic effects of the metals by sharing the

# 6.3.2. Cell engineering technology

Cell engineering technology is also of great significance for enhancing the phytoextraction efficiency. Gadd (2006) suggested that because polyploid plants are usually bigger in size and more active in transpiration, which is beneficial to the transportation of heavy metals in root-to-shoot process. Crosses were made between *B. juncea*, a high biomass Pb accumulator species and *T. caerulescens*, a known Zn and Ni hyperaccumulator to produce somatic cell hybrids, both symmetric and asymmetric hybrids were bigger in size than both the parents and also had increased resistance and better hyperextraction of Pb, Ni, and Zn (Gleba *et al.*, 1999; Zhao, *et al.*, 1999; Dushenkov *et al.*, 2002). Eapen and D'Souza (2005) concluded that it appears to be worthwhile attempting the somatic cell hybridizations between high biomass candidate plants and low biomass but higher metal hyperaccumulators to develop hybrids with high biomass and enhanced hyperaccumulation capabilities.

metal load through their ability of biosorption and bioaccumulation.

## 6.3.3. Genetic engineering

Using genetic engineering to combine the desirable characteristics of hyperaccumulator genotypes is of great power in improving phytoremediation. Genetically diverse Ni-hyperaccumulator species and ecotypes of Alyssum were collected and preliminary genetic screening experiments were conducted to identify Ni-hyperaccumulator species and ecotypes suitable for further genetic improvement (Li *et al.*, 2003b). A field experiment was carried out in Cave Junction, Oregon to assess their genetic potentials and from this study six Ni-hyperaccumulator species were selected, including 125 *A. murale* and 45 *A. corsicum* accessions. Mean shoot Ni concentrations among *A. murale* and *A. corsicum* ranged from 4200 to 20,400 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>. This finding indicates that genetic parental lines can be selected for breeding of improved phytoextraction cultivars (Li *et al.*, 2003b). Identification of plants with superior genetic traits for high metal uptake, larger biomass production, and superior tolerance to soil heavy metal content will help advance phytoremediation technologies, and obtain plant types that are superior hyperaccumulators with high biomass and tolerance to toxic levels of heavy metals. These superior plant types may also provide genetic material capable of being introduced into other species (Robinson, 1997; Sheoran *et al.*, 2009). However, development of food crops with genetic modifications to serve as hyperaccumulators is also of concern as metals in products from such crops might get entry into food chain.

Transgenic approaches successfully employed to promote phytoextraction of Ni from soil by their accumulation in the above-ground biomass involve several aspects including: (a) implementing metal transporters along with modulation of the specificity of the metal uptake system, (b) improving the production of metabolic enzymes and biochemically transform metals to less toxic forms, (c) enhancing the production of intracellular ligands and the efficiency of ions' entrance into cells, and (d) facilitating the translocation in xylem or other part (Kotrba *et al.*, 2009; Wu *et al.*, 2010).

With the powerful tool of genetic engineering, many Ni-related genes have been introduced into plant cells and have effectively enhanced the phytoremediation of Ni from soil (as described in Section 5). Besides the genetically engineered plants, the genetically engineered bacteria also have shown many advantages in Ni remediation (Fulkerson et al., 1998a, 1998b; Lopez et al., 2002; Deng et al., 2005; Freeman et al., 2005b). However, the potential risks of the application of genetic engineering and low public acceptability, especially the ecological and environmental risks and regulatory constraints for testing and application in the field of genetically modified plants is of a great concern (Shukla et al., 2010). Kotrba et al. (2009) pointed out that genes from genetically modified cultivated plants may transfer to wild relatives, thereby posing risks. The possibility of transformations of the natural flora by cross-pollination over long distances, the risk of invasion of crop plants, and the potential loss of diversity should be taken into serious consideration. Possible potential negative impacts of genetically engineered plants on the soil and rhizophere microorganisms, herbivores and other organisms along with their impact on food chain should be carefully evaluated. Linacre et al. (2003) suggested that it is essential to do risk assessment scenario for transgenic projects. Further, he stated that the risks of transmission of these genetically engineered traits are low, because such plants would be in isolated industrial districts, rather than in agricultural areas. Harvesting plants used for phytoextraction before flowering could substantially reduce the threat of crossing with the relatives and uncontrolled spreading of pollen or seeds. Krämer (2010) has extensively discussed the gentic and molecular basis of metal hyperaccumulation for Zn and Cd, and some of the approaches given

here could be useful for Ni. Detailed discussion on this area is beyond the scope of this review.

A thorough risk assessment study should be performed prior to the use of genetically engineered plants for phytoremediation. Excellent publications are available to provide needed guidance in risk assessments of transgenic plants (Wolfenbarger and Phifer 2000; Ervin *et al.*, 2000; Pilon-Smits and Pilon, 2002; Linacre *et al.*, 2003).

## 6.3.4. Plant management

Optimum plant management measures may effectively shorten the phytoremediation cycle. For instance, weed control chemicals are used to reduce weed competition with crops for soil nutrients, moisture, and light (Li *et al.*, 2003b). Herbicide application before harvest, improved the removal of Cr, Ni, and especially Zn by two to 3-fold in comparison to control plants due to enhanced transpiration by crops (Claus *et al.*, 2007). Li *et al.* (2003b) have conducted greenhouse and field tests of twelve herbicides for use with *A. murale* and *A. corsicum*, evaluating dose, mode of delivery, and use in combination. Further, they developed a strategy of weed control that used a combination of chemicals together with some mechanical control measures.

Besides, population density (plants  $ha^{-1}$ ) is expected to be an important management variable, the optimal planting density for commercial production is affected by soil physical properties, organic matter and fertility levels, hyperaccumulator species, and other factors. For A. murale and A. corsicum, on average, the optimal density is one plant per 0.25 m<sup>2</sup> (Li et al., 2003b). Under laboratory conditions, Lemna gibba (Lemnaceae) were cultured in vertical cylinders pot (height: 15 cm, diameter: 16.2 cm), which were filled with liquid nutrients. The results showed that at high population densities (800 or 1600 seedlings pot<sup>-1</sup>) the growth rate of L gibba decreased with increasing density. Especially, at a density of 1600 seedlings pot<sup>-1</sup>, the net growth rate became negative. This lower growth rate may be related to lower local temperatures and nutrient supply within L. gibba mats. Additionally, high population densities caused decreased Ni accumulation by L. gibba (Demirezen et al., 2007).

Adapting transplanting method of cultivation can shorten the phytoextraction cycle (Wei *et al.*, 2008). It may be most economical to establish perennial cropping systems for phytoremediation where crops are harvested every year without the cost of repeated yearly seeding. In some cropping systems it may be more profitable to reseed each year or every other year to maintain adequate plant desnsity. Li *et al.* (2003b) concluded that these choices could depend on the seasonal rainfall or availability of irrigation at the production locations. Experiments may need to be conducted in different regions of the world under different ecosystems to evaluate whether annual, biennial, or perennial crop management systems are used and the adapted phytoremediation techniques are efficient and cost-effective.

# 7. CONCLUSIONS

An understanding of the mechanisms of Ni uptake and hyperaccumulation by plants has been considerably advanced in recent years. The pump system such as PM H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase, Ni<sup>2+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> antiport system, V-ATPase, and V-PPase, the chelators such as His, NA, MA, citrate, malate, MTs, PCs, SA and its metabolites, and antioxidation-related genes GSH, Cys, and OAS, and transport proteins such as TjZnt1, TjZnt2, TjNRAMP4, HMA4, TgMTP1, RmCzcD, WmFieF, TcNRAMP3, AtMRP3, and NtCBP4 are all reported to have an effect on Ni uptake, transport, and/or detoxification in plant. The spatial distribution and particularly the cellular localization of Ni in the plant tissues may help improve understanding of the physiological effects of Ni on plants. All of these developments are of great importance for comprehending the physiological processes of Ni movement from soil to plant's cellular compartments, and hence, applying the plants for the clean up of Ni-contaminated soils may become a reality. However, most previous experiments were conducted at a laboratory scale and in relatively controlled conditions for a short period of time. The slow growth and small biomass of Ni-hyperaccumulator plants, have largely restricted their effectiveness for phytoremediation in the field. Therefore, although Ni is a metal of high value, few commercial phytomining projects have been demonstrated.

Combination of the phytoremediation process with modification of soil physical, chemical, microbiological properties, and other biological means such as cell and genetic engineering, may significantly shorten the time required to complete the entire remediation process. Although genetic engineering poses potential ecological and environmental risks, its potential to improve phytoremediation should be further explored. Rhizosphere microbes especially the PGPR, endophytic bacteria and end-ectotypes mycorrhizae can effectively assist in phytoremediation by lowering soil pH, producing compounds such as antibiotics and antifungals, organic acids, hormones (e.g., IAA), enzymes, siderophore, and metal-chelating agents, enhancing nitrogen fixation, and providing nutrients to the plant. Application of fertilizers such as N, P, K, Ca, and S, composts, and some exogenous chelates such as EDTA, DTPA, HEDTA, NTA, EDDS, citric acid, His, gallic acid and oxalic acid may facilitate the phytoremediation. Therefore, further integrated multidisciplinary research efforts that combine plant biology, genetic engineering, soil

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Drs. R. J. Wright and T. E. Devine for their critical review and valuable suggestions for the manuscript.

# REFERENCES

- Abou-Shanab, R. A. I., Angle, J. S., and Chaney, R. L. (2006). Bacterial inoculants affecting nickel uptake by *Alyssum murale* from low, moderate and high Ni soils. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 38, 2882–2889.
- Abou-Shanab, R. A., Angle, J. S., Delorme, T. A., Chaney, R. L., van Berkum, P., and Moawad, H. (2003). Rhizobacterial effects on nickel extraction from soil and uptake by Alyssum murale. *New Phytol.* **158**, 219–224.
- Ahmad, M. S., Ashraf, M., and Hussain, M. (2011). Phytotoxic effects of nickel on yield and concentration of macro- and micro-nutrients in sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.) achenes. J. Hazard Mater. 185, 1295–1303.
- Alexander, E. B. (1994). Serpentine soils mapped in California and Southwestern Oregon. Soil Surv. Horiz. 35, 61–69.
- Ali, M. B., Vajpayee, P., Tripathi, R. D., Rai, U. N., Singh, S. N., and Singh, S. P. (2003). Phytoremediation of lead, nickel, and copper by *Salix acmophylla* Boiss: Role of antioxidant enzymes and antioxidant substances. *Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.* **70**, 462–469.
- Anderson, C. W. N., Brooks, R. R., Chiarucci, A., LaCoste, C. J., Leblanc, M., Robinson, B. H., Simcock, R., and Stewart, R. B. (1999). Phytomining for nickel, thallium and gold. J. Geochem. Explor. 67, 407–415.
- Angle, S. J., Baker, A. J. M., Whiting, S. N., and Chaneym, R. L. (2003). Soil moisture effects on uptake of metals by *Thlaspi*, *Alyssum*, and Berkheya. *Plant and Soil* 256, 325–332.
- Anton, A., Grosse, C., Reissmann, J., Pribyl, T., and Nies, D. H. (1999). CzcD is a heavy metal ion transporter involved in regulation of heavy metal resistance in *Ralstonia sp.* strain CH34. J. Bacteriol. 181, 6876–6881.
- Anton, A., Weltrowski, A., Haney, C. J., Franke, S., Grass, G., Rensing, C., and Nies, D. H. (2004). Characteristics of zinc transport by two bacterial cation diffusion facilitators from *Ralstonia metallidurans* CH34 and *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 186, 7499–7507.
- Appenroth, K. J., Krech, K., Keresztes, Á, Fischer, W., and Koloczek, H. (2010). Effects of nickel on the chloroplasts of the duckweeds *Spirodela polyrhiza* and *Lemna minor* and their possible use in biomonitoring and phytoremediation. *Chemosphere* 78, 216–223.
- Araújo, G. C. L., Lemos, S. G., and Nabais, C. (2009). Nickel sorption capacity of ground xylem of *Quercus ilex* trees and effects of selected ligands present in the xylem sap. J. Plant Physiol. 166, 270–277.
- Arazi, T., Sunkar, R., Kaplan, B., and Fromm, H. (1999). A tobacco plasma membrane calmodulin-binding transporter confers Ni<sup>2+</sup> tolerance and Pb<sup>2+</sup> hypersensitivity in transgenic plants. *Plant J.* **20**, 171–182.
- Arrunategui-Jimenez, J., Beron, W., Bertini, F., and Lopez, L. A. (1999). Nickel is a strong mitotic inhibitor of meristematic cells of *Allium cepa* root. *Biocell.* 23, 113–118.
- Aschmann, S. G., and Zasoski, R. J. (1987). Nickel and rubidium uptake by whole oat plants in solution culture. *Physiol. Plant* **71**, 191–196.

- Asemaneh, T., Ghaderian, S. M., Crawford, S. A., Marshall, A. T., and Baker, A. J. M. (2006). Cellular and subcellular compartmentation of Ni in the Eurasian serpentine plants Alyssum bracteatum, Alyssum murale (Brassicaceae) and Cleome heratensis (Capparaceae). *Planta* 225, 193–290.
- Ashour, E. H., El-Mergawi, R. A., and Radwan, S. M. A. (2006). Efficiency of Pseudomonas to phytoremediate nickel by canola (Brassica napus L.). J. Appl. Sci. Res. 2, 375–382.
- Assunção, A. G. L., Bleeker, P., Ten Bookum, W. M., Vooijs, R., and Schat, H. (2008). Intraspecific variation of metal preference patterns for hyperaccumulation in *Thlaspi caerulescens*: evidence for binary metal exposures. *Plant Soil* **303**, 289–299.
- Assunção, A. G. L., Schat, H., and Aarts, M. G. M. (2003). *Thlaspi caerulescens*, an attractive model species to study heavy metal hyperaccumulation in plants. *New Phytol.* 159, 351–360.
- Axelsen, K. B., and Palmgren, M. G. (1998). Inventory of the superfamily of P-Type ion pumps in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol.* **126**, 696–706.
- Baccouch, S., Chaoui, A., and El Ferjani, E. (1998). Nickel toxicity: Effects on growth and metabolism of maize. J. Plant Nutr. 21, 577–588.
- Baccouch, S., Chaoui, A., and El Ferjani, E. (2001). Nickel toxicity induces oxidative damage in Zea mays roots. J. Plant Nutr. 24, 1085–1097.
- Bai, C., Reilly, C. C., and Wood, B. W. (2006). Nickel deficiency disrupts metabolism of ureides, amino acids, and organic acids of young pecan foliage. *Plant Physiol.* 140, 433–443.
- Baker, A. J. M., Proctor, J., Van Balgooy, M. M. J., and Reeves, R. D. (1992). Hyperaccumulation of nickel by the flora of the ultramafics of Palawan, Republic of the Philippines. In A. J. M. Baker, J. Proctor., and R. D. Reeves (Eds.), The Vegetation of Ultramafic (Serpentine) Soils (pp. 291–304). Andover, UK: Intercept.
- Bani, A., Echevarria, G., Sulce, S., and Morel, J. L. (2008). Development of a technology for extensive phytoextraction of nickel on an ultramafic site (Albania). In V. Bert (Ed.), Phytotechnologies in Practice: Biomass Production, Agricultural Methods, Legacy, Legal and Economic Aspects (pp. 17). Verneuil-en-Halatte, France: COSTAction 859.
- Bani, A., Echevarria, G., Sulce, S., Morel, J. L., and Mullai, A. (2007). In-situ phytoextraction of Ni by a native population of Alyssum murale on an ultramafic site (Albania). *Plant Soil* 293, 79–89.
- Bañuelos, G. S. (2000). Factors influencing field Phytoremediation of selenium-laden soils. In N. Terry, and G. S. Bãnuelos (Eds.), *Phytoremediation of Contaminated Soil and Water* (pp. 41–59). Boca Raton, FL, USA: Lewis Publishers, CRC Press.
- Bănuelos, G. S., Ajwa, H. A., Mackey, L. L., Wu, C., Cook, S., and Akohoue, S. (1997). Evaluation of different plant species used for phytoremediation of high soil selenium. *J. Environ. Qual.* 26, 639–646.
- Barbaroux, R., Meunier, N., Mercier, G., Taillard, V., Morel, J. L., Simonnot, M. O., and Blais, J. F. (2009). Chemical leaching of nickel from the seeds of the metal hyperaccumulator plant *Alyssum murale*. *Hydrometallurgy* **100**, 10–14.
- Barzanti, R., Ozino, F., Bazzicalupo, M., Gabbrielli, R., Galardi, F., Gonnelli, C., and Mengoni, A. (2007). Isolation and characterization of endophytic bacteria from the nickel hyperaccumulator plant *Alyssum bertolonii*. *Microb. Ecol.* 53, 306–316.
- Bazzaz, F. A., Carlson, R. W., and Rolfe, G. L. (1974). The effect of heavy metals on plants: Part I. Inhibition of gas exchange in sunflower by Pb, Cd, Ni and Tl. *Environ. Pollut.* 7, 241–246.
- Becher, M., Talke, I. N., and Krämer, U. (2004). Cross-species microarray transcript profiling reveals high constitutive expression of metal homeostasis genes in shoots of the zinc hyperaccumulator *Arabidopsis halleri*. *Plant J.* **37**, 251–268.
- Belevi, H., and Moench, H. (2000). Factors determining the element behaviour in municipal solid waste incinerators. 1. Fields studies. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 34, 2501–2506.

# Author's personal copy

- Belimov, A. A., Safronova, V. I., Sergeyeva, T. A., Egorova, T. N., Matveyeva, V. A., Tsyganov, V. E., Borisov, A. Y., Tikhonovich, I. A., Kluge, C., Preisfeld, A., Dietz, K. J., and Stepanok, V. V. (2001). Characterization of plant growth-prompting rhizobacteria isolated from polluted soils and containing 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate deaminase. *Can. J. Microbiol.* **47**, 642–652.
- Bennett, F. A., Tyler, E. K., Brooks, R. R., Gregg, P. E. H., and Stewart, R. B. (1998). Fertilisation of hyperaccumulators to enhance their potential for phytoremediation and phytomining. *In R. R. Brooks (Ed.), Plants that Hyperaccumulate Heavy Metals* (pp. 249–259). Wallingford, Oxon, UK: CAB International.
- Bennett, L. E., Burkhead, J. L., Hale, K. L., Terry, N., Pilon, M., and Pilon-Smits, E. A. (2003). Analysis of transgenic Indian mustard plants for phytoremediation of metalcontaminated mine tailings. J. Environ. Qual. 32, 432–440.
- Berazain, R., de la Fuente, V., Rufo, L., Rodriguez, N., Amils, R., Diez-Garretas, B., Sanchez-Mata, D., and Asensi, A. (2007). Nickel localization in tissues of different hyperaccumulator species of euphorbiaceae from ultramafic areas of Cuba. *Plant Soil* 293, 99–106.
- Bertrand, H., Plassard, C., Pinochet, X., Touraine, B., Normand, P., and Cleyet-Marel, J. C. (2000). Stimulation of the ionic transport system in Brassica napus by a plant growth-promoting rhizobacterium (Achromobacter sp.). *Can. J. Bot.* 46, 229–236.
- Bhatia, N. P., Walsh, K. B., Orlic, I., Siegele, R., Ashwath, N., and Baker, A. J. (2004). Studies on spatial distribution of nickel in leaves and stems of the metal hyperaccumulator *Stackhousia tryonii* using nuclear microprobe (micro-PIXE) and EDXS techniques. *Func. Plant Biol.* **31**, 1061–1074.
- Bhattacharyya, P., Chakrabarti, K., Chakraborty, A., Tripathy, S., Kim, K., and Powell, M. A. (2008). Cobalt and nickel uptake by rice and accumulation in soil amended with municipal solid waste compost. *Ecotox. Environ. Safe.* 69, 506–512.
- Bidwell, S. D. (2001). *Hyperaccumulation of metals in Australian native plants*. PhD thesis. Australia: The University of Melbourne.
- Bidwell, S. D., Crawford, S. A., Woodrow, I. E., Sommer-Knudsen, J., and Marshall, A. T. (2004). Sub-cellular localization of Ni in the hyperaccumulator, *Hybanthus floribundus* (Lindley) F. Muell. *Plant, Cell Environ.* 27, 705–716.
- Bisessar, S. (1989). Effects of lime on nickel uptake and toxicity in cereal grown on muck soil contaminated by a nickel refinery. *Sci. Total. Environ.* 84, 83–90.
- Bizily, S. P., Rugh, C. L., Summers, A. O., and Meagher, R. B. (1999). Phytoremediation of methylmercury pollution: merB expression in Arabidopsis thaliana confers resistance to organomercurials. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 96, 6808–6813.
- Blaha, D., Arous, S., Blériot, C., Dorel, C., Mandrand-Berthelot, M., and Rodrigue, A. (2011). The *Escherichia coli* metallo-regulator RcnR represses rcnA and rcnR transcription through binding on a shared operator site: Insights into regulatory specificity towards nickel and cobalt. *Biochimie* 93, 434–439.
- Blaylock, M. J. (2000). Field demonstrations of phytoremediation of lead-contaminated soils. In N. Terry, and G. Banũelos (Eds.), *Phytoremediation of Contaminated Soil and Water* (pp. 1–12). Boca Raton, FL, USA: Lewis Publisher.
- Blaylock, M. J., Salt, D. E., Dushenkov, Zhakarova, O., Gussman, C., Kapulnik, Y., Ensley, B. D., and Raskin, I. (1997). Enhanced accumulation of Pb in Indian mustard by soil-applied chelating agents. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **31**, 860–865.
- Bloss, T., Clemens, S., and Nies, D. H. (2002). Characterization of the ZAT1p zinc transporter from Arabidopsis thaliana in microbial model organisms and reconstituted proteoliposomes. *Planta* 214, 783–791.
- Bonner, E. R., Cahoon, R. E., Knapke, S. M., and Jez, J. M. (2005). Molecular basis of cysteine biosynthesis in plants. Structural and functional analysis of O-acetylserine sulfhydrilase from Arabidopsis thaliana. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 38803–38813.

- Boominathan, R., and Doran, P. M. (2002). Ni-induced oxidative stress in roots of the Ni hyper-accumulator, *Alyssum bertolonii*. New Phytol. 156, 205–215.
- Boominathan, R., and Doran, P. M. (2003a). Cadmium tolerance and antioxidative defenses in hairy roots of the cadmium hyperaccumulator, *Thlaspi caerulescens. Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 83, 158–167.
- Boominathan, R., and Doran, P. M. (2003b). Organic acid complexation, heavy metal distribution and the effect of ATPase inhibition in hairy roots of hyperaccumulator plant species. J. Biotechnol. 101, 131–146.
- Boominathan, R., Saha-Chaudhary, N. M., Sahajwalla, V., and Doran, P. M. (2004). Production of nickel bio-ore from hyperaccumulator plant biomass. Applications in phytomining. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 86, 243–250.
- Bovet, L., Eggmann, T., Meylan-Bettex, M., Polier, J., Kammer, P., Marin, E., Feller, U., and Martinoia, E. (2003). Transcript levels of AtMRPs after cadmium treatment: induction of AtMRP3. *Plant Cell Environ.* 26, 371–381.
- Boyd, R. S. (2004). Ecology of metal hyperaccumulation. New Phytol. 162, 563-567.
- Boyd, R. S. (2007). The defense hypothesis of elemental hyperaccumulation: Status, challenges and new directions. *Plant and Soil* 293, 153–176.
- Boyd, R. S., Davis, M. A., and Balkwill, K. (2004). Nickel accumulation patterns in two South African Ni hyperaccumulator species. In R. S. Boyd, A. J. M. Baker, and J. Proctor (Eds.), Ultramafic Rocks: Their Soils, Vegetation and Fauna (pp. 275–278). St Albans, Herts: Science Reviews 2000 Ltd.
- Boyd, R. S., Davis, M. A., and Balkwill, K. (2008). Elemental patterns in Ni hyperaccumulating and non-hyperaccumulating ultramafic soil populations of Senecio coronatus. S. Afr. J. Bot. 74, 158–162.
- Boyd, R. S., Davis, M. A., Wall, M. A., and Balkwill, K. (2002). Nickel defends the South African hyperaccumulator Senecio coronatus (Asteraceae) against Helix aspersa (Mollusca: Pulmonidae). *Chemoecology* 12, 91–97.
- Boyter, M. J., Brummer, J. E., and Leininger, W. C. (2009). Growth and metal accumulation of geyer and mountain willow grown in topsoil versus amended mine tailings. *Water Air Soil Pollut.* **198**, 17–29.
- Broadhurst, C. L., Chaney, R. L., Angle, J. S., Erbe, E. F., and Maugel, T. K. (2004). Nickel localization and response to increasing Ni soil levels in leaves of the Ni hyperaccumulator A. murale. *Plant Soil* 265, 225–242.
- Brooks, R. R. (1987). Serpentine and its vegetation: a multidisciplinary approach. Portland, Oregan, USA: Dioscorrides.
- Brooks, R. R. (1998). Plants that Hyperaccumulate Heavy Metals Their Role in Phytoremediation, Microbiology, Archaeology, Mineralexploration and Phytomining. Wallingford, Oxon, UK: CAB International. pp. 380.
- Brooks, R. R., Anderson, C., Stewart, R., and Robinson, B. (1999). Phytomining: growing a crop of a metal. *Biologist* 46, 201–205.
- Brooks, R. R., Chambers, M. F., Nicks, L. J., and Robinson, B. H. (1998). Phytomining. *Plant Sci.* **3**, 359–362.
- Brooks, R. R., Lee, J., Reeves, R. D., and Jaffre, T. (1977). Detection of nickeliferous rocks by analysis of herbarium species of indicator plants. J. Geochem. Explor. 7, 49–57.
- Brouwer, M., Hoexum-Brouwer, T., and Cashon, R. E. (1993). A putative glutathionebinding site in Cd Zn-metallothionein identified by equilibrium binding and molecular modeling studies. *Biochem. J.* 294, 219–250.
- Brown, P. H., Welch, R. M., and Cary, E. E. (1987). Nickel: A micronutrient essential for higher plants. *Plant Physiol* 85, 801–803.
- Brown, P. H., Welch, R. M., and Madison, J. T. (1990). Effect of nickel deficiency on soluble anion, amino acid and nitrogen levels in barley. *Plant Soil* **125**, 19–27.

- Burd, G. I., Dixon, D. C., and Click, B. R. (1998). A plant growth promoting bacterium that decreases nickel toxicity in seedlings. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 64, 3663–3668.
- Burd, G. I., Dixon, D. G., and Glick, B. R. (2000). Plant growth-promoting bacteria that decrease heavy metal toxicity in plants. *Can. J. Microbiol.* **46**, 237–245.
- Budka, D., Mesjasz-Przybylowicz, J., Tylko, G., and Pryzbylowicz, W. J. (2005). Freeze substitution methods for Ni localization and quantitative analysis in Berkheya coddii leaves. Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res. B 231, 338–344.
- Burken, J. G., and Schnoor, J. L. (1999). Distribution and volatilisation of organic compounds following uptake by hybrid poplar trees. Int. J. Phytoremediat. 1, 139–151.
- Burzyński, M., and Buczek, J. (1994). The influence of Cd, Cu, Pb and Ni on NO<sup>3-</sup> uptake by cucumber seedlings. II. In vitro and in vivo effect of Cd, Cu, Pb and Ni on the plasmalemma ATPase and oxidoreductase from cucumber seedling roots,. *Acta Physiol. Plant* 16, 297–302.
- Callahan, D. L., Baker, A. J. M., Kolev, S. D., and Wedd, A. G. (2006). Metal ion ligands in hyperaccumulating plants. J. Biol. Inorg. Chem. 11, 2–12.
- Callahan, D. L., Kolev, S. D., O'Hair, R. A. J., Salt, D. E., and Baker, A. J. M. (2007). Relationships of nicotianamine and other amino acids with nickel, zinc and iron in Thlaspi hyperaccumulators. *New Phytol.* **176**, 836–848.
- Callahan, D. L., Roessner, U., Dumontetm, V., Perrier, N., Wedd, A. G., O'Hair, R. A., Baker, A. J., and Kolev, S. D. (2008). LC-MS and GC-MS metabolite profiling of nickel (II) complexes in the latex of the nickel hyperaccumulating tree *Sebertia acuminata* and identification of methylated aldaric acid as a new nickel (II) ligand. *Phytochemistry* 69, 240–251.
- Cao, R. L., Huo, W. R., He, Z. L., Hu, A. T., and Deng, B. (1993). A study on controlling Cd pollution in paddy soils in Luo Qiao Township, Dayie County. *Chinese Environ. Sci.* (*Beijing, China*) 13, 433–439.
- Cataldo, D. A., Garland, T. R., and Wildung, R. E. (1978). Nickel in plants. I. Uptake kinetics using intact soybean seedlings. *Plant Physiol.* 62, 563–565.
- Chaney, R. L., Angle, J. S., Baker, A. J. M., and Li, Y. M. (1998). Method for phytomining of nickel, cobalt and other metals from soils. US Patent 5, 711–784.
- Chaney, R. L., Angle, J. S., Broadhurst, C. L., Peters, C. A., Tappero, R. V., and Sparks, D. L. (2007). Improved understanding of hyperaccumulation yields commercial phytoextraction and phytomining technologies. J. Environ. Qual. 36, 1429–1443.
- Chaney, R. L., Chen, K. Y., Li, Y. M., Angle, J. S., and Baker, A. J. M. (2008). Effects of calcium on nickel tolerance and accumulation in Alyssum species and cabbage grown in nutrient solution. *Plant Soil* **311**, 131–140.
- Chaney, R. L., Li, Y. M., Brown, S. L., Homer, F. A., Malik, M., Angle, J. S., Baker, A. J. M., Reeves, R. D., and Chin, M. (2000). Improving metal hyperaccumulator wild plants to develop phytoextraction systems: Approaches and progress. *In* N. Terry, and G. Banuelos (Eds.), *Phytoremediation of contaminated soil and water* (pp. 129–158). Boca: Lewis Publishers.
- Chatthai, M., Kaukinen, K. H., Tranbarger, T. J., Gupta, P. K., and Misra, S. (1997). The isolation of a novel metallothionein related cDNA expressed in somatic and zygotic embryos of Douglas fir: regulation of ABA, osmoticum and metal ions. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 34, 243–254.
- Chen, H., and Cutright, T. (2001). EDTA and HEDTA effects on Cd, Cr, and Ni uptake by Helianthus annuus. *Chemosphere* **45**, 21–28.
- Chen, L. M., Lin, C. C., and Kao, C. H. (2000). Copper toxicity in rice seedlings: changes in antioxidative enzyme activities, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> level, and cell wall peroxidase activity in roots. *Bot. Bull. Acad. Sin.* **41**, 99–103.
- Chen, Q., and Wong, J. W. C. (2006). Growth of Agropyron elongatum in a simulated nickel contaminated soil with lime stabilization. *Sci. Total. Environ.* **366**, 448–455.

- Chiang, H. C., Lo, J. C., and Yeh, K. C. (2006). Genes associated with heavy metal tolerance and accumulation in Zn/Cd hyperaccumulator Arabidopsis halleri: a genomic survey with cDNA microarray. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **40**, 6792–6798.
- Claus, D., Dietze, H., Gerth, A., Grosser, W., and Hebner, A. (2007). Application of gronomic practice improves phytoextraction on a multipolluted site. J. Environ. Eng. Landsc 65, 208–212.
- Cole, M. M. (1973). Geobotanical and biogeochemical investigations in the sclerophyllous woodland and shrub associations of the eastern goldfields of Western Australia with particular reference to the role of *Hybanthus floribundus* (Lindl) F Muell as a nickel indicator and accumulator plant. J. Appl. Ecol. 10, 269–320.
- Cobbett, C., and Goldsbrough, P. (2002). Phytochelatins and metallothioneins: Roles in heavymetal detoxification and homeostasis. *Ann. Rev. Plant Biol.* 53, 159–182.
- Coleman, C. M., Boyd, R. S., and Eubanks, M. D. (2005). Extending the elemental defense hypothesis: dietary metal concentrations below hyperaccumulator levels could harm herbivores. J. Chem. Ecol. 31, 1669–1681.
- Compant, S., Reiter, B., Sessitsch, A., Nowak, J., Clement, C., and Barka, E. A. (2005). Endophytic colonization of Vitis vinifera L. by a plant growth-promoting bacterium, Burkholderia sp. strain PsJN. *Appl. Environ. Microb.* **71**, 1685–1693.
- Cong, Z. L. (1997). The control of desertified land with tailings from excavating minerals in Jinchang city. J. Desert Res. (Chinese) 17, 317–321.
- Contesto, C., Desbrosses, G., Lefoulon, C., Béna, G., Borel, F., Galland, M., Gamet, L., Varoquaux, F., and Touraine, B. (2008). Effects of rhizobacterial ACC deaminase activity on *Arabidopsis* indicate that ethylene mediates local root responses to plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria. *Plant Sci.* **175**, 178–189.
- Cooper, E. M., Sims, J. T., Cunningham, S. D., Huang, J. W., and Berti, W. R. (1999). Chelate-assisted phytoextraction of lead from contaminated soil. *J. Environ. Qual.* 28, 1709–1719.
- Cosio, C., De Santis, L., Frey, B., Diallo, S., and Keller, C. (2005). Distribution of cadmium in leaves of *Thlaspi caerulescens*. J. Exp. Bot. 56, 565–575.
- Costa, J. M., and Loper, J. E. (1994). Characterization of siderophore production by the biological-control agent *Enterobacter cloacae*. Mol. Plant Microbe In. 7, 440–448.
- Crooke, W. M. (1956). Effect of soil reaction on uptake of nickel from a serpentine soil. Soil. Sci. 81, 269–276.
- Cunningham, S. D., and Ow, D. W. (1996). Promises and prospects of phytoremediation. *Plant Physiol.* **110**, 715–719.
- Dalledonne, I., Milzani, A., Ciapparelli, C., Comazzi, M., Gioria, M. R., and Colombo, R. (1999). The assembly of Ni<sup>2+</sup>-actin: Some peculiarities. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta* 1426, 32–42.
- De-Souza, M. P., Huang, C. P. A., Chee, N., and Terry, N. (1999). Rhizosphere bacteria enhance that accumulation of selenium and mercury in wetland plants. *Planata* 209, 259–263.
- Dell'Amico, E., Cavalca, L., and Andreoni, V. (2005). Analysis of rhizobacterial communities in perennial *Graminaceae* from polluted water meadow soil, and screening of metal-resistant, potentially plant growth-promoting bacteria. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* 52, 153–162.
- Demchenko, N. P., Kalimova, I. B., and Demchenko, K. N. (2005). Effect of nickel on growth, proliferation, and differentiation of root cells in *Triticum aestivum* seedlings. *Russ. J. Plant Physiol.* 52, 220–228.
- Deng, X., Li, Q. B., Lu, Y. H., Sun, D. H., and He, N. (2005). Genetic engineering of *Escherichia coli* SE5000 and its potential for Ni<sup>2+</sup> bioremediation. *Process Biochem.* 40, 425–430.
- Deng, X., Li, Q. B., Lu, Y. H., Sun, D. H., Huang, Y. L., and Chen, X. R. (2003). Bioaccumulation of nickel from aqueous solutions by genetically engineered *Escherichia coli*. *Water Res.* 37, 2505–2511.

- Demirezen, D., Aksoy, A., and Uruc, K. (2007). Effect of population density on growth, biomass and nickel accumulation capacity of Lemna gibba (Lemnaceae). *Chemosphere* 66, 553–557.
- do Nascimento, C. W. A., Amarasiriwardena, D., and Xing, B. (2006). Comparison of natural organic acids and synthetic chelates at enhancing phytoextraction of metals from a multi-metal contaminated soil. *Environ. Pollut.* **140**, 114–123.
- Dobbelaere, S., Vanderleyden, J., and Okon, Y. (2003). Plant growth-promoting effects of diazotrophs in the rhizosphere. Crit. Rev. Plant Sci. 22, 107–149.
- Doig, L. E., and Liber, K. (2006). Influence of dissolved organic matter on nickel bioavailability and toxicity to *Hyalella azteca* in water-only exposures. *Aquat. Toxicol.* 76, 203–216.
- Dräger, B. D., Desbrosses-Fonrouge, A. G., Krach, C., Chardonnens, A. N., Meyer, R. C., Saumitou-Laprade, P., and Krämer, U. (2004). Two genes encoding Arabidopsis halleri MTP1 metal transport proteins co-segregate with zinc tolerance and account for high MTP1 transcript levels. *Plant J.* **39**, 425–439.
- Duman, F., and Ozturk, F. (2010). Nickel accumulation and its effect on biomass, protein content and antioxidative enzymes in roots and leaves of watercress (Nasturtium officinale R. Br.). J. Environ. Sci. 22, 526–532.
- Duo, L. A., Gao, Y. B., and Zhao, S. L. (2005). Heavy metal accumulation and ecological responses of turfgrass to rubbish compost with EDTA addition. J. Integr. Plant Biol. 47, 1047–1054.
- Dushenkov, S., Skarzhinskaya, M., Glimelius, K., Gleba, D., and Raskin, I. (2002). Bioengineering of a phytoremediation plant by means of somatic hybridization. *Int. J. Phytor*emediat. 4, 117–126.
- Dushenkov, V., Kumar, P. B. A. N., Motto, H., and Raskin, I. (1995). Rhizofiltration: the use of plants to remove heavy metals from aqueous streams. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 29, 1239–1245.
- Eapen, S., and D'Souza, S. F. (2005). Prospects of genetic engineering of plants for phytoremediation of toxic metals. *Biotechnol. Adv.* 23, 97–114.
- Ebbs, S., Lau, I., Ahner, B., and Kochian, L. (2002). Phytochelatin synthesis is not responsible for Cd tolerance in the Zn/Cd hyperaccumulator Thlaspi caerulescenes (J. and C. Presl). *Planta* **214**, 635–640.
- El–Shintinawy, F., and El–Ansary, A. (2000). Differential effect of Cd<sup>2+</sup> and Ni<sup>2+</sup> on aminoacid metabolism in soy bean seedlings. *Biol. Plant.* **43**, 79–84.
- Ensley, B. D. (2000). Rationale for use of phytoremediation. In I. Raskin, and B. D. Ensley (Eds.), *Phytoremediation of Toxic Metals: Using Plants to Clean Up the Environment* (pp. 15–31). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley and Sons Inc., New York, USA.
- EPA (Environmental Protection agency). (1998). *Phytoremediation of TCE in Ground Water Using Populus*. Report prepared by Jonathan Chappell. 401M Street, SW (5102G) Washington, DC, USA: Technology Innovation Office.
- Ermler, U., Grabarse, W., Shima, S., Goubeaud, M., and Thauer, R. K. (1998). Active sites of transition-metal enzymes with a focus on nickel. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* 8, 749–758.
- Ervin, D. E., Batie, S. S., Welsh, R., Carpentier, C. L., Fern, J. I., Richman, N. J., and Schulz, M. A. (2000). *Transgenic Crops: An Environmental Assessment*. USA: Henry A. Wallace Center for Agricultural and Environmental Policy at Winrock International, Arlington, Virginia. http://www.winrock.org/transgenic/pdf.
- Eskew, D. L., Welch, R. M., and Norvell, W. A. (1984). Nickel in higher plants: Further evidence for an essential role. *Plant Physiol.* **76**, 691–693.
- Evangelou, M. W. H., Daghan, H., and Schaeffer, A. (2004). The influence of humic acids on the phytoextraction of cadmium from soil. *Chemosphere* 57, 207–213.

- Evangelou, M. W. H., Ebel, M., and Schaeffer, A. (2006). Evaluation of the effect of small organic acids on phytoextraction of Cu and Pb from soil with tobacco *Nicotiana tabacum*. *Chemosphere* **63**, 996–1004.
- Evans, H. J., and Sorger, G. J. (1966). Role of mineral elements with emphasis on the univalent cations. *Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol.* 17, 47–76.
- Everhart, J., McNear, D. H., Jr., Peltier, E., van der Lelie, D., Chaney, R., and Sparks, D. L. (2006). Assessing nickel bioavailability in smelter-contaminated soils. *Sci. Total Environ.* 367, 732–744.
- Fageria, N. K., Baligar, V. C., and Clark, R. B. (2002). Micronutrients in crop production. Adv. Agron. 77, 185–268.
- Farwell, A. J., Vesely, S., Nero, V., Rodriguez, H., Shah, S., and Dixon, D. G. (2006). The use of transgenic canola (Brassica napus) and plant growth-promoting bacteria to enhance plant biomass at a nickel-contaminated field site. *Plant Soil.* 288, 309–318.
- Foy, C. D., Chaney, R. L., and White, M. C. (1978). The physiology of metal toxicity in plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. 29, 511–566.
- Foyer, C. H., and Noctor, G. (2005). Redox homeostasis and antioxidant signaling: A metabolic interface between stress perception and physiological responses. *Plant Cell* 17, 1866–1875.
- Frank, R., Stonefield, K. I., Suda, P., and Potter, J. W. (1982). Impact of nickel contamination on the production of vegetables on an organic soil, Ontario, Canada, 1980–1981. *Sci. Total. Environ.* 26, 41–65.
- Freeman, J. L., and Salt, D. E. (2007). The metal tolerance profile of *Thlaspi goesingense* is mimicked in Arabidopsis thaliana heterologously expressing serine acetyl-transferase. *BMC Plant. Biol.* 7, 63.
- Freeman, J. L., Garcia, D., Kim, D., Hopf, A., and Salt, D. E. (2005a). Constitutively elevated salicylic acid signals glutathione-mediated nickel tolerance in Thlaspi nickel hyperaccumulators. *Plant Physiol.* **137**, 1082–1091.
- Freeman, J. L., Persans, M. W., Nieman, K., Albrecht, C., Peer, W., Pickering, I. J., and Salt, D. E. (2004). Increased glutathione biosynthesis plays a role in nickel tolerance in Thlaspi nickel hyperaccumulators. *Plant Cell* 16, 2176–2191.
- Freeman, J. L., Persans, M. W., Nieman, K., and Salt, D. E. (2005b). Nickel and cobalt resistance engineered in *Escherichia coli* by overexpression of serine acetyltransferase from the nickel hyperaccumulator plant *Thlaspi goesingense*. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 71, 8627–8633.
- Freeman, J. L., Zhang, L. H., Marcus, M. A., Fakra, S., McGrath, S. P., and Pilon-Smits, E. A. H. (2006). Spatial imaging, speciation and quantification of Se in the hyperaccumulator plants Astragalus bisulcatus and Stanleya pinnata. *Plant Physiol.* 142, 124–134.
- Frey, B., Keller, C., Zierold, K., and Schulin, R. (2000). Distribution of Zn in functionally different leaf epidermal cells in the hyperaccumulator *Thlaspi caerulescens*. *Plant. Cell. Environ.* 23, 675–687.
- Fulkerson, J. F., Garner, R. M., and Mobley, H. L. T. (1998a). Conserved residues and motifs in the nixA protein of Helicobacter pylori are critical for the high affinity transport of nickelions. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 235–241.
- Fulkerson, J. F., Garner, R. M., and Mobley, H. L. T. (1998b). Conserved residues and motifs in the nixA protein of increasing Ni soil levels in leaves of the Ni hyperaccumulator Alyssum murale. *Plant Soil* 265, 225–242.
- Gadd, G. M. (2006). Microorganisms in toxic metal-polluted soils. In F. Buscot, and A. Varma (Eds.), Microorganisms in Soils: Roles in genesis and functions. Soil Biology (pp. 1-69). Berlin, Heidelberg. German: Springer-Verlag, Vol. 3.
- Gajewska, E., and Skłodowska, M. (2007). Effect of nickel on ROS content and antioxidative enzyme activities in wheat leaves. *Bio. Metals* 20, 27–36.

- Gajewska, E., and Skłodowska, M. (2009). Nickel-induced changes in nitrogen metabolism in wheat shoots. J. Plant Physiol. 166, 1034–1044.
- Gajewska, E., and Skłodowska, M. (2010). Differential effect of equal copper, cadmium and nickel concentration on biochemical reactions in wheat seedlings. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* 73, 996–1003.
- Gajewska, E., Skłodowska, M., Slaba, M., and Mazur, J. (2006). Effect of nickel on antioxidative enzyme activities, proline and chlorophyll contents in wheat shoots. *Biol. Plant* 50, 653–659.
- Garrett, R. G. (2000). Natural sources of metals in the environment. In J. A. Centeno, P. Collery, G. Fernet, R. B. Finkelman, H. Gibb, and J. C. Etienne (Eds.), Metals in Biology and Medicine 6 (pp. 508–510). Paris: John Libbey Eurotext.
- Gaymard, F. (1998). Identification and disruption of a plant shaker like outward channel involved in K<sup>+</sup> release into xylem sap. *Cell* **94**, 647–655.
- Gendre, D., Czernic, P., Conéjéro, G., Pianelli, K., Briat, J., and Lebrun, M. (2007). TcYSL3, a member of the YSL gene family from the hyper-accumulator *Thlaspi caerulescens*, encodes a nicotianamine-Ni/Fe transporter. *Plant J.* **49**, 1–15.
- Gentry, T. J., Rensing, C., and Ian, L. P. (2004). New approaches for bioaugmentation as a remediation technology. *Crit. Rev. Env. Sci. Tec.* **34**, 447–494.
- Gerendás, J., and Sattelmacher, B. (1999). Influence of Ni supply on growth and nitrogen metabolism of Brassica napus L. grown with NH<sub>4</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> or urea as N source. *Ann. Bot.* 83, 65–71.
- Ghaderian, Y. S. M., Lyon, A. J. E., and Baker, A. J. M. (2000). Seedling mortality of metal hyperaccumulator plants resulting from damping off by Pythium spp. *New Phyto.* 146, 219–224.
- Ghasemi, R., and Ghaderian, S. M. (2009). Responses of two populations of an Iranian nickel-hyperaccumulating serpentine plant, Alyssum inflatum Nyar to substrate Ca/ Mg quotient and nickel. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* 67, 260–268.
- Gikas, P. (2008). Single and combined effects of nickel (Ni(II)) and cobalt (Co(II)) ions on activated sludge and on other aerobic microorganisms: A review. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **159**, 187–203.
- Gimeno-García, E., Andreu, V., and Boluda, R. (1996). Heavy metals incidence in the application of inorganic fertilizers and pesticides to rice farming soils. *Environ. Pollut.* 92, 19–25.
- Gisbert, C., Ros, R., and De, Haro (2003). A plant genetically modified that accumulates Pb is especially promising for phytoremediation. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **303**, 440–445.
- Glass, D. J. (2000). Economic potential of phytoremediation. In I. Raskin, and B. D. Ensley (Eds.), Phytoremediation of Toxic Metals: Using Plants to Clean Up the Environment (pp. 15–31). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley and Sons Inc., New York, USA.
- Gleba, D., Borisjuk, N. B., and Borisjuk, L. B. (1999). Use of plant roots for phytoremediation and molecular farming. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 96, 5973–5977.
- Glick, B. R., Penrose, D. M., and Li, J. (1998). A model for the lowering of plant ethylene concentrations by plant growth promoting bacteria. *J. Theor. Biol.* **190**, 63–68.
- Glick, B. R. (2010). Using soil bacteria to facilitate phytoremediation. *Biotechnol. Adv.* 28, 367–374.
- Graham, R. D., and Webb, M. J. (1991). Micronutrients and disease resistance and tolerance in plants. *In J. J. Mortvedt*, F. R. Cox, L. M. Shuman, and R. M. Welch (Eds.), *Micronutrients in Agriculture* (2nd ed.). (pp. 329–370) Soil Science Society of America.
- Gramlicha, A., Moradi, A. B., Robinson, B. H., Kaestnerd, A., and Schulin, R. (2011). Dimethylglyoxime (DMG) staining for semi-quantitative mapping of Ni in plant Tissue. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* **71**, 232–240.

- Grčman, H., Velikonja-Bolta, Š, Vodnik, D., Kos, B., and Lestan, D. (2001). EDTA enhanced heavy metal phytoextraction: metal accumulation leaching and toxicity. *Plant Soil* **235**, 105–114.
- Gries, G., and Wagner, G. J. (1998). Association of nickel versus transport of cadmium and calcium in tonoplast vesicles of oat roots. *Planta* **204**, 390–396.
- Grovenor, C. R. M., Smart, K. E., Kilburn, M. R., Shore, B., Dilworth, J. R., Martin, B., Hawes, C., and Rickaby, R. E. M. (2006). Specimen preparation for NanoSIMS analysis of biological materials. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* 252, 6917–6924.
- Guerinot, M. L. (2000). The ZIP family of metal transporters. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1465, 190–198.
- Guerinot, M. L., and Salt, D. E. (2001). Fortified foods and phytoremediation: Two sides of the same coin. *Plant Physiol.* **125**, 164–167.
- Guo, Y., and Marschner, H. (1995). Uptake, distribution, and binding of cadmium and nickel in different plant species. J. Plant Nutr. 18, 2691–2706.
- Gupta, A., Meyer, J. M., and Goel, R. (2002). Development of heavy metal resistant mutants of phosphate solubilizing Pseudomonas sp. NBRI4014 and their characterization. *Curr. Microbiol.* 45, 323–327.
- Gustin, J. L., Loureiro, M. E., Kim, D., Na, G., Tikhonova, M., and Salt, D. E. (2009). MTP1-dependent Zn sequestration into shoot vacuoles suggests dual roles in Zn tolerance and accumulation in Zn hyperaccumulating plants. *Plant J.* 57, 1116–1127.
- Hale, K. L., McGrath, S., Lomb, E., Stack, S., Terry, N., and Pickerin, G. I. J. (2001). Molybdenum sequestration in rassica: A role for anthocyanins. *Plant Physiol.* 126, 1391–1402.
- Hall, J. A., Peirson, D., Ghosh, S., and Glick, B. R. (1996). Root elongation in various agronomic crops by the plant growth promoting rhizobacterium Pseudomonas putida GR12-2 Israel. J. Plant Sci. 44, 37–42.
- Hall, J. L. (2002). Cellular mechanisms for heavy metal detoxification and tolerance. J. Exp. Bot. 53, 1–11.
- Hall, J. L., and Williams, L. E. (2003). Transition metal transporters in plants. J. Exp. Bot. 54, 2601–2613.
- Hallmann, J., Quadt-Hallmann, A., Mahaffee, W. F., and Kloepper, J. W. (1997). Bacterial endophytes in agricultural crops. *Can. J. Microbiol.* 43, 895–914.
- Hammond, J. P., Bowen, H. C., White, P. J., Mills, V., Pyke, K. A., Baker, A. J. M., Whiting, S. N., May, S. T., and Broadley, M. R. (2006). A comparison of the *Thlaspi* caerulescens and *Thlaspi arvense* shoot transcriptomes. New Phytol. **170**, 239–260.
- Hanikenne, M., and Nouet, C. (2011). Metal hyperaccumulation and hypertolerance: A model for plant evolutionary genomics. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* **14**, 252–259.
- Hanikenne, M., Talke, I. N., Haydon, M. J., Lanz, C., Nolte, A., Motte, P., Kroymann, J., Weigel, D., and Krämer, U. (2008). Evolution of metal hyperaccumulation required cisregulatory changes and triplication of HMA4. *Nature* 453, 391–395.
- Harish, Sundaramoorthy, S., Kumar, D., and Vaijapurkar, S. G. (2008). A new chlorophycean nickel hyperaccumulator. *Biores. Technol.* 99, 3930–3934.
- Hasselgren, K. (1999). Utilisation of sewage sludge in short-rotation energy forestry: A pilot study. Waste Manage Res. 17, 251–262.
- Hausinger, R. (1990). Mechanisms of metal ion incorporation into metalloproteins. *Biofactors* 2, 179–184.
- Hausinger, R. P., Eichhorn, G. L., and Marzilli, L. G. (1996). *Mechanisms of Metallocenter Assembly*. New York, USA: VCH Publishers.
- Heath, S. M., Southworth, D., and D'Allura, J. A. (1997). Localization of nickel in epidermal subsidiary cells of leaves of Thlaspi montanum var siskiyouense (Brassicaceae) using Energy-Dispersive X-Ray Microanalysis. *Int. J.Plant Sci.* **158**, 184–188.

- Holmgren, G. G. S., Meyer, M. W., Chaney, R. L., and Daniel, R. B. (1993). Cadmium, lead, zinc, and nickel in agricultural soils of the United States of America. J. Environ. Qual. 22, 335–348.
- Hong, H. S., Wang, M. H., Huang, X. G., and Wang, D. Z. (2009). Effects of macronutrient additions on nickel uptake and distribution in the dinoflagellate Prorocentrum donghaiense Lu. *Environ. Pollut.* 157, 1933–1938.
- Hooda, P. S., and Alloway, B. J. (1996). The effect of liming on heavy metal concentrations in wheat, carrots and spinach. J. Agric. Sci. Cambridge 127, 289–294.
- Hsiao, K. H., Kao, P. H., and Hseu, Z. Y. (2007). Effects of chelators on chromium and nickel uptake by Brassica juncea on serpentine-mine tailings for phytoextraction. J. Hazard. Mater. 148, 366–376.
- Huang, J. W., and Chen, J. (2003). Role of pH in phyroremediation of contaminated soils. In Z. Rengel (Ed.), Handbook of Soil Acidity (pp. 407–430). New York, USA: Marcel Dekker, Inc.
- Huang, J. W., Chen, J. J., Berti, W. R., and Cunningham, S. D. (1997). Phytoremediation of lead-contaminated soils: role of synthetic chelates in lead phytoextraction. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **31**, 800–805.
- Idris, R., Trifanova, R., Puschenreiter, M., Wenzel, W. W., and Sessitsch, A. (2004). Bacterial communities associated with flowering plants of the nickel hyperaccumulator *Thlapsi* goesingense. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **70**, 2667–2677.
- Iljin, V. (1991). *Heavy Metals in the Plant-Soil System*. Novosibirsk, Russia: Publishing House Nauka.
- Ingle, R. A., Fricker, M. D., and Smith, J. A. C. (2008). Evidence for nickel/proton antiport activity at the tonoplast of the hyperaccumulator plant *Alyssum lesbiacum*. *Plant Biol.* 10, 746–753.
- Ingle, R. A., Mugford, S. T., Rees, J. D., Campbell, M. M., and Smith, J. A. C. (2005). Constitutively high expression of the histidine biosynthetic pathway contributes to nickel tolerance in hyperaccumulator plants. *Plant. Cell.* **17**, 2089–2106.
- Israr, M., Jewell, A., Kumar, D., and Sahi, S. V. (2011). Interactive effects of lead, copper, nickel and zinc on growth, metal uptake and antioxidative metabolism of Sesbania drummondii. J. Hazard. Mater. 186, 1520–1526.
- Izosimova, A. (2005). Modelling the interaction between calcium and nickel in the soilplant system. FAL Agric. Res. Special issue 288, 99.
- Jaffré, T., and Schmid, M. (1974). Accumulation du nickel par une Rubiacée de Nouvelle-Calédonie: Psychotria douarrei (Beauv.) Däniker. Compt. Rend. Acad. Sci. Paris, sér. 278, 1727–1730.
- Jaffré, T., Brooks, R. R., Lee, J., and Reeves, R. D. (1976). Sebertia acuminata: A hyperaccumulator of nickel from New Caledonia. Science **193**, 579–580.
- Janicka-Russak, M., Kabała, K., Burzyński, M., and Kłobus, G. (2008). Response of plasma membrane H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase to heavy metal stress in *Cucumis sativus* roots. J. Exp. Bot. 59, 3721–3728.
- Jean, L., Bordas, F., and Bollinger, J. C. (2007). Chromium and nickel mobilization from a contaminated soil using chelants. *Environ. Pollut.* **147**, 729–736.
- Jean, L., Bordas, F., Gautier-Moussard, C., Vernay, P., Hitmi, A., and Bollinger, J. C. (2008). Effect of citric acid and EDTA on chromium and nickel uptake and translocation by *Datura innoxia. Environ. Pollut.* **153**, 555–563.
- Jhee, E. M., Boyd, R. S., and Eubanks, M. D. (2006). Effectiveness of metal-metal and metal-organic compounds combinations against Plutella xylostella (Lepidoptera: Plutellidae): implication for plant elemental defence. J. Chem. Ecol. 32, 239–259.
- Kabała, K., and Janicka-Russak, M. (2011). Differential regulation of vacuolar H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase and H<sup>+</sup>-PPase in *Cucumis sativus* roots by zinc and nickel. *Plant Sci.* **180**, 531–539.

- Kabała, K., Janicka-Russak, M., Burzyński, M., and Kłobus, G. (2008). Comparison of heavy metal effect on the proton pumps of plasma membrane and tonoplast in cucumber root cells. J. Plant Physiol. 165, 278–288.
- Kabata-Pendias, A., and Pendias, H. (1992). Trace Elements in Soil and Plants (2nd ed.). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Kachenko, A. G., Singh, B., Bhatia, N. P., and Siegele, R. (2008). Quantitative elemental localisation in leaves and stems of nickel hyperaccumulating shrub *Hybanthus floribundus* subsp. Floribundus using micro-PIXE spectroscopy. *Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res.* B 266, 667–676.
- Karenlampi, S., Schat, H., Vangronsveld, J., Verkleij, J. A. C., van der Lelie, D., Mergeay, M., and Tervahauta, A. I. (2000). Genetic engineering in the improvement of plants for phytoremediation of metal polluted soils. *Environ. Pollut.* **107**, 225–231.
- Karimian, N. (1995). Effect of nitrogen and phosphorous on Zn nutrition of corn in a calcareous soil. J. Plant Nutr. 18, 226–231.
- Kaszuba, M., and Hunt, G. R. A. (1990). Protection against membrane damage: A HNMR investigation of the effect of Zn<sup>2+</sup> and Ca<sup>2+</sup> on the permeability of phospholipids vesicles. J. Inorg. Biochem. 40, 217–225.
- Kawashima, C. G., Noji, M., Nakamura, M., Ogra, Y., Suzuki, K. T., and Saito, K. (2004). Heavy metal tolerance of transgenic tobacco plants over-expressing cysteine synthase. *Biotechnol. Lett.* 26, 153–157.
- Kazemi, N., Khavari-Nejad, R. A., Fahimi, H., Saadatmand, S., and Nejad-Sattari, T. (2010). Effects of exogenous salicylic acid and nitric oxide on lipid peroxidation and antioxidant enzyme activities in leaves of Brassica napus L. under nickel stress. *Scientia Hortic–Amsterdam* 126, 402–407.
- Keller, C., and Hammer, D. (2004). Metal availability and soil toxicity after repeated cropping of *Thlaspi caerulescens* populations grown in hydroponics are related to plant uptake characteristics in the field. *Funct. Plant Biol.* **33**, 673–684.
- Keller, C., Hammer, D., Kayser, A., Richner, W., Brodbeck, M., and Sennhauser, M. (2003). Root development and heavy metal phytoextraction efficiency: Comparison of different plant species in the field. *Plant Soil* 249, 67–81.
- Keller, C., Ludwig, C., Davli, F., and Wochele, J. (2005). Thermal treatment of metal enriched biomass produced from heavy metal phytoextraction. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 39, 3359–3367.
- Kennedy, C. D., and Gonsalves, F. A. N. (1989). The action of divalent Zn, Cd, Hg, Cu and Pb ions on the ATPase activity of plasma membrane fraction isolated from roots of Zea mays. *Plant Soil* **117**, 167–175.
- Kerkeb, L., and Krämer, U. (2003). The role of free histidine in xylem loading of nickel in Alyssum lesbiacum and Brassica juncea. Plant Physiol. 131, 716–724.
- Kerkeb, L., Donaire, J. P., Venema, K., and Rodríguez-Rosales, M. P. (2001). Tolerance to NaCl induces changes in plasma membrane lipid composition, fluidity and H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase activity of tomato calli. *Physiol. Plant* **113**, 217–224.
- Kersten, W. J., Brooks, R. R., Reeves, R. G., and Jaffré, T. (1980). Nature of nickel complexes in *Psychotria douarrei* and other nickel-accumulating plants. *Phytochemistry* 19, 1963–1965.
- Kevrešan, S., Petrović, N., Popović, M., and Kandrač, J. (1998). Effect of heavy metals on nitrate and protein metabolism in sugar beet. *Biol. Plant.* 41, 235–240.
- Kidd, P. S. C., and Monterroso, C. (2005). Metal extraction by Alyssum serpyllifolium ssp. Lusitanicum on mine-spoil soils from Spain. Sci. Total. Environ. 336, 1–11.
- Kim, D., Gustin, J. L., Loureiro, M. E., Na, G., Tikhonova, M., and Salt, D. E. (2004). The plant CDF family member TgMTP1 from the Ni/Zn hyperaccumulator *Thlaspi goesin*gense acts to enhance efflux of Zn at the plasma membrane when expressed in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Plant J.* **39**, 237–251.

# Author's personal copy

- Kochian, L. V. (1991). Mechanisms of micronutrient uptake and translocation in plants. In J. J. Mortvedt, F. R. Cox, L. R. Shuman, and R. M. Welch (Eds.), Micronutrients in Agriculture (pp. 229–296). Madison, WI, USA: SSSA Inc, SSSA Book Series Number 4.
- Korner, L. E., Moller, I. M., and Jensen, P. (1986). Free space uptake and influx of Ni<sup>2+</sup> in excised barley roots. *Physiol. Plant* **68**, 583–588.
- Kopittke, P. M., Asher, C. J., and Menzies, N. W. (2007). Toxic effects of Ni<sup>2+</sup> on growth of cowpea (Vigna unguiculata). *Plant Soil* 292, 283–289.
- Koppolu, L., and Clements, L. D. (2003). Pyrolysis as a technique for separating heavy metals from hyperaccumulators. Part 1: Preparation of synthetic hyperaccumulator biomass. *Biomass Bioenergy* 24, 69–79.
- Kotrba, P., Najmanova, J., Macek, T., Ruml, T., and Mackova, M. (2009). Genetically modified plants in phytoremediation of heavy metal and metalloid soil and sediment pollution. *Biotechnol. Adv.* 27, 799–810.
- Kovacik, J., Gruz, J., Backor, M., Strnad, M., and Repcak, M. (2009). Salicylic acid-induced changes to growth and phenolic metabolism in Matricaria chamomilla plants. *Plant Cell. Rep.* 28, 135–143.
- Krämer, J. C. U., Cotter-Howells, J. D., Charnock, J. M., Baker, A. J. M., and Smith, J. A. C. (1996). Free histidine as a metal chelator in plants that accumulate nickel. *Nature* 379, 635–638.
- Krämer, U. (2005). Phytoremediation: novel approaches to cleaning up polluted soils. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* 16, 133–141.
- Krämer, U. (2010). Metal hyperaccumulation in plants. Annu. Rev. Plant. Biol. 61, 517–534.
- Krämer, U., Grime, G. W., Smith, J. A. C., Hawes, C. R., and Baker, A. J. M. (1997). Micro-PIXE as a technique for studying nickel localization in leaves of the hyperaccumulator plant *Alyssum lesbiacum*. *Nucl. Instrum. Meth. Phys. Res., Sect. B* **130**, 346–350.
- Krämer, U., Pickering, I. J., Prince, R. C., Raskin, I., and Salt, D. E. (2000). Subcellular localization and speciation of nickel in hyperaccumulator and non-accumulator Thlaspi species. *Plant Physiol.* **122**, 1343–1354.
- Krämer, U., Talke, I. N., and Hanikenne, M. (2007). Transition metal transport. FEBS Lett. 581, 2263–2272.
- Kukier, U., and Chaney, R. L. (2001). Amelioration of nickel phytotoxicity in muck and mineral soils. J. Environ. Qual. 30, 1949–1960.
- Kukier, U., Peters, C. A., Chaney, R. L., Angle, J. S., and Roseberg, R. J. (2004). The effect of pH on metal accumulation in two Alyssum species. *J. Environ. Qual.* 33, 2090–2102.
- Kukkola, E., and Huttunen, S. (1998). Structural observations on needles exposed to elevated levels of copper and nickel. *Chemosphere* **36**, 727–732.
- Kumar, K., Singh, N., Behlh, H. M., and Srivastava, S. (2008). Influence of plant growth promoting bacteria and its mutant on heavy metal toxicity in Brassica juncea grown in fly ash amended soil. *Chemosphere* **72**, 678–683.
- Kumar, K. V., Srivastava, S., Singh, N., and Behl, H. M. (2009). Role of metal resistant plant growth promoting bacteria in ameliorating fly ash to the growth of Brassica juncea. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **170**, 51–57.
- Kumar, P., Tewari, R. K., and Sharma, P. N. (2007). Excess nickel-induced changes in antioxidative processes in maize leaves. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 170, 796–802.
- Küpper, H., Lombi, E., Zhao, F. J., and McGrath, S. P. (2000). Cellular compartmentation of cadmium and zinc in relation to other elements in the hyperaccumulator Arabidopsis halleri. *Talanta* **212**, 75–84.

- Küpper, H., Lombi, E., Zhao, F. J., Wieshammer, G., and McGrath, S. P. (2001). Cellular compartmentation of nickel in the hyperaccumulators *Alyssum lesbiacum*, *Alyssum bertolo*nii and *Thlaspi goesingense*. J. Exp. Bot. **52**, 2291–2300.
- Lai, H. Y., and Chen, Z. S. (2005). The EDTA effect on phytoextraction of single and combined metals-contaminated soils using rainbow pink (Dianthus chinensis). *Chemo-sphere* **60**, 1062–1071.
- Lasat, M. (2002). Phytoremediation of toxic metals: biological mechanisms. J. Environ. Qual. 31, 109–120.
- Lasat, M. M., Pence, N. S., Garvin, D. F., Abbs, S. D., and Kochian, L. V. (2000). Molecular physiology of zinc transport in the Zn hyperaccumulator *Thlaspi caerulescens*. J. Exp. Bot. 51, 71–79.
- L'Huiller, L., d'Auzac, J., Durand, M., and Michaud-Ferriere, N. (1996). Nickel effects on two maize (Zea mays) cultivars: growth structures, Ni concentration, and localization. *Can. J. Bot.* 74, 1547–1554.
- Lebeau, T., Braud, A., and Jézéquel, K. (2008). Performance of bioaugmentation-assisted phytoextraction applied to metal contaminated soils: A review. *Environ. Pollut.* 153, 497–522.
- Lee, J., Reeves, R. G., Brooks, R. R., and Jaffré, T. (1977). Isolation and identification of a citrato-complex of nickel from nickel-accumulating plants. *Phytochemistry* 16, 1503–1505.
- Lee, J., Reeves, R. G., Brooks, R. R., and Jaffré, T. (1978). The relation between nickel and citric acid in some nickel-accumulating plants. *Phytochemistry* 17, 1033–1035.
- Lee, S., Flores-Encarnacion, M., Contreras-Zentella, M., Garcia-Flores, L., Escamilla, J. E., and Kennedy, C. (2004). Indole-3-acetic acid biosynthesis is deficient in Gluconacetobacter diazotrophicus strains with mutations in cytochrome c biogenesis genes. J. Bacteriol. 186, 5384–5391.
- Li, B., Zhang, H., Ma, Y., and McLaughlin, M. J. (2011). Influences of soil properties and leaching on nickel toxicity to barley root elongation. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* 74, 459–466.
- Li, T. Q., Yang, X. E., He, Z. L., Yang, J., and Long, X. X. (2006). Zn accumulation and subcellular distribution in leaves of Zn hyperaccumulator species of Sedum alfredii Hance. *Pedosphere* 16, 616–623.
- Li, Y. M., Chaney, R. L., Brewer, E. P., Angle, J. S., and Nelkin, J. (2003a). Phytoextraction of nickel and cobalt by hyperaccumulator Alyssum species grown on nickel contaminated soils. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 37, 1463–1468.
- Li, Y. M., Chaney, R. L., Brewer, E. P., Roseberg, R. J., Angle, J. S., Baker, A. J. M., Reeves, R. D., and Nelkin, J. (2003b). Development of a technology for commercial phytoextraction of nickel: Economic and technical considerations. *Plant Soil* 249, 107–115.
- Lin, Y. C., and Kao, C. H. (2007). Proline accumulation induced by excess nickel in detached rice leaves. *Biol. Plant.* 51, 351–354.
- Linacre, N. A., Whiting, S. N., Baker, A. J. M., Angle, S., and Ades, P. K. (2003). Transgenics and phytoremediation: the need for an integrated risk assessment, management, and communication strategy. *Int. J. Phytorem.* 3, 181–185.
- Liphadzi, M. S., and Kirkham, M. B. (2006). Availability and plant uptake of heavy metals in EDTA-assisted phytoremediation of soil and composted biosolids. S. Afri. J. Bot. 72, 391–397.
- Liphadzi, M. S., Kirkham, M. B., Mankin, K. R., and Paulsen, G. M. (2003). EDTA assisted heavy metals uptake by poplar and sunflower grown at a long-term sewage-sludge farm. *Plant Soil* 257, 171–182.
- Lodewyckx, C., Taghavi, S., Mergeay, M., Vangronsveld, J., Clijsters, H., and van der Lelie, D. (2001). The effect of recombinant heavy metal resistant endophytic bacteria in heavy metal uptake by their host plant. *Int. J. Phytoremediat.* 3, 173–187.

- Lombi, E., Zhao, F. J., Dunham, S. J., and McGrath, S. P. (2001). Phytoremediation of heavy metalcontaminated soils: natural hyperaccumulation versus chemically enhanced phytoextraction. J. Environ. Qual. 30, 1919–1926.
- Lopez, A., Lazaro, N., Morales, S., and Margues, A. M. (2002). Nickel biosorption by free and immobilized cells of Pseudomonas fluorescens 4F39: a comparative study. *Water. Air.Soil. Pollut.* 135, 157–172.
- Luo, C. L., Shen, Z. G., and Li, X. D. (2005). Enhanced phytoextraction of Cu, Pb, Zn and Cd with EDTA and EDDS. *Chemosphere* **59**, 1–11.
- Ma, J. F., Ueno, D., Zhao, F. J., and McGrath, S. P. (2005). Subcellular localisation of Cd and Zn in the leaves of a Cd-hyperaccumulating ecotype of *Thlaspi caerulescens*. *Planta* 220, 731–736.
- Ma, Y., Prasad, M. N. V., Rajkumar, M., and Freitas, H. (2011). Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria and endophytes accelerate phytoremediation of metalliferous soils. *Biotechnol. Adv.* 29, 248–258.
- Ma, Y., Rajkumar, M., and Freitas, H. (2009a). Improvement of plant growth and nickel uptake by nickel resistant-plant-growth promoting bacteria. J. Hazard. Mater. 166, 1154–1161.
- Ma, Y., Rajkumar, M., and Freitas, H. (2009b). Isolation and characterization of Ni mobilizing PGPB from serpentine soils and their potential in promoting plant growth and Ni accumulation by Brassica spp. *Chemosphere* **75**, 719–725.
- Madhaiyan, M., Poonguzhali, S., and Sa, T. (2007). Metal tolerating methylotrophic bacteria reduces nickel and cadmium toxicity and promotes plant growth of tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum L.). *Chemosphere* **69**, 220–228.
- Madhava Rao, K. V., and Sresty, T. V. (2000). Antioxidative parameters in the seedlings of pigeonpea (*Cajanus cajan* L. Millspaugh) in response to Zn and Ni stresses. *Plant Sci.* 157, 113–128.
- Madrid, F., and Kirkham, M. B. (2002). Heavy Metal Uptake by Barley and Sunflower Grown in Abandoned Animal Lagoon Soil. pp. 401. Proceedings of the 17th WCSS World Congres of Soil Science, Bangkok, Thailand, Symposium 42.
- Maestri, E., Marmiroli, M., Visioli, G., and Marmiroli, N. (2010). Metal tolerance and hyperaccumulation: Costs and trade-offs between traits and environment. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* 68, 1–13.
- Mari, S., Gendre, D., Pianelli, K., Ouerdane, L., Lobinski, R., Briat, J. F., Lebrun, M., and Czernic, P. (2006). Root-to-shoot long-distance circulation of nicotianamine and nicotianamine-nickel chelates in the metal hyperaccumulator *Thlaspi caerulescens*. J. Exp. Bot. 57, 4111–4122.
- Marmiroli, M., Gonelli, C., Maestri, E., Gabbrielli, R., and Marmiroli, N. (2004). Localisation of nickel and mineral nutrients Ca, K, Fe, Mg with scanning electron microscopy microanalysis in tissues of the nickel-hyperaccumulator *Alyssum bertolonii* Desv. and the non-accumulator Alyssum montanum L. *Plant Biosyst.* **138**, 231–243.
- Marques, A. P. G. C., Moreira, H., Rangel, A. O. S. S., and Castro, P. M. L. (2009). Arsenic, lead and nickel accumulation in Rubus ulmifolius growing in contaminated soil in Portugal. J. Hazard. Mater. 165, 174–179.
- Marschner, H. (1995). *Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants* (2nd ed.). London, UK: Academic Press.
- Martinoia, E., Klein, M., Geisler, M., Bovet, L., Forestier, C., Kolukisaoglu, U., Muller-Rober, B., and Schulz, B. (2002). Multifunctionality of plant ABC transporters-more than just detoxifiers. *Planta* 214, 345–355.
- Martinoia, E., Maeshima, M., and Neuhaus, H. E. (2007). Vacuolar transporters and their essential role in plant metabolism. J. Exp. Bot. 58, 83–102.
- Matysik, J., Bhalu, Alia., and Mohanty, B. P. (2002). Molecular mechanisms of quenching of reactive oxygen species by proline under stress in plants. *Curr. Sci.* 82, 525–532.

- McGrath, S. P. (1995). Chromium and nickel. In B. J. Alloway (Ed.), Heavy Metals in Soils (2nd ed.). (pp. 152–178) Glasgow, UK: Blackie.
- McGrath, S. P., Zhao, F. J., and Lombi, E. (2002). Phytoremediation of metals, metalloids and radionuclides. Adv. Agron. 75, 1–56.
- McLaughlin, D. (2002). Soil Investigation and Human Health Risk Assessment for the Rodney Street Community, Port Colborne. Toronto: Queen's Printer for Ontario. Ontario Ministry of the Environment, March 2002.
- McNear, D. H., Jr., Chaney, R. L., and Sparks, D. L. (2010). The hyperaccumulator Alyssum murale uses complexation with nitrogen and oxygen donor ligands for Ni transport and storage. *Phytochemistry* 71, 188–200.
- McNear, D. H., Jr., Peltier, E., Everhart, J., Chaney, R. L., Sutton, S., Newville, M., Rivers, M., and Sparks, D. L. (2005). Application of quantitative fluorescence and absorptionedge computed microtomography to image metal compartmentalization in Alyssum murale. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **39**, 2210–2218.
- Meers, E., Hopgood, M., Lesage, E., Tack, F. M. G., and Verloo, M. G. (2004). Enhanced phytoextraction: in search for EDTA alternatives. *Int. J. Phytoremediat.* 6, 95–109.
- Meers, E., Ruttens, A., Hopgood, M., Lesage, E., and Tack, F. M. G. (2005b). Potential of Brassica rapa, Cannabis sativa, Helianthus annuus and Zea mays for phytoextraction of heavy metals from calcareous dredged sediment derived soils. *Chemosphere* 61, 561–572.
- Meers, E., Ruttens, A., Hopgood, M., Samson, D., and Tack, F. M. G. (2005a). Comparison of EDTA and EDDS as potential soil amendments for enhanced phytoextraction of heavy metals. *Chemosphere* 58, 1011–1022.
- Meers, E., Vandecasteele, B., Ruttens, A., Vangronsveld, J., and Tack, F. M. G. (2007). Potential of five willow species (Salix spp.) for phytoextraction of heavy metals. *J. Exp. Environ. Bot.* **120**, 243–267.
- Mench, M., Lepp, N., Bert, V., Schwitzguébel, J. P., Gawronski, S. W., Schröder, P., and Vangronsveld, J. (2010). Successes and limitations of phytotechnologies at field scale: outcomes, assessment and outlook from COST Action 859. J. Soils Sediment. 10, 1039–1070.
- Mesjasz–Przybylowicz, J., Balkwill, K., Przybylowicz, W. J., and Annegarn, H. J. (1994). Proton microprobe and X-ray fluorescence investigations of nickel distribution in serpentine flora from South Africa. *Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A.* 89, 208–212.
- Mesjasz–Przybylowicz, J., Barnabas, A., and Pryzbylowicz, W. J. (2007). Comparisons of cytology and distribution of nickel in roots of Ni-hyperaccumulating and nonhyperaccumulating genotypes of Senecio coronatus. *Plant Soil* 293, 61–78.
- Mesjasz–Przybylowicz, J., Pryzbylowicz, W. J., and Pineda, C. A. (2001). Nuclear microprobe studies of elemental distribution in apical leaves of the Ni hyperaccumulator Berkheya coddii. S. Afr. J. Sci. 97, 591–593.
- Millar, A. H., Mittova, V., Kiddle, G., Heazlewood, J. L., Bartoli, C. G., Theodoulou, F. L., and Foyer, C. H. (2003). Control of ascorbate synthesis by respiration and its implications for stress responses. *Plant Physiol.* **133**, 443–447.
- Mitchell-Olds, T., Willis, J. H., and Goldstein, D. B. (2007). Which evolutionary processes influence natural genetic variation for phenotypic traits? *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 8, 845–856.
- Mizuno, N., Nosako, S., Mizuno, T., Horie, K., and Obata, H. (2003). Distribution of Ni and Zn in the leaves of *Thlaspi japonicum* growing on ultramafic soil. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 49, 93–97.
- Mizuno, T., Usui, K., Horie, K., Nosaka, S., Mizuno, N., and Obata, H. (2005). Cloning of three ZIP/Nramp transporter genes from a Ni hyperaccumulator plant *Thlaspi japonicum* and their Ni<sup>2+</sup> transport abilities. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.* **43**, 793–801.
- Mizuno, T., Usui, K., Nishida, S., Unno, T., and Obata, H. (2007). Investigation of the basis for Ni tolerance conferred by the expression of TjZnt1 and TjZnt2 in yeast strains. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.* 45, 371–378.

- Molas, J. (2002). Changes of chloroplast ultrastructure and total chlorophyll content in cabbage leaves caused by excess of organic Ni(II) complexes. *Environ. Exp.Bot.* **47**, 115–126.
- Montanini, B., Blaudez, D., Jeandroz, S., Sanders, D., and Chalot, M. (2007). Phylogenetic and functional analysis of the Cation Diffusion Facilitator (CDF) family: improved signature and prediction of substrate specificity. *BMC Genomics* 8, 107.
- Montargès-Pelletier, E., Chardot, V., Echevarria, G., Michot, L. J., Bauer, A., and Morel, J. L. (2008). Identification of nickel chelators in three hyperaccumulating plants: an X-ray spectroscopic study. *Phytochemistry* **69**, 1695–1709.
- Moradi, A. B., Swoboda, S., Prohaska, T., Robinson, B. H., Kastner, A., Oswald, S., Wenzel, W. W., and Schulin, R. (2010). Mapping of nickel in root cross-sections of the hyperaccumulator plant Berkheya coddii using laser ablation ICP-MS. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* 69, 24–31.
- Morrison, J. M., Goldhaber, M. B., Lee, L., Holloway, J. M., Wanty, R. B., Wolf, R. E., and Ranville, J. F. (2009). A regional-scale study of chromium and nickel in soils of northern California, USA. *Appl. Geochem.* 24, 1500–1511.
- Morsomme, P., and Boutry, M. (2000). The plant plasma membrane H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase: structure, function and regulation. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta1.* 465, 1–16.
- Mukhopadhyay, S., and Maiti, S. K. (2010). Phytoremediation of metal mine waste. Appl. Ecol. Environ. Res. 8, 207–222.
- Mulligan, C. N., Yong, R. N., and Gibbs, B. F. (2001). Remediation technologies for metal contaminated soil and ground water: An evaluation. *Eng. Geol.* **60**, 193–207.
- Mullineaux, P., and Rausch, T. (2005). Glutathione, photosynthesis and the redox regulation of stress-responsive gene expression. *Photosynth. Res.* 86, 459–474.
- Mulrooney, S. B., and Hausinger, R. P. (2003). Nickel uptake and utilization by microorganisms. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 27, 239–261.
- Munkelt, D., Grass, G., and Nies, D. H. (2004). The chromosomally encoded cation diffusion facilitator proteins DmeF and FieF from *Wautersia metallidurans* CH34 are transporters of broad metal specificity. J. Bacteriol. 186, 8036–8043.
- Muthukumarasamy, R., Revathi, G., Seshadri, S., and Lakshminarsimhan, C. (2002). Glucanacetobacter diazotrophicus (syn. Acetobacter diazotrophicus), a promising diazotrophic endophyte in tropics. *Curr. Sci. India* 83, 137–145.
- Muyssen, B. T. A., Brix, K. V., DeForest, D. K., and Janssen, C. R. (2004). Nickel essentiality and homeostasis in aquatic organisms. *Environ. Rev.* 12, 113–131.
- Nabais, C., Freitas, H., Hagemeyer, J., and Breckle, S. W. (1996). Radial distribution of Ni in stem wood of *Quercus ilex* L. trees growing on serpentine and sandy loam (umbric leptosol) soils of NE-Portugal. *Plant Soil* 183, 181–185.
- Nachtegaal, M., and Sparks, D. L. (2003). Nickel sequestration in a kaolinite-humic acid complex. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 37, 529–534.
- Navari-Izzo, F., and Quartacci, M. F. (2001). Phytoremediation of metals. Tolerance mechanisms against oxidative stress. *Minerva Biotechnol.* 13, 73–83.
- Nedelkoska, T. V., and Doran, P. M. (2000). Characteristics of heavy metal uptake by plant species with potential for phytoremediation and phytomining. *Min. Eng.* 13, 549–561.
- Neumann, D., zur Nieden, U., Lichtenberger, O., and Leopold, I. (1995). How does Armeria maritima tolerate high heavy metal concentration? *J. Plant Physiol.* **146**, 704–717.
- Nicks, L. J., and Chambers, M. F. (1995). Farming for metals. *Min. Environ. Manage.* 3, 15-18.
- Nicks, L. J., and Chambers, M. F. (1998). A pioneering study of the potential of phytomining for Nickel. In R. R. Brooks (Ed.), Plants that Hyperaccumulate Heavy Metals their Role in Phytoremediation, Microbiology, Archaeology, Mineral Exploration and Phytomining (pp. 313–325). Wallingford, Oxon, UK: CAB International.

- Nishimura, F., Watanabe, N., and Tanaka, K. (1998). Back stress and shape recoverability during reverse transformation in an Fe-based shape memory alloy. *Mater. Sci. Eng.* A 247, 275–284.
- Nowack, B., Schulin, R., and Robinson, B. H. (2006). Critical assessment of chelantenhanced metal phytoextraction. *Environ. Sci. Technol* 40, 5225–5232.
- Nyitrai, P., Bóka, K., Gáspár, L., Sárvári, É, and Keresztes, Á (2004). Rejuvenation of ageing bean leaves under the effect of low-dose stressors. *Plant Biol.* 6, 708–714.
- Oomen, R. J. F. J., Wu, J., Lelièvre, F., Blanchet, S., Richaud, P., Barbier-Brygoo, H., Aarts, M. G. M., and Thomine, S. (2009). Functional characterization of NRAMP3 and NRAMP4 from the metal hyperaccumulator *Thlaspi caerulescens*. *New Phytol.* 181, 637–650.
- Ortiz, D. W., Ruscitti, T., McCue, K. F., and Ow, D. W. (1995). Transport of metalbinding peptides by HMT1, a fission yeast ABC-type vacuolar membrane protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270, 4721–4728.
- Ouerdane, L., Mari, S., Czernic, P., Lebrun, M., and Lobinski, R. (2006). Speciation of non-covalent nickel species in plant tissue extracts by electrospray Q-TOFMS/MS after their isolation by 2 D size exclusionhydrophilic interaction LC (SEC-HILIC) monitored by ICP-MS. J. Anal. At. Spectrom. 21, 676–683.
- Ouzounidou, G., Moustakas, M., Symeonidis, L., and Karataglis, S. (2006). Response of wheat seedlings to Ni stress: Effects of supplemental calcium. *Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.* 50, 346–352.
- Oze, C., Fendorf, S., Bird, D. K., and Coleman, R. G. (2004). Chromium geochemistry of serpentinite soils. *Int. Geol. Rev.* 46, 97–126.
- Page, V., and Feller, U. (2005). Selective transport of zinc, manganese, nickel, cobalt and cadmium in the root system and transfer to the leaves in young wheat plants. Ann. Bot-London. 96, 425–434.
- Palmgren, M. G. (2001). Plant plasma membrane H<sup>+</sup>-ATPases: powerhouses for nutrient uptake. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant. Mol. Biol. 52, 817-845.
- Pandey, N., and Sharma, C. P. (2002). Effect of heavy metals Co<sup>2+</sup>, Ni<sup>2+</sup> and Cd<sup>2+</sup> on growth and metabolism of cabbage. *Plant Sci.* **163**, 753–758.
- Patten, C. L., and Glick, R. B. (1996). Bacterial biosynthesis of indole-3-acetic acid. Can. J. Microbiol. 42, 207–220.
- Peer, W. A., Baxter, I. R., Richards, E. L., Freeman, J. L., and Murphy, A. S. (2005). Phytoremediation and hyperaccumulator plants. *In L. W. J. Klomp, E. Martinoia, and M. J. Tamás (Eds.), Molecular Biology of Metal Homeostasis and Detoxification; from Microbes to Man in the Book Series: Topics in Current Genetics.* Berlin, Germany: Springer.
- Peer, W. A., Mahmoudian, M., Lahner, B., Reeves, R. D., Murphy, A. S., and Salt, D. E. (2003). Identifying model metal hyperaccumulating plants: Germplasm analysis of 20 Brassicaceae accessions from a wide geographical area. *New Phytologist.* **159**, 421–430.
- Persans, M. W., Nieman, K., and Salt, D. E. (2001). Functional activity and role of cationefflux family members in Ni hyperaccumulation in *Thlaspi goesingense*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 98, 9995–10000.
- Persans, M. W., Yan, X., Patnoe, J. M. M. L., Kraemer, U., and Salt, D. (1999). Molecular dissection of the role of histidine in nickel hyperaccumulation in *Thlaspi goesingense* (Hálácsy). *Plant Physiol.* **121**, 1117–1126.
- Pilon-Smits, E., and Pilon, M. (2002). Phytoremediation of metals using transgenic plants. *Crit. Rev. Plant Sci.* 21, 439–456.
- Prasad, M. N. V. (2005). Nickelophilous plants and their significance in phytotechnologies. Braz. J. Plant Physiol. 17, 113–128.
- Přibyl, P., Cepak, V., and Zachleder, V. (2008). Cytoskeletal alterations in interphase cells of the green alga Spirogyra decimina in response to heavy metals exposure: II. The effect of aluminium, nickel and copper. *Toxicol. In Vitro* 22, 1160–1168.

# Author's personal copy

- Psaras, G. K., Constantinidis, T., Cotsopoulos, B., and Manetas, Y. (2000). Relative abundance of nickel in the leaf epidermis of eight hyperaccumulators: Evidence that the metal is excluded from both guard cells and trichomes. *Ann. Bot.* 86, 73–78.
- Pulford, I. D., Riddell-Black, D., and Stewart, C. (2002). Heavy metal uptake by willow clones from sewage sludge-treated soil: the potential for phytoremediation. *Int. J. Phy*toremediat. 4, 59–72.
- Puschenreiter, M., Schnepf, A., Molina Millan, I., Fitz, W. J., Horak, O., Klepp, J., Schrefl, T., Lombi, E., and Wenzel, W. W. (2005). Changes of Ni biogeochemistry in the rhizosphere of the hyperaccumulator *Thlaspi goesingense*: Experimental evidence and modeling. *Plant Soil* 271, 205–218.
- Quartacci, M. F., Argilla, A., Baker, A. J. M., and Navari-Izzo, F. (2006). Phytoextraction of metals from a multiply contaminated soil by Indian mustard. *Chemosphere* 63, 918–925.
- Quartacci, M. F., Baker, A. J. M., and Navari-Izzo, F. (2005). Nitrilotriacetate-and citric acidassisted phytoextraction of cadmium by Indian mustard (Brassica juncea L. Czernj, Brassicaceae). *Chemosphere* **59**, 1249–1255.
- Raab, A., Feldman, J., and Meharg, A. A. (2004). The nature of arsenic-phytochelatin complexes in Holcus lanatus and Pteris cretica. *Plant Physiol.* **134**, 1113–1122.
- Rabier, J., Laffont-Schwob, I., Bouraïma-Madjèbi, S., Léon, V., Prudent, P., Viano, J., Nabors, M. W., and Pilon-Smits, E. A. (2007). Characterization of metal tolerance and accumulation in *Grevillea exul* var. exul. *Int. J. Phytoremediat.* 9, 419–435.
- Rabier, J., Laffont-Schwob, I., Notonier, R., Fogliani, B., and Bouraïma-Madjèbi, S. (2008). Anatomical element localization by EDXS in *Grevillea exul* var. exul under nickel stress. *Environ. Pollut.* **156**, 1156–1163.
- Rahman, H. S., Sabreen, S., Alam, S., and Kawai, S. (2005). Effects of Ni on growth and composition of metal micronutrients in barley plants grown in nutrient solution. *J. Plant Nutr.* 28, 393–404.
- Rajkumar, M., Ae, N., and Freitas, H. (2009). Endophytic bacteria and their potential to enhance heavy metal phytoextraction. *Chemosphere* 77, 153–160.
- Rajkumar, M., and Freitas, H. (2008a). Effects of inoculation of plant-growth promoting bacteria on Ni uptake by Indian mustard. *Biores. Technol.* 99, 3491–3498.
- Rajkumar, M., and Freitas, H. (2008b). Influence of metal resistant-plant growthpromoting bacteria on the growth of Ricinus communis in soil contaminated with heavy metals. *Chemosphere* **71**, 834–842.
- Rajkumar, M., Nagendran, R., Lee, K. J., Lee, W. H., and Kim, S. Z. (2006). Influence of plant growth promoting bacteria and Cr<sup>6+</sup> on the growth of Indian mustard. *Chemo-sphere* 62, 741–748.
- Ramsay, L. M., and Gadd, G. M. (1997). Mutants of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* defective in vacuolar function confirm a role for the vacuole in toxic metal ion detoxification. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* **152**, 293–298.
- Rascio, N., and Navari-Izzo, F. (2011). Heavy metal hyperaccumulating plants: How and why do they do it? And what makes them so interesting? *Plant Sci.* 180, 169–181.
- Raskin, I., and Ensley, B. D. (2000). Phytoremediation of Toxic Metals: Using Plants to Clean Up the Environment. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley and Sons Inc., New York, USA.
- Rauser, W. E. (1995). Phytochelatins and related peptides. Plant Physiol. 109, 1141-1149.
- Rautio, P. (2000). Nutrient alterations in Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.) under sulphur and heavy metal pollution. *Acta Univ. Oulu. A.* **353**, 52.
- Redjala, T., Sterckeman, T., Skiker, S., and Echevarria, G. (2010). Contribution of apoplast and symplast to short term nickel uptake by maize and Leptoplax emarginata roots. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* 68, 99–106.
- Reeves, R. D. (1992). The hyperaccumulation of nickel by serpentine plants. In A. J. M. Baker, J. Proctor, and R. D. Reeves (Eds.), *The Vegetation of Ultramafic (serpentine) Soils* (pp. 253–277). Andover, Hampshire, UK: Intercept Ltd.

- Reeves, R. D., and Baker, A. J. M. (2000). In I. Raskin, and B. D. Ensley (Eds.), *Phytore-mediation of Toxic Metals: Using Plants to Clean up the Environment* (pp. 193–229). New York, USA: John Wiley and Sons.
- Reeves, R. D., Brooks, R. R., and MacFarlane, R. M. (1981). Nickel uptake by Californian Streptanthus and Caulanthus with particular reference to the hyperaccumulator *S. poly*galoides Gray (Brassicaceae). Am. J. Bot. 68, 708–712.
- Ribaudo, C., Krumpholz, E. M., Cassán, F. D., Bottini, R., Cantore, M. L., and Curá, J. A. (2006). Azospirillum sp. promotes root hair development in tomato plants through a mechanism that involves ethylene. J. Plant Growth Regul. 25, 175–185.
- Richau, K. H., Kozhevnikova, A. D., Seregin, I. V., Vooijs, R., Koevoets, P. L. M., Smith, J. A. C., Ivanov, V. B., and Schat, H. (2009). Chelation by histidine inhibits the vacuolar sequestration of nickel in roots of the hyperaccumulator *Thlaspi caerulescens*. *New Phytol.* 183, 106–116.
- Riesen, O., and Feller, U. (2005). Redistribution of nickel, cobalt, manganese, zinc and cadmium via the phloem in young and maturing wheat. J. Plant Nutr. 28, 421-430.
- Rieuwerts, J. S., Thornton, I., Farago, M. E., and Ashmore, M. R. (1998). Factors influencing metal bioavailability in soil: Preliminary investigations for the development of a critical loads approach for metals. *Chem. Speciat. Bioavail.* **10**, 61–75.
- Robinson, B. H. (1997). The phytoextraction of heavy metals from metalliferous soils. Ph.D. Thesis. New Zealand: Massey University.
- Robinson, B. H., Brooks, R. R., and Clothier, B. E. (1999a). Soil amendments affecting nickel and cobalt uptake by *Berkheya oddii*: Potential use for phytomining and phytoremediation. Ann. Bot–London. 84, 689–694.
- Robinson, B. H., Brooks, R. R., Gregg, P. E. H., and Kirkman, J. H. (1999b). The nickel phytoextraction potential of some ultramafic soils as determined by sequential extraction. *Geoderma.* 87, 293–304.
- Robinson, B. H., Brooks, R. R., Howes, A. W., Kirkman, J. H., and Gregg, P. E. H. (1997a). The potential of the high-biomass nickel hyperaccumulator *Berkheya coddii* for phytoremediation and phytomining. J. Geochem. Explor. 60, 115–126.
- Robinson, B. H., Chiarucci, A., Brooks, R. R., Petit, D., Kirkman, J. H., Gregg, P. E. H., and de Dominicis, V. (1997b). The nickel hyperaccumulator plant Alyssum bertoloni as a potential agent for phytoremediation and phytomining. *J. Geochem. Explor.* 60, 115–126.
- Robinson, B. H., Lombi, E., Zhao, F. J., and McGrath, S. P. (2003). Uptake and distribution of nickel and other metals in the hyperaccumulator *Berkheya coddii*. *New Phytologist*. 158, 279–285.
- Rocchetta, I., and Kuepper, H. (2009). Chromium- and copper-induced inhibition of photosynthesis in Euglena gracilis analysed on the single-cell level by fluorescence kinetic microscopy. *New Phytol.* **182**, 405–420.
- Rodrigue, A., Effantin, G., and Mandrand-Berthelot, M. A. (2005). Identification of rcnA (yohM), a nickel and cobalt resistance gene in *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. 187, 2912–2916.
- Rodriguez, H., Vessely, S., Shah, S., and Glick, B. R. (2008). Isolation and characterization of nickel resistant Pseudomonas strains and their effect on the growth of non-transformed and transgenic canola plants. *Curr. Microbiol.* 57, 170–174.
- Roitto, M., Rautio, P., Julkunen-Tiitto, R., Kukkola, E., and Huttunen, S. (2005). Changes in the concentrations of phenolics and photosynthates in Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) seedlings exposed to nickel and copper. *Environ. Pollut.* 137, 603–609.
- Rooney, C. P., Zhao, F. J., and McGrath, S. P. (2007). Phytotoxicity of nickel in a range of European soils: influence of soil properties, Ni solubility and speciation. *Environ. Pollut.* 145, 596–605.

- Ros, R., Cooke, D. T., Burden, R. S., and James, C. S. (1990). Effects of the herbicide MCPA, and the heavy metals, cadmium and nickel on the lipid composition, Mg<sup>2+</sup>– ATPase activity and fluidity of plasma membranes from rice, *Oryza sativa* (cv. Bahia) shoots. J. Exp. Bot. **41**, 457–462.
- Ros, R., Cooke, D. T., Martinez-Cortina, C., and Picazo, I. (1992a). Nickel and cadmiumrelated changes in growth, plasma membrane lipid composition, ATPase hydrolytic activity and proton-pumping of rice (*Oryza sativa* L. cv. Bahia) shoots. *J. Exp. Bot.* 43, 1475–1481.
- Ros, R., Morales, A., Segura, J., and Picazo, I. (1992b). In vivo and in vitro effects of nickel and cadmium on the plasmalemma ATPase from rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) shoots and roots. *Plant Sci.* 83, 1–6.
- Ryan, R. P., Germaine, K., Franks, A., Ryan, D. J., and Dowling, D. N. (2008). Bacterial endophytes: Recent developments and applications. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 278, 1–9.
- Sagner, S., Kneer, R., Wanner, G., Cosson, J. P., Deus-Neumann, B., and Zenk, M. H. (1998). Hyperaccumulation, complexation and distribution of nickel in *Sebertia acuminata*. *Phytochemistry* 47, 339–347.
- Salt, D. E., Blaylock, M., Kumar, N. P. B. A., Dusenkov, V., Ensley, B. D., Chet, I., and Raskin, I. (1995a). Phytoremediation: A novel strategy for the removal of toxic metals from the environment using plants. *Biotechnology* 13, 468–474.
- Salt, D. E., Prince, R. C., Pickering, I. J., and Raskin, I. (1995b). Mechanism of cadmium mobility and accumulation in Indian mustard. *Plant Physiol.* **109**, 1426–1433.
- Salt, D. E., Smith, R. D., and Raskin, I. (1998). Phytoremediation. Annu. Rev. Plant. Physiol. Plant. Mol. Biol. 49, 643–668.
- Sander, M. L., and Ericsson, T. (1998). Vertical distributions of plant nutrients and heavy metals in *Salix viminalis* stems and their implications for sampling. *Biomass Bioenergy* 14, 57–66.
- Sarret, G., Vangrsosveld, J., Manceau, A., Musso, M., D'Haen, J., Menthonnex, J. J., and Hazeman, J. L. (2001). Accumulation forms of Zn and Pb in Phaseolus vulgaris in the presence and absence of EDTA. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 35, 2854–2859.
- Sas-Nowosielska, A., Kucharski, R., Malkowski, E., Pogrzeba, M., and Kuperberg, J. M. (2004). Phytoextraction crop disposal-an unsolved problem. *Environ. Pollut.* 128, 373–379.
- Schat, H., Llugany, M., Vooijs, R., Hartley-Whitaker, J., and Bleeker, P. M. (2002). The role of phytochelatins in constitutive and adaptive heavy metal tolerances in hyperaccumulator and non-hyperaccumulator metallophytes. J. Exp. Bot. 53, 2381–2392.
- Schaumlöffel, D., Ouerdane, L., Bouyssiere, B., and Lobinski, R. (2003). Speciation analysis of nickel in the latex of a hyperaccumulating tree *Sebertia acuminata* by HPLC and CZE with ICP MS and electrospray MS-MS detection. J. Anal. At. Spectrom. 18, 120–127.
- Scheckel, K. G., and Sparks, D. L. (2001). Dissolution kinetics of nickel surface precipitates on clay mineral and oxide surfaces. Soil. Sci. Soc. Am. J. 65, 685–694.
- Schulz, B., and Kolukisaoglu, H. U. (2006). Genomics of plant ABC transporters: The alphabet of photosynthetic life forms or just holes in membranes? *FEBS Lett.* 580, 1010–1016.
- Seregin, I. V., and Kozhevnikowa, A. D. (2006). Physiological role of nickel and its toxic effects on higher plants. *Russ. J. Plant Physiol.* 53, 257–277.
- Seregin, I. V., Kozhevnikova, A. D., Kazyumina, E. M., and Ivanov, V. B. (2003). Nickel toxicity and distribution in maize roots. *Russ. J. Plant Physiol.* 50, 793–800.
- Sessitsch, A., Reiter, B., and Berg, G. (2004). Endophytic bacterial communities of fieldgrown potato plants and their plant growth-promoting and antagonistic abilities. *Can. J. Microbiol.* **50**, 239–249.

Severne, B. C. (1974). Nickel accumulation by Hybanthus floribundus. Nature 248, 807-808.

- Severne, B. C., and Brooks, R. R. (1972). A nickel-accumulating plant from Western Australia. *Planta* 103, 91–94.
- Shallari, S., Schwartz, C., Hasko, A., and Morel, J. L. (1998). Heavy metals in soils and plants of serpentine and industrial sites of Albania. *Sci. Total Environ.* **209**, 133–142.
- Shao, H. B., Chu, L. Y., Lu, Z. H., and Kang, C. M. (2008). Primary antioxidant free radical scavenging and redox signaling pathways in higher plant cells. *Int. J. Biol. Sci.* 4, 8–14.
- Shaul, O., Hilgemann, D. W., de-Almeida-Engler, J., Van Montagu, M., Inze, D., and Galili, G. (1999). Cloning and characterization of a novel Mg<sup>2+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> exchanger. *EMBO J.* 18, 3973–3980.
- Sheoran, V., Sheoran, A. S., and Poonia, P. (2009). Phytomining: A review. Miner. Eng. 22, 1007–1019.
- Shigaki, T., and Hirschi, K. D. (2006). Diverse functions and molecular properties emerging for CAX cation/H<sup>+</sup> exchangers in plants. *Plant Biol.* 8, 419–429.
- Shtiza, A., Swennen, R., and Tashko, A. (2005). Chromium and nickel distribution in soils, active river, overbank sediments and dust around the Burrel chromium smelter (Albania). *J. Geochem. Explor.* 87, 92–108.
- Shukla, K. P., Singh, N. K., and Sharma, S. (2010). Bioremediation: Developments, current practices and perspectives. *Genetic Enginee. Biotechnol. J.* 2010, 1–20.
- Siebielec, G., Chaney, R. L., and Kukier, U. (2007). Liming to remediate Ni contaminated soils with diverse properties and a wide range of Ni concentration. *Plant Soil* 299, 117–130.
- Siedlecka, A., and Krupa, Z. (2002). Functions of enzymes in heavy metal treated plants. In M. N. V. Prasad, and K. Strzałka (Eds.), *Physiology and Biochemistry of Metal Toxicity and Tolerance in Plants* (pp. 303–324). Dordrecht, Hingham, MA: Kluwer Academic Publishers, The Netherlands.
- Singer, A. C., Bell, T., Heywood, C. A., Smith, J. A. C., and Thompson, I. P. (2007). Phytoremediation of mixed-contaminated soil using the hyperaccumulator plant *Alyssum lesbiacum*: Evidence of histidine as a measure of phytoextractable nickel. *Environ. Pollut.* 147, 74–82.
- Singh, J. S., Abhilash, P. C., Singh, H. B., Singh, R. P., and Singh, D. P. (2011). Genetically engineered bacteria: An emerging tool for environmental remediation and future research perspectives. *Gene* 480, 1–9.
- Smart, K. E., Kilburn, M. R., Salter, C. J., Smith, J. A. C., and Grovenor, C. R. M. (2007). NanoSIMS and EPMA analysis of nickel localisation in leaves of the hyperaccumulator plant *Alyssum lesbiacum. Int. J. Mass. Spectrom.* 260, 107–114.
- Smith, J. L., Papendick, R. I., Bezdicek, D. F., and Lynch, J. M. (1993). Soil organic matter dynamics and crop residue management. *In F. B. Metting (Ed.), Soil Microbial Ecology* (pp. 65–94). New York, USA: Marcel Dekker.
- Someya, N., Sato, Y., Yamaguchi, I., Hamamoto, H., Ichiman, Y., and Akutsu, K. (2007). Alleviation of nickel toxicity in plants by a rhizobacterium strain is not dependent on its siderophore production. *Commun. Soil. Sci. Plant Anal.* 38, 1155–1162.
- Stephan, U. W., and Scholz, G. (1993). Nicotianamine: Mediator of transport of iron and heavy metals in the phloem? *Physiol. Plantarum* 88, 522–529.
- Stevenson, F. J. (1994). Humus Chemistry: Genesis, Composition, Reactions (2nd ed.). New York, USA: John Wiley.
- Sun, Y., Zhou, Q., An, J., Liu, W., and Liu, R. (2009). Chelator-enhanced phytoextraction of heavy metals from contaminated soil irrigated by industrial wastewater with the hyperaccumulator plant (Sedum alfredii Hance). *Geoderma* 150, 106–112.
- Sung, M., Lee, C. Y., and Lee, S. Z. (2011). Combined mild soil washing and compostassisted phytoremediation in treatment of silt loams contaminated with copper, nickel, and chromium. J. Hazard. Mater. 190, 744–754.

Tack, F. M. G. (2010). Trace elements; general soil chemistry, principles and processes. In P. S. Honda (Ed.), Trace Elements in Soils (pp. 9–37). Sussex, UK: Blackwell Publishing Ltd, John Wiley and Sons Publishing.

Taiz, L., and Zeiger, E. (1998). Plant Physiology. Sunderland: Sinauer Associates. pp. 719.

- Takahashi, M., Terada, Y., Nakai, I., Nakanishi, H., Yoshimura, E., Mori, S., and Nishizawa, K. (2003). Role of nicotianamine in the intracellular delivery of metals and plant reproductive development. *Plant. Cell.* 15, 1263–1280.
- Tank, N., and Saraf, M. (2008). Enhancement of plant growth and decontamination of nickel-spiked soil using PGPR. J. Basic. Microbiol. 48, 1–10.
- Tatar, E., Mihucz, V. G., Varga, A., Zaray, G., and Cseh, E. (1999). Effect of lead, nickel and vanadium contamination on organic acid transport in xylem sap of cucumber. *J. Inorg. Biochem.* **75**, 219–223.
- Thompson, I. P., van der Gast, C. J., Ciric, L., and Singer, A. C. (2005). Bioaugmentation for bioremediation: The challenge of strain selection. *Environ. Microbiol.* 7, 909–915.
- Tong, Y. P., Kneer, R., and Zhu, Y. G. (2004). Vacuolar compartmentalization: A secondgeneration approach to engineering plants for phytoremediation. *Trends Plant Sci.* 9, 7–9.
- Turgut, C., Pepe, M. K., and Cutright, T. J. (2004). The effect of EDTA and citric acid on phytoremediation of Cd, Cr, and Ni from soil using *Helianthus annuus. Environ. Pollut.* 131, 147–154.
- Ureta, A. C., Imperial, J., Ruiz-Argueso, T., and Palacios, J. M. (2005). *Rhizobium leguminosarum* biovar viciae symbiotic hydrogenase activity and processing are limited by the level of nickel in agricultural soils. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **71**, 7603–7606.
- Vacchina, V., Mari, S., Czernic, P., Marquès, L., Pianelli, K., Schaumlöffel, D., Lebrun, M., and Lobiński, R. (2003). Speciation of nickel in a hyperaccumulating plant by high performance liquid chromatography-inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry and electrospray ms/ms assisted by cloning using yeast complementation. *Anal. Chem.* 75, 2740–2745.
- van de Mortel, J. E., Almar Villanueva, L., Schat, H., Kwekkeboom, J., Coughlan, S., Moerland, P. D., Ver Loren van Themaat, E., Koornneef, M., and Aarts, M. G. (2008). Expression differences for genes involved in lignin, glutathione and sulphate metabolism in response to cadmium in *Arabidopsis thaliana* and the related Zn/Cd–hyperaccumulator *Thlaspi caerulescens. Plant Cell Environ.* **31**, 301–324.
- Vassil, A. D., Kapulnik, Y., Raskin, I., and Salt, D. E. (1998). The role of EDTA in lead transport and accumulation by Indian mustard. *Plant Physiol.* **117**, 447–453.
- Verbruggen, N., Hermans, C., and Schat, H. (2009). Molecular mechanisms of metal hyperaccumulation in plants. *New Phytol.* 181, 1–18.
- Verlière, G., and Heller, R. (1981). Effets of nickel on the growth of isolated roots of Leucaena leucocephala (Lam.) of Wit and character of its absorption. *Physiol. Vegetale* 19, 263–275.
- Verma, S. C., Ladha, J. K., and Tripathi, A. K. (2001). Evaluation of plant growth promoting and colonization ability of endophytic diazotrophs from deep water rice. *J. Biotechnol.* 91, 127–141.
- Viventsova, E., Kumpiene, J., Gunneriussonc, L., and Holmgren, A. (2005). Changes in soil organic matter composition and quantity with distance to a nickel smelter – A case study on the Kola Peninsula, NW Russia. *Geoderma* 127, 216–226.
- Wakelin, S., Warren, R., Harvey, P., and Ryder, M. (2004). Phosphate solubilization by *Penicillium* spp. closely associated with wheat roots. *Biol. Fert. Soils* 40, 36–43.
- Wang, S., Nan, Z., Liu, X., Li, Y., Qin, S., and Ding, H. (2009). Accumulation and bioavailability of copper and nickel in wheat plants grown in contaminated soils from the oasis, northwest China. *Geoderma* 152, 290–295.

- Wani, P. A., Khan, M. S., and Zaidi, A. (2007a). Effect of metal tolerant plant growth promoting Bradyrhizobium sp. (vigna) on growth, symbiosis, seed yield and metal uptake by greengram plants. *Chemosphere* **70**, 36–45.
- Wani, P. A., Khan, M. S., and Zaidi, A. (2007b). Effect of metal-tolerant plant growthpromoting Rhizobium on the performance of pea grown in metal-amended soil. *Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.* 55, 33–42.
- Watson, C. (2002). The phytoremediation potential of Salix: studies of the interaction of heavy metals and willows. PhD thesis, University of Glasgow.
- Weber, M., Harada, E., Vess, C. V., Roepenack-Lahaye, E., and Clemens, S. (2004). Comparative microarray analysis of *Arabidopsis thaliana* and *Arabidopsis halleri* roots identifies nicotianamine synthase, a ZIP transporter and other genes as potential metal hyperaccumulation factors. *Plant J.* 37, 269–281.
- Wei, C., Wang, C., and Yang, L. (2009a). Characterizing spatial distribution and sources of heavy metals in the soils from mining-smelting activities in Shuikoushan. J. Environ. Sci. (China) 21, 1230–1236.
- Wei, W., Chai, T., Zhang, Y., Han, L., and Guan, Z. (2009b). The *Thlaspi caerulescens* NRAMP homologue TcNRAMP3 is capable of divalent cation transport. *Mol. Biotech*nol. 41, 15–21.
- Wei, S., da Silva, J. A. T., and Zhou, Q. (2008). Agro-improving method of phytoextracting heavy metal contaminated soil. J. Hazard. Mater. 150, 662–668.
- Weigel, D., and Nordborg, M. (2005). Natural variation in Arabidopsis. How do we find the causal genes? *Plant Physiol.* 138, 567–568.
- Weng, L. P., Lexmond, T. M., Wolthoorn, A., Temminghoff, E. J. M., and Van Riemsdijk, W. H. (2003). Phytotoxicity and bioavailability of nickel: Chemical speciation and bioaccumulation. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 22, 2180–2187.
- Weyens, N., Croes, S., Dupae, J., Newman, L., van der Lelie, D., Carleer, R., and Vangronsveld, J. (2010). Endophytic bacteria improve phytoremediation of Ni and TCE co-contamination. *Environ. Pollut.* **158**, 2422–2427.
- Wenzel, W. W., and Jockwer, F. (1999). Accumulation of heavy metals in plants grown on mineralized soils of the Austrian Alps. *Environ. Pollut.* 104, 145–155.
- Wenzel, W. W., Bunkowski, M., Puschenreiter, M., and Horak, O. (2003). Rhizosphere characteristics of indigenously growing nickel hyperaccumulator and excluder plants on serpentine soil. *Environ. Pollut.* **123**, 131–138.
- Williams, L. E., Pittman, J. K., and Hall, J. L. (2000). Emerging mechanisms for heavy metal transport in plants. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta.* 1465, 104–126.
- Wolfenbarger, L. L., and Phifer, P. R. (2000). The ecological risks and benefits of genetically engineered plants. *Science* 290, 2088–2093.
- Wu, G., Kang, H., Zhang, X., Shao, H., Chu, L., and Ruan, C. (2010). A critical review on the bio-removal of hazardous heavy metals from contaminated soils: Issues, progress, eco-environmental concerns and opportunities. J. Hazard. Mater. 174, 1–8.
- Wu, L. H., Luo, Y. M., Xing, X. R., and Christie, P. (2004). EDTA-nhanced phytoremediation of heavy metal contaminated soil with Indian mustard and associated potential leaching risk. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* **102**, 307–318.
- Wycisk, K., Kim, E. J., Schroeder, J. I., and Krämer, U. (2004). Enhancing the first enzymatic step in the histidine biosynthesis pathway increases the free histidine pool and nickel tolerance in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. FEBS Lett. 578, 128–134.
- Xiong, J., He, Z., Liu, D., Mahmood, Q., and Yang, X. (2008). The role of bacteria in the heavy metals removal and growth of *Sedum alfredii* Hance in an aqueous medium. *Chemosphere* **70**, 489–494.
- Yadav, S. K. (2010). Heavy metals toxicity in plants: An overview on the role of glutathione and phytochelatins in heavy metal stress tolerance of plants. S. Afr. J. Bot. 76, 167–179.

- Yan, R., Gao, S., Yang, W., Cao, M., Wang, S., and Chen, F. (2008). Nickel toxicity induced antioxidant enzyme and phenylalanine ammonia-lyase activities in *Jatropha curcas* L. cotyledons. *Plant Soil Environ.* 54, 294–300.
- Yang, X., Yang, M., Shen, Z., Bacon, J. R., Paterson, E., and Wilson, J. M. (2001). Some mechanisms of zinc and cadmium detoxification in a zinc and cadmium hyperaccumulating plant species (Thlaspi). *In* W. J. Horst, M. K. Schenk, and A. Burkert (Eds.), *Plant Nutrition: Food Security and Sustainability of Agro-ecosystems* (pp. 444–445). Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers, the Netherlands.
- Yang, X., Feng, Y., He, Z., and Stoffella, P. J. (2005). Molecular mechanisms of heavy metal hyperaccumulation and phytoremediation. J. Trace. Elem. Med. Bio. 18, 339–353.
- Zaidi, S., Usmani, S., Singh, B. R., and Musarrat, J. (2006). Significance of *Bacillus subtilis* SJ-101 as a bioinoculant for concurrent plant growth promotion and nickel accumulation in *Brassica juncea*. Chemosphere 64, 991–997.
- Zayed, A., Pilon-Smith, E., deSouza, M., Lin, Z. Q., and Terry, N. (2000). Remediation of selenium-polluted soils and waters by phytovolatilization. *In N. Terry*, and G. Bãnuelos (Eds.), *Phytoremediation of Contaminated Soil and Water* (pp. 61–83). Boca Raton, FL, USA: Lewis Publishers, CRC Press.
- Zenk, M. H. (1996). Heavy metal detoxification in high plants. Gene 179, 21-30.
- Zhao, M., de Souza, M. P., Chu, D., Zayed, A. M., Ruzin, S. E., Schichnes, D., and Terry, N. (1999). Rhizosphere bacteria enhance selenium accumulation and volatilization by Indian mustard. *Plant Physiol.* **119**, 565–573.
- Zhao, Y. F. (2000). Analysis of the status of the discharge of pollutants from pollution resource in Jinchang City GS. *Environ. Res. Monit.* **12**, 222–223.
- Zhou, J., and Goldsbrough, P. B. (1995). Structure, organization and expression of metallothionein gene family in Arabidopsis. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 248, 318–328.
- Zhu, Y. L., Pilon-Smits, E. A. H., Tarun, A. S., Weber, S. U., Jouanin, L., and Terry, N. (1999). Cadmium tolerance and accumulation in Indian mustard is enhanced by overexpressing g-glutamylcysteine synthetase. *Plant Physiol.* **121**, 1169–1178.
- Zientara, K., Wawrzyńska, A., Łukomska, J., López-Moya, J. R., Liszewska, F., Assunção, A. G. L., Aarts, M. G. M., and Sirko, A. (2009). Activity of the AtMRP3 promoter in transgenic Arabidopsis thaliana and *Nicotiana tabacum* plants is increased by cadmium, nickel, arsenic, cobalt and lead but not by zinc and iron. *J. Biotechnol.* 139, 258–263.
- Zimmer, W., and Bothe, H. (1988). The phytohormonal interactions between Azospirillum and wheat,. *Plant Soil* **110**, 239–247.
- Zobiole, L. H. S., Oliveira, R. S., Jr., Kremer, R. J., Constantin, J., Yamada, T., Castro, C., Oliveira, F. A., and Oliveira, A., Jr. (2010). Effect of glyphosate on symbiotic N<sub>2</sub> fixation and nickel concentration in glyphosate-resistant soybeans. *Appl. Soil. Ecol.* 44, 176–180.